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No. 1 in the U.S. and a global leader in delivering traditional and IP-based  

communications services to businesses.

No. 1 in the U.S. consumer market, serving more customers with local, long  

distance, DSL broadband and wireless services than any other company.

No. 1 wireless provider in the U.S. through our 60 percent interest in  

Cingular Wireless, with more than 54 million customers.

No. 1 U.S. provider of DSL broadband – with 7 million lines in service –  

delivering advanced IP-based services to residential and small-business customers.

Leading the industry in bringing groundbreaking IP-based TV and video technology 

and services to our customers. 

A world leader in transport and termination of wholesale traffic. 

No. 1 in directory publishing worldwide, delivering 110 million directories  

a year and publishing more than 700 different directories in 13 states,  

as well as online.

…the only communications and entertainment 
company our customers will ever want.

The new AT&T is…

2005 Revenue Sources  Including AT&T’s 60% proportionate share of Cingular Wireless

48%  BUSINESS AND WHOLESALE

 24% WIRELESS

 24% CONSUMER

 4% DIRECTORY AND OTHER



To Our Stockholders

This year’s annual report looks different from the past few years. And for good reason: Your company is  

different. Actually, it is very different.

In November 2005, SBC Communications Inc. closed on its historic acquisition of AT&T Corp. to form the new  

AT&T Inc. This was the latest in a series of strategic investments in new technology, new markets and new products – 

combined with strong execution – that have transformed your company into a market leader. Today, AT&T is:

•	No.	1	in	wireless	customers	 •	No.	1	in	local	access	and	long	distance	lines

•	No.	1	in	large-business	customers	 •	No.	1	in	data	revenues

•	No.	1	in	DSL	broadband	lines	 •	No.	1	in	directory	publishing

Those are just a few of the reasons why Fortune magazine named the company America’s Most Admired  

Telecommunications Company in 2006.   

The most visible change, of course, was our decision to adopt the widely recognized and respected AT&T brand 

for the combined company. While SBC was a great brand, AT&T was the right choice to position us as a premier 

global brand.

The acquisition of AT&T was momentous, but we did not allow it to distract us from executing well. Throughout 

2005, we built strong momentum in operating performance both at AT&T Inc. and at our 60 percent-owned wire-

less affiliate, Cingular Wireless, with growth in revenues, operating income and operating margins. We achieved 

these gains in what continues to be an intensely competitive marketplace for telecommunications services.

We have a great new company, with a 130-year history of innovation and a future filled  

with opportunity. So, it would be fair to ask what we are going to do with it. 

First, we will ensure that we generate every benefit possible from this merger. 

The acquisition was immediately accretive to adjusted earnings per share, excluding 

merger-related costs. And we now expect the synergies that will be realized from the 

merger will be even bigger than we first reported early last year. In 2006, we expect  

to realize $600 million to $800 million of annual synergies, growing to $3 billion by 2008. 

We now estimate the net present value of these synergies is $18 billion –  

20 percent greater than we originally estimated. 

Second, we will continue to develop the most advanced and reliable  

networks, applications and services available anywhere in the world.  

That is what we do best.

The	key	to	our	latest	transformation	is	Internet	Protocol	–	or	“IP,”		

the	language	of	the	Internet.	

IP is revolutionizing how we gather and share information at work, 

listen to music or watch video at home and stay in touch with our 

families from the road. Add wireless to the equation and an airport 

terminal becomes your office, or a picnic table at a park becomes 

your living room.
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We were among the first to realize the power and 

possibilities of IP – combined with the flexibility of 

wireless – to drive productivity and keep customers 

always connected. Today, our global IP backbone is 

widely regarded as the best in the world, with the 

most efficient cost structure. And with Cingular, we 

have the largest wireless digital voice and data  

network in the United States.

We are investing in growth initiatives for businesses 

and consumers that leverage the power of these 

emerging technologies in new ways, including:

• Super high speed Internet access.

• Sophisticated managed services that provide  

security and quality for transmitting information 

over our world-class IP backbone network.

• Voice over IP for large businesses.

• Next-generation IP-based television services.

• Advanced wireless voice and data services  

through Cingular Wireless.

• Innovative solutions that will integrate wireless  

and wireline communications.

We are continuing to enhance and evolve our global IP 

backbone and our local access and wireless networks in 

ways that will not only bring greater value to the 

customer but also will lower our operating costs.  

We intend to make all of these IP networks – wireline 

and wireless – work together seamlessly on the three 

critical screens: the PC, the TV and the wireless handset. 

As demand for bandwidth and secure, high-quality  

IP networks increases with the continuing growth 

and varied use of the Internet, your company stands 

to benefit. 

Through	investments	like	these,	we	are	striving	to	

give	customers	anytime	access	to	all	of	their		

communications	services	on	simple-to-use	devices	

that	go	wherever	they	go.	Our	goal	is	to	be	the	

only	communications	and	entertainment	company	

our	customers	will	ever	want.	No	company	is	better	

positioned	to	fulfill	that	promise.

AT&T has long been a global leader in the large- 

business market, serving multinational companies in 

some 240 countries and territories, from the Americas 

to Europe, Africa, Asia and the Pacific Rim. We serve 

nearly all of the Fortune 1000. 

And in the United States, we serve more consumers 

than any other telecommunications company. Last 

year we added almost 1 million new retail consumer 

connections – customers with local access, broad-

band or satellite television. We added more new 

broadband customers than any other company, 

including cable operators – 1.8 million net new lines.

By combining the technology, operational and market-

ing strengths of these two companies – and by seizing 

opportunities to run the business more efficiently – 

AT&T is better positioned than ever to be the premier 

communications and entertainment provider.

One of the first things you should notice about the 

new AT&T is the shift in our revenue mix toward 

business customers. Today, if you include our  

proportionate share of Cingular’s revenues,  

52 percent comes from business, wholesale and 
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directory; 24 percent comes from wireless; and about 

24 percent comes from consumer wireline.

In the business market, the combination of the two 

companies makes us more competitive in two key ways: 

First, it allows us to cross-market wireless mobility 

services to pre-merger AT&T’s huge base of large-

business customers. Second, we have an opportunity  

to customize advanced products built by AT&T for larger 

customers and make them available to our 3 million 

medium- and small-business customers.

AT&T is also well-positioned for growth in the con-

sumer market, with innovative products available in 

voice, data, video and wireless – and many more in 

the pipeline. 

Innovation is what AT&T has been known for through 

more than a century. AT&T Labs continues to build  

on this strong track record by attracting the top 

thinkers and challenging them to look beyond the 

expected to find solutions never seen or even  

considered anywhere else.

The combination of these two companies not only 

transforms our product offerings and the customer 

experience, it allows us to transform the company itself.

We	have	the	opportunity	to	dramatically	reduce	

our	cost	structure	by	driving	efficiencies	and		

productivity,	by	using	technology	in	more	powerful	

ways,	and	by	improving	our	processes.

Our goal is to deliver industry-leading financial and 

operating performance metrics by the end of 2008. 

We intend to do that by realizing:

• Lower operating costs – saving in virtually every area 

through integration, from engineering and ordering to 

customer care and network management.

• Greater economies of scale – by combining the 

long-haul networks of AT&T with the local networks 

of the SBC companies, we can keep more of our 

customers’ traffic on our own networks. We also 

enjoy greater buying power. 

• Improved capital efficiency – eliminating  

duplication in all capital investments.

Our merger integration planning was thorough, and 

we are off to a strong start. Talented and experienced 

leadership from both companies is in place, with a clear 

mission and timeline. We have identified opportunities 

for consolidating operations, networks, facilities and 

force. We are making rapid and effective progress.  

We will measure our success in the short term 

through earnings and margin growth, through market-

share growth in business, consumer and wireless, and 

through increased customer satisfaction. We increased 

net income each quarter in 2005, and during the next 

three years, we expect double-digit adjusted earnings-

per-share growth, excluding merger-related charges. 

Over time, that will also translate into increased  

revenue growth.

We are accustomed to 

setting the pace for this 

industry when it comes  

to big ideas and big  

innovations. That will not 

change, and neither will  

our commitment to building 

long-term, sustainable  

value for our stockholders.

We increased our quarterly  

dividend for the 21st con- 

secutive year in 2005, and  

we repurchased more than  

$1.8 billion of stock, reflect-

ing our ongoing commitment 

to our stockholders and the 

Board’s confidence in our 

ability to generate strong 

cash flow while investing in 

growth initiatives.

We have big opportunities ahead of us and a big  

responsibility to stockholders, customers and em-

ployees. We are committed to making the most of 

your investment and to delivering industry-leading 

innovation and performance today and tomorrow.

Edward E. Whitacre Jr.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 16, 2006
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Four	Quarters	of	
Earnings	Growth
Net Income ($ in millions)

* Includes former AT&T Corp. results  
 after the November 18, 2005, merger.
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From network operations centers around the globe working 

24/7, AT&T ensures delivery of secure, reliable communications 

services to millions of businesses on six continents, including 

virtually all of the Fortune 1000.

Business



Global networking – that’s what 
AT&T does better than any other 
provider in meeting the complex 
communications needs of 
multinational companies from 
London to Chicago to Shanghai. 

By merging the global network, large base of business 

customers and efficient cost structure of the legacy 

AT&T with the wireless voice and data capabilities of 

Cingular Wireless and the dense local networks of SBC 

in the United States, we’re making the new AT&T an even 

better choice for businesses looking for a world-class 

communications provider. 



AT&T is helping businesses transition 

from legacy technologies to next-

generation IP networks that can help 

companies and their employees work 

faster, better, smarter. 

The network remains AT&T’s key strategic advantage 

and is critical to delivering leading-edge IP-based solu-

tions and intelligent networking capabilities to the 

world’s largest companies and government agencies. 

We are consolidating our legacy networks into a 

single, global IP communications platform that will 

make it easy for customers of all sizes to seamlessly 

integrate their existing networks, systems, applications 

and devices. 

The transition to IP-based technologies is expected 

to create an estimated $185 billion-a-year worldwide 

market for IP data services by 2009. Customers will 

naturally gravitate toward providers that can deliver 

the most powerful and flexible converged solutions 

that will save time and money and boost productivity. 

AT&T recognizes that for companies to succeed in 

today’s global networked economy, they must be  

able to access any application, running over any 

device, anywhere in the world. We see opportunities 

across all of our business markets to be the provider 

of choice by integrating Cingular’s mobility solutions 

with AT&T’s network solutions to deliver the promise 

of anywhere, anytime global communications. 

And as enterprises increasingly outsource portions of 

their networking responsibilities, we see the opportunity 

to create new and expanded services in areas such as 

managed networking, security services, mobility  

services and enterprise Voice over IP, or VoIP.

One example of this is AT&T Internet ProtectSM, an 

award-winning monitoring and alerting managed 

security service that helps enterprises predict and 

eliminate cyberthreats before they can damage critical 

business operations. Another is AT&T Ultravailable® 

Service, which ensures that within milliseconds of  

a fiber cut, traffic is seamlessly rerouted to its 

destination, guaranteeing virtually zero downtime  

for mission-critical business applications.

Business
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AT&T’s	advanced	IP	networks	in	127	countries	reach	

more	than	97	percent	of	the	world’s	economy.



AT&T is just as focused on the needs of medium- 

and small-sized businesses. Today, we are working  

to adapt innovations to meet the requirements of 

smaller businesses with customized services scaled  

to their particular needs.

In 2006, for example, we will roll out IP-based  

convergence solutions for small businesses, including  

a hosted VoIP platform and integrated IP data solutions 

that work on a single network. And we will expand 

small-business service package options, including 

security and data storage solutions customized for 

small companies.  

AT&T has the capability to help businesses of all 

sizes manage the transformation in technology and 

migrate from their traditional and reliable voice  

and data services to carrier-grade, feature-rich  

IP services and solutions.

Many more next-generation products and services are 

under development, creating a solid platform to grow 

our business in the future and to deliver value to our 

customers and stockholders.

THE	AT&T	GLOBAL	NETWORK

•	Remote	access	solutions	from	23,300		

points	of	presence	in	150	countries.

•	30	Internet	Data	Centers	across	the	globe.

•	IP	backbone	network	spanning		

434,000	fiber	route	miles.
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240
AT&T	delivers	voice	solutions	to		

240	countries	and	territories,	linking	

400	carriers	around	the	globe.



AT&T’s vision is to be an advocate for the digital lifestyle by 

making broadband Internet access, wireless services, voice and 

video work together in your living room – or wherever you go. 

Consumer



In the consumer market, AT&T’s 
strategy revolves around three 
critical “screens” – the PC, the 
TV and the cell phone – and 
integrating the services and 
content that tie them together.    

Converging communications and entertainment services 

to keep consumers always connected from virtually any 

device and bundling those services are keys to our success. 

Broadband is the foundation for our vision of creating an 

anywhere, anytime world for our customers.



Consumer

Broadband is the access line of the future, the gateway 

not only to the Web and e-mail but also to video, new 

phones that use Wi-Fi when you’re at home and the 

cellular network when you’re on the road, different 

types of messaging and more. The transformation to 

an IP-based world presents new business opportunities 

for AT&T, and we are moving quickly to capture them.

AT&T leads the industry in deploying DSL broadband 

technology, with 7 million lines in service – more  

DSL lines than any other company in America.  

Last year AT&T added more new high speed Internet 

customers than any broadband provider.

The consumer market now represents 24 percent of 

AT&T’s total revenues, including our 60 percent propor-

tionate share of Cingular Wireless revenues. Already 

68 percent of our consumer customers subscribe to 

discounted bundles that may include local and long 

distance service plus broadband, satellite TV through 

AT&T | DISH Network or wireless through Cingular.  

We have found that when customers add broadband 

to a basic package, they are 40 percent less likely to 

switch to another provider, and average revenue per 

customer jumps nearly 120 percent. If you add both 

broadband and joint-billed Cingular Wireless to the 

bundle, customers are more than 60 percent less 

likely to switch, and revenue jumps more than  

350 percent. The success of our bundling strategy 

was evident in 2005 results: Consumer revenue grew 

3.6 percent year over year, and revenue per customer 

increased 7.3 percent.

We see even more opportunity to grow revenue and 

reduce customer churn as we roll out advanced  

IP-based services like AT&T U-verse TVSM and other 

new technologies and solutions that make these  

services work in concert.

AT&T U-verse TV is a state-of-the-art, IP-based video 

service that allows a complete home entertainment 

experience. Today, the service features more than 200 

channels, crystal-clear video quality, a growing video-

on-demand library, picture-in-picture channel guide 

32.9million
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The truest measure of our success today and in  

the future in the consumer market is our customer 

connections – not just access lines but the network 

services that are complementing or even replacing 

them, including broadband and wireless. 

AT&T	increased	its	total	retail	consumer	connections	–	

access	lines,	broadband	lines	and	video	subscribers	–	

by	nearly	1	million	last	year	to	32.9	million.



and fast channel change. We began offering U-verse 

services in December 2005 in a controlled market 

entry, and we expect to expand to more markets,  

with new features, starting in mid-2006.

AT&T HomezoneSM is another next-generation service 

that debuts this year, integrating our existing satellite TV  

and broadband services to create a new entertainment 

experience that goes well beyond anything offered today. 

With	Homezone,	customers	can	access	TV	and	movies	

via	AT&T	|	DISH	Network,	download	movies,	listen	to	

music	and	view	photos	from	the	Internet	via	AT&T	

Yahoo!®	High	Speed	Internet	and	see	caller	ID	on	their	

TV	screen	–	all	from	the	comfort	of	their	living	room.

We also plan to introduce enhanced landline phones 

that incorporate many popular Internet and wireless 

features. For example, with AT&T’s broadband phone, 

users will be able to make regular landline voice calls 

via an AT&T local line as well as communicate via 

methods normally reserved for the PC or a wireless 

phone. Users will also be able to send text messages 

and access other personalized network-based content 

such as address books, weather and stock quotes.

Looking ahead, VoIP is destined to be the voice 

technology for the future, delivering local, long  

distance and international calling, as well as features 

that smaller businesses and consumers want most 

like Do Not Disturb, Locate Me and Call Filtering.  

AT&T already is a leader in VoIP for larger businesses, 

and our AT&T CallVantage® Service for consumers and 

small businesses is available now on a limited basis. 

Later this year in our traditional 13-state region we’ll 

bundle AT&T CallVantage with stand-alone DSL and 

target younger, tech-savvy consumers. We’ll also 

encourage them to add AT&T | DISH Network and 

Cingular Wireless service. AT&T is well-positioned to 

lead the industry in IP-based technology, providing 

savings, convenience and feature-rich innovations  

for consumers.  
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Customers are always on the move. They want communications 

services that move with them – around the country or around the 

world. That’s what they get from AT&T and Cingular Wireless.

Wireless



Wireless represents a significant 
growth opportunity for AT&T, both 
as a stand-alone product and 
an enabling mobility technology 
that will drive growth in our 
wireline businesses.  
Wireless makes up almost one-quarter of AT&T’s total 

revenues, including our 60 percent proportionate interest 

in Cingular Wireless. This makes AT&T the biggest wireless 

player in the U.S., with the largest digital voice and data 

network, the most customers and the deepest spectrum. 

Cingular also offers international voice service through 

roaming partners in more countries than any other provider.



Wireless

Cingular delivered big improvements last year, following 

its October 2004 acquisition of AT&T Wireless, adding  

5 million net new customers, significantly increasing 

operating margins and cutting monthly customer churn 

by one-fifth to 2.2 percent by year end. It also added 

5,000 new sales outlets through a distribution agree-

ment signed last year with RadioShack. 

Customers already are recognizing the benefits of  

integrating the two networks, which will be complete 

by year-end 2006, enjoying “more bars in more 

places,” with better call quality and fewer dropped 

calls in many major markets.

In late 2005, Cingular expanded its opportunities 

in the fast-growing wireless data market with the 

launch of an ultra high speed data service that is 

expected to be available in most of the top 100  

U.S. markets by the end of this year.  

Using BroadbandConnect, road warriors can access 

the Internet or e-mail, download large files and run 

corporate business applications at broadband speeds. 

And consumers can access high-quality video on  

special phones through Cingular VideoTM, including  

exclusive content from HBO. More new, exciting  

content will be available later this year.

During 2005, Cingular introduced a number of  

innovative new services for consumers, including:

• A next-generation push-to-talk service.

• An enhanced selection of GoPhone® prepaid services.  

• The first wireless phone with iTunes®, which lets 

music lovers transfer songs to their mobile phone, 

in partnership with Apple and Motorola.

• Cingular SoundsSM, which enables customers to  

download popular new music singles as ringtones.

• An upgraded MEdia Net service, which offers fast, 

personalized wireless access to the Internet – plus 

parental controls.

For business customers, Cingular introduced several 

powerful new devices last year for those on the go, 

including:

• The Sony VAIO®, the first widely available notebook 

PC with integrated, high speed wireless wide area 

network technology.

• Good Technology’s GoodLinkTM wireless messaging 

and data access software.
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Data represents the fastest-growing 

segment in wireless, and Cingular is  

positioned to lead the way, with the only  

3G network that offers simultaneous voice 

and data applications and global roaming.
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The growing demand for simplified mobility services 

presents tremendous opportunity for AT&T. Enterprise 

customers need solutions that integrate different 

wireless technologies, services and devices with  

existing voice and data networking capabilities. 

They need seamless access to their corporate networks, 

from anywhere in the world, regardless of the device 

they’re using to connect.

To help meet that need, AT&T launched in early 2006  

a branded wireless mobility service called AT&T  

Multi-Carrier SolutionsSM that helps companies manage 

their wireless usage and spending across different 

carriers and networks. 

Later this year, AT&T will also offer a range of inte-

grated voice and data services from Cingular under 

the powerful AT&T brand to business customers in 

Cingular Wireless ended 2005 with  

54.1 million subscribers – more  

than any other U.S. carrier.
54.1

the United States. Deploying “built for business” voice 

and data services, the company will ensure that mobile 

employees enjoy the flexibility of secure, seamless 

access to any equipment, anywhere, by combining its 

networking expertise with wireless capabilities. 

AT&T and Cingular are working together to deliver a 

number of new converged services for businesses and 

consumers that will allow customers to use a single 

handset to access cellular, Wi-Fi or corporate wireless 

local area networks. Customers can use one phone 

number and enjoy seamless hand-off from network to 

network – stretching their wireless minutes.

Powerful new solutions like these will help AT&T and 

Cingular retain customers, win new ones and create 

new revenue opportunities.

million



Community

AT&T has been in the business of listening for more 

than a century, and we have a long heritage of  

community service. In the rapidly changing world of 

communications and technology, our guiding principle– 

to consistently go beyond the call to meet the needs 

of our customers in the places where they live and 

work – remains unchanged.

The AT&T Foundation is among the five largest  

corporate foundations in the United States. Over the 

last 40 years, the foundation has made combined 

philanthropic commitments of more than $1.7 billion. 

Our philanthropic programs include substantial 

financial contributions designed to positively impact 

the communities we serve, strengthen nonprofits 

and change lives.

In addition to AT&T’s active community philanthropy, 

the company has been widely recognized as an industry 

leader in its commitment to diversity in hiring and 

contracting. This ensures that our employees – as 

well as minority-owned, women-owned and disabled 

veteran-owned businesses that are our suppliers – 

feel valued and have real opportunities to grow and 

succeed in business.

AT&T’s commitment to community involvement is  

also demonstrated through the volunteer efforts of 

the AT&T Pioneers, a group of more than 250,000 

retirees and active employees that devotes millions  

of hours of personal time each year to community 

projects.
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$60million 
This	year,	our	foundation	will	give	more	than		

$60	million	to	support	programs	that	improve		

access	to	information	technologies,	technology		

training	and	professional	skills	development.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA
Dollars in millions except per share amounts
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At December 31 or for the year ended: 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Financial Data1,2

Operating revenues $ 43,862 $ 40,787 $ 40,498 $ 42,821 $ 45,381
Operating expenses $ 37,694 $ 34,886 $ 34,214 $ 34,383 $ 35,085
Operating income $ 6,168 $ 5,901 $ 6,284 $ 8,438 $ 10,296
Interest expense $ 1,456 $ 1,023 $ 1,191 $ 1,382 $ 1,599
Equity in net income of affiliates $ 609 $ 873 $ 1,253 $ 1,921 $ 1,595
Other income (expense) – net $ 14 $ 922 $ 1,767 $ 733 $ (236)
Income taxes $ 932 $ 2,186 $ 2,857 $ 2,910 $ 3,858
Income from continuing operations $ 4,786 $ 4,979 $ 5,859 $ 7,361 $ 6,881
Income from discontinued operations, 

net of tax3 $ — $ 908 $ 112 $ 112 $ 127
Income before extraordinary item and 

cumulative effect of accounting changes $ 4,786 $ 5,887 $ 5,971 $ 7,473 $ 7,008
Net income4 $ 4,786 $ 5,887 $ 8,505 $ 5,653 $ 7,008

Earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.77 $ 2.21 $ 2.04
Income before extraordinary item and 

cumulative effect of accounting changes $ 1.42 $ 1.78 $ 1.80 $ 2.24 $ 2.08
Net income4 $ 1.42 $ 1.78 $ 2.56 $ 1.70 $ 2.08

Earnings per common share – assuming dilution:
Income from continuing operations $ 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.76 $ 2.20 $ 2.03
Income before extraordinary item and 

cumulative effect of accounting changes $ 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 1.80 $ 2.23 $ 2.07
Net income4 $ 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 2.56 $ 1.69 $ 2.07

Total assets $145,632 $110,265 $102,016 $ 95,170 $ 96,416
Long-term debt $ 26,115 $ 21,231 $ 16,097 $ 18,578 $ 17,153
Construction and capital expenditures $ 5,576 $ 5,099 $ 5,219 $ 6,808 $ 11,189
Dividends declared per common share5 $ 1.30 $ 1.26 $ 1.41 $ 1.08 $ 1.025
Book value per common share $ 14.11 $ 12.27 $ 11.57 $ 10.01 $ 9.82
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 4.11 6.32 6.55 6.20 5.83
Debt ratio 35.9% 40.0% 32.0% 39.9% 44.3%
Weighted-average common shares 

outstanding (000,000) 3,368 3,310 3,318 3,330 3,366
Weighted-average common shares 

outstanding with dilution (000,000) 3,379 3,322 3,329 3,348 3,396
End of period common shares 

outstanding (000,000) 3,877 3,301 3,305 3,318 3,354

Operating Data
Network access lines in service (000)6 49,413 52,356 54,683 57,083 59,532
DSL lines in service (000)6 6,921 5,104 3,515 2,199 1,333
Wireless customers (000) – Cingular7 54,144 49,132 24,027 21,925 21,596
Number of employees2 189,950 162,700 168,950 175,980 193,420
1Amounts in the above table have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
2Amounts in 2005 reflect results from AT&T Corp. for the 43 days following the November 18, 2005 acquisition. 
3Our financial statements for all periods presented reflect results from our sold directory advertising business in Illinois and northwest Indiana as discontinued operations.
The operational results and the gain associated with the sale of that business are presented in “Income from discontinued operations, net of tax.”

4Amounts include the following extraordinary item and cumulative effect of accounting changes: 2003, extraordinary loss of $7 related to the adoption of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51” and the
cumulative effect of accounting changes of $2,541, which includes a $3,677 benefit related to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” and a $1,136 charge related to the January 1, 2003 change in the method in which we recognize revenues and expenses
related to publishing directories from the “issue basis” method to the “amortization” method; 2002, charges related to a January 1, 2002 adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

5Dividends declared by AT&T’s Board of Directors reflect the following: 2003, includes three additional dividends totaling $0.25 per share above our regular quarterly
dividend payout.

6The number presented reflects wireline segment lines in service. 
7The number presented represents 100% of Cingular Wireless’ (Cingular) cellular/PCS customers. The 2004 number includes customers from the acquisition of AT&T
Wireless Services Inc. Cingular is a joint venture in which we own 60% and is accounted for under the equity method.
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For ease of reading, AT&T Inc. is referred to as “we,” “AT&T,” or the “Company” throughout this document and the names
of the particular subsidiaries and affiliates providing the services have been omitted. Prior to the November 18, 2005
acquisition of AT&T Corp. (ATTC), we were known as SBC Communications Inc. (SBC). AT&T is a holding company; AT&T does
not provide communications services, rather, its subsidiaries and affiliates operate in the communications services industry
both domestically and internationally providing wireline and wireless telecommunications services and equipment as well 
as directory advertising and publishing services. You should read this discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. A reference to a “Note” in this section refers to the accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. In our tables throughout this section, percentage increases and decreases that equal 
or exceed 100% are not considered meaningful and are denoted with a dash. 

R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R AT I O N S
Consolidated Results
Our financial results are summarized in the table below. We then discuss factors affecting our overall results for the past
three years. These factors are discussed in more detail in our segment results. We also discuss our expected revenue and
expense trends for 2006 in the “Operating Environment and Trends of the Business” section.

We completed our acquisition of ATTC on November 18, 2005. In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), we included results from ATTC in our consolidated results for the remaining 43 days of 2005 (see Note 2).
Operating results for ATTC prior to our acquisition are not discussed. Also in accordance with GAAP, our financial statements
reflect results from our sold directory advertising business in Illinois and northwest Indiana as discontinued operations 
(see Note 17). The operational results and the gain associated with the sale of that business are presented in the “Income
From Discontinued Operations, net of tax” line item below and on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Percent Change

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Operating revenues $43,862 $40,787 $40,498 7.5% 0.7%
Operating expenses 37,694 34,886 34,214 8.0 2.0
Operating income 6,168 5,901 6,284 4.5 (6.1)
Income before income taxes 5,718 7,165 8,716 (20.2) (17.8)
Income from continuing operations 4,786 4,979 5,859 (3.9) (15.0)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — 908 112 — —
Income before extraordinary item and 

cumulative effect of accounting changes 4,786 5,887 5,971 (18.7) (1.4)
Extraordinary item1 — — (7) — —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes2 — — 2,541 — —
Net income 4,786 5,887 8,505 (18.7) (30.8)
Diluted earnings per share 1.42 1.77 2.56 (19.8) (30.9)

12003 includes an extraordinary loss on our real estate leases related to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46 “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51” (FIN 46).

22003 includes cumulative effect of accounting changes of $2,541: a $3,677 benefit related to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (FAS 143); and a $1,136 charge related to the January 1, 2003 change in the method in which we recognize revenues and
expenses related to publishing directories from the “issue basis” method to the “amortization” method.

Overview
Operating income Our operating income increased $267,
or 4.5%, in 2005 and decreased $383, or 6.1% in 2004. Our
operating income margin decreased from 15.5% in 2003 to
14.5% in 2004 and 14.1% in 2005. Approximately $118 of
the $267 increase in operating income during 2005 was due
to our AT&T Corp. segment results. Our increased operating
income in 2005 was driven by further growth in Data and
Long-distance voice revenues, reflecting increased volumes,
our continued emphasis on our bundling strategy and the
addition of new business customers, partially offset by a
decline in our Voice revenue as we continue to experience
increasing competition. The operating margin decrease in
2005 reflects additional operating expenses associated with
a charge to terminate an agreement with WilTel
Communications (WilTel) and merger-related charges. The
operating income and associated margin decrease in 2004

was primarily due to increased cost of sales and expenses
from strike preparation and labor settlements. These
expense increases were larger than the increase in revenue,
which was attributable to growth in Long-distance voice
and Data revenues partially offset by the decline in Voice
revenue caused by a decline in retail access lines. 

Retail access lines continued to decline due to increased
competition, as customers disconnected both primary and
additional lines and began using wireless and, to a lesser
extent, Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) technology and
cable instead of phone lines for voice and data. This was
also a contributing factor in the year-ago period. Retail
access lines also declined for both periods due to customers
disconnecting their additional lines when purchasing our
broadband internet-access (DSL) services. While we lose
some revenue when a wireline customer shifts from one of
our retail primary lines to a competitor that relies on a
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resale or commercial UNE-P replacements (commercial
agreements with various Unbundled Network Element-
Platform or “UNE-P” providers) (i.e., one of our wholesale
customers), we lose all revenue when a wireline customer
shifts to an alternative technology such as cable, wireless 
or VoIP or a facilities-based competitor. However, when a
customer signs up for Cingular Wireless (Cingular) service,
our net income impact of the lost revenue is lessened
because we own a 60% economic interest in Cingular (see
Note 6). Increasing use of alternative technologies and
facilities-based competition will continue to pressure our
operating margins. Although retail access line losses have
continued, the trend has slowed, reflecting in part our
ability to offer retail nationwide long-distance service as
well as offerings combining multiple services for one 
fixed price (bundles).

The decline in Voice revenue for both 2005 and 2004 also
reflects decreasing wholesale revenues from lines provided
under UNE-P rules (which include commercial UNE-P 
replacements), reflecting changes in UNE-P rules over the
past two years. During the 12-month transition period for
the elimination of the UNE-P requirements (which ends in
March 2006), we have been experiencing a decrease in the
number of UNE-P lines as competitors move to alternate
arrangements to serve their customers or their customers
choose an alternative technology. Since this transition period
started, our wholesale customers representing a majority of
our UNE-P lines have signed commercial agreements with 
us. For the remaining UNE-P lines, we believe, based on 
marketing research, that customers are primarily switching
from their UNE-P provider to alternative technology or 
facilities-based competitors (competitors with their own 
networks) as opposed to returning as our retail customers.
For additional details on UNE-P, see “Triennial Review
Remand Order” discussed in “Regulatory Developments.”

Operating revenues Our operating revenues increased
$3,075, or 7.5%, in 2005 and $289, or 0.7%, in 2004.
Operating revenues from our AT&T Corp. segment were
$2,887. Our significant revenue impacts are listed below and
discussed in greater detail in our “Segment Results” section.

• Data revenues increased $1,980 in 2005 and $834 
in 2004, primarily driven by additional revenues of
$1,129 from ATTC in 2005 and continued growth 
in DSL for both periods.

• Long-distance voice revenues increased $1,667 in 2005
and $736 in 2004, mostly attributable to ATTC revenues
of $1,208 in 2005 and increased bundled sales of 
combined long-distance and local calling fixed-fee
offerings in both periods.

These increases in Data and Long-distance voice revenues
were partially offset by declines of $759 in 2005 and $1,190
in 2004 in Voice revenues, primarily resulting from the loss
of retail and wholesale access lines and lower prices due 
to increased competition. The decline in our 2005 Voice 
revenues was slightly offset by the inclusion of ATTC Voice
revenues for 43 days. Our 2005 Voice revenue decline also
reflects an increase of $60 in 2004 related to regulatory and
other matters, including the California Public Utilities
Commission’s (CPUC) September 2004 decision on UNE-P
rates (see “State UNE Pricing Proceedings” discussed in
“Regulatory Developments”).

Operating expenses Our operating expenses increased
$2,808, or 8.0%, in 2005 and $672, or 2.0%, in 2004. Our
significant expense changes are listed below and discussed
in greater detail in our “Segment Results” sections.
2005

• Following our acquisition of ATTC, we included
approximately $2,769 of its operating expenses for the
43-day period ended December 31, 2005. This included
depreciation and amortization expense of $414, of
which $191 was associated with acquired intangible
assets.

• Merger-related asset impairments and severance
accruals increased operating expense approximately
$349 and $283, respectively.

• Costs primarily associated with wage increases
increased operating expense approximately $338. 

• A charge to terminate existing agreements with WilTel
increased operating expenses approximately $236. 

• Traffic compensation in our wireline segment (fees
paid for access to another carrier’s network), primarily
due to higher call volumes generated by growth in
our long-distance business, increased operating
expenses approximately $330. Included in ATTC’s 
operating expenses was traffic compensation 
expense, a significant expense for our AT&T Corp.
segment, of approximately $1,102 for the 43 days. 

• Costs associated with equipment sales and related 
network integration services reflecting sales in the
large-business market, and prior to the amendment
discussed in “Other Business Matters,” our co-branded
AT&T | DISH Network satellite TV service, which had
more total customers than in the prior year, increased
operating expenses approximately $195. 

Partially offsetting the 2005 increase were reduced
expenses of approximately $590 associated with reduced
workforce levels and lower depreciation expenses of
approximately $333 in the wireline segment as well as the
2004 charges of approximately $263 associated with strike
preparation and labor contract settlements. Expenses also
reflect an increase of approximately $49 for net pension
and postretirement cost, a decrease of approximately $96
associated with changes in retiree out-of-region phone 
concessions in 2005 and $90 due to a charge resulting from
an amendment to our management pension plan in 2004
(see Note 10). 
2004

• Costs associated with our growth initiatives, including
increased equipment sales and services to upgrade
and integrate large-business customer network 
components (network integration services), increased
operating expenses approximately $603.

• Net impacts from strike preparation and labor 
settlements increased operating expenses 
approximately $263.

• Costs associated with traffic compensation primarily
due to higher call volumes generated by growth in
our long-distance business, increased operating
expenses approximately $122.

• A fourth-quarter 2004 amendment to our 
management pension plan resulted in a charge which
increased operating expenses approximately $90.
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The 2004 increases were partially offset by decreased
combined pension and postretirement cost of approximately
$548. During 2004, the majority of nonmanagement retirees
were informed of medical coverage changes that affected
cost sharing, which became effective January 1, 2005. These
changes reduced our postemployment cost approximately
$440 in 2004. Also contributing to the decreased combined
pension and postretirement costs were better-than-
expected asset returns in 2003, which decreased expense
$322, and our accounting for the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
(Medicare Act), which decreased expense $255. Partially
offsetting those expense decreases were (1) higher-than-
expected medical and prescription drug claims, increasing
expense approximately $156; (2) the reduction of the 
discount rates used to calculate service and interest cost
from 6.75% to 6.25%, in response to lower corporate bond
interest rates, increasing expense $141; and (3) our 2004
medical cost trend rate increase, increasing expense $83.
The trend rate increased because we decided to extend our
2003 medical cost rates into 2004 due to rising claim costs
while maintaining our assumption that the rate will trend
to a final expected annual increase of 5.0% in 2009 for 
all retirees. 

Interest expense increased $433, or 42.3%, in 2005 and
decreased $168, or 14.1%, in 2004. The increase in 2005
was primarily due to issuing additional debt in the fourth
quarter of 2004, thus accruing interest expense for a full 
12 months of 2005 in comparison to less than three months
of 2004. In 2004 we issued debt totaling approximately
$8,750 to finance our portion of Cingular’s purchase price
for AT&T Wireless Services Inc. (AT&T Wireless). In addition,
we recorded approximately $63 of interest expense related
to ATTC’s outstanding debt. We expect our future interest
expense to increase as a result of including ATTC’s 
outstanding debt in our consolidated financial statements.
However, this increase will be partially offset due to our
redemption, prior to maturity, of approximately $1,559 of
debt in 2005. 

The decrease in 2004 was primarily due to lower debt
levels caused by the early redemption of approximately
$1,743 of our bonds in 2003. 

Interest income decreased $109, or 22.2%, in 2005 
and $111, or 18.4%, in 2004. The decrease in 2005 was 
primarily due to lower investment balances during 2005 as
investments held for the majority of 2004 were liquidated
and used to fund our portion of Cingular’s purchase price
for AT&T Wireless, and less income earned on our advances
to Cingular resulting from payments during 2005 on a
portion of outstanding advances due to us. The decrease in
2004 was primarily related to the early settlement in 2003
of our notes receivable associated with the 2002 sale of our
investment in Bell Canada Holdings Inc. to BCE, Inc. (BCE).
This settlement included approximately $37 of prepaid
interest. Also contributing to the decrease in 2004 was 
our 2003 renegotiation of the interest rates, from 7.5% 
to 6.0%, charged on our advances to Cingular.

Equity in net income of affiliates decreased $264, or
30.2%, in 2005 and $380, or 30.3%, in 2004. The 2005
decrease was due to lower results from our international
holdings of approximately $417 (largely attributable to

gains that occurred in 2004, and foregone equity income
from the disposition of investments), partially offset by an
increase of approximately $170 in our proportionate share
of Cingular’s results (including a charge of $105 that
Cingular recorded in 2004 resulting from the correction 
of an error related to its lease accounting practices). 

The 2004 results included increased income from our
international holdings of approximately $206, primarily
related to TDC A/S’s (TDC) gain on the sale of its interest in
Belgacom S.A. (Belgacom) (see Note 2), offset by a decline
of $583 in our proportionate share of Cingular’s results.

We account for our 60% economic interest in Cingular
under the equity method of accounting and therefore
include our proportionate share of Cingular’s results in 
our “Equity in net income of affiliates” line item in our
Consolidated Statements of Income. Cingular’s operating
results are discussed in detail in the “Cingular Segment
Results” section and results from our international holdings
are discussed in detail in “International Segment Results.”
Our accounting for Cingular is described in more detail 
in Note 6. 

Other income (expense) – net We had other income
of $14 in 2005, $922 in 2004 and $1,767 in 2003. Results 
for 2005 primarily included a gain of approximately $108
on the sales of shares of Amdocs Limited (Amdocs),
SpectraSite, Inc. (SpectraSite) and Yahoo! Inc. (Yahoo), a
gain of $24 from the sale of a lease partnership and gains
of approximately $24 related to the transfer of wireless
properties to Cingular. These gains were partially offset by
other expenses of $126 to reflect an increase in value of a
third-party minority holder’s interest in an AT&T subsidiary’s
preferred stock and expenses of $26 due to call premiums
on early debt retirement. 

Results for 2004 primarily included a gain of approxi-
mately $832 on the sale of our investment in Belgacom,
gains of $270 on the sales of shares of Amdocs and Yahoo
and a gain of $57 on the sales of shares of Teléfonos de
México, S.A. de C.V. (Telmex) and América Móvil S.A. de
C.V. (América Móvil). These 2004 gains were partially offset
by 2004 losses of approximately $138 on the sale of all of
our shares of TDC, $82 on the sale of all of our shares of
Telkom S.A. Limited (Telkom) and $21 on the sale of
another investment. 

Results for 2003 included gains of approximately $1,574
on the sale of our interest in Cegetel S.A. and gains of $201
on the sales of Yahoo and BCE shares, partially offset by a
loss of $50 due to call premiums on early debt retirement. 

Income taxes decreased $1,254, or 57.4%, in 2005 and
$671, or 23.5%, in 2004. Our effective tax rate in 2005 was
16.3% compared to 30.5% in 2004. The decrease in income
taxes and our effective tax rate in 2005 compared to 2004
was due primarily to our agreement in December 2005
with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) to settle certain
claims principally related to the utilization of capital losses
and tax credits for tax years 1997-1999, by certain SBC 
entities. The settlement resulted in our recognition of $902
of reduced income tax expense in 2005. The decrease in
income tax expense in 2004 compared to 2003 was 
primarily due to lower income before income tax in 2004
than in 2003. Our effective tax rate in 2003 was 32.8%. The
decrease in effective tax rate in 2004 compared to 2003 is
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primarily a result of the accrual related to the nontaxable
Medicare Act reimbursement accruals, tax settlements and
impacts from our foreign operations. (See Note 9)

Income from discontinued operations was $908 in 2004
and $112 in 2003 and represents results from the directory
advertising business in Illinois and northwest Indiana that
we sold in 2004. The increase of $796 in 2004 consisted of
the portion of our sold directory operations and includes
the gain on the sale of these operations of $827, net of 
tax (see Note 17). Operating results for 2004 include only
eight months of activity prior to the sale, resulting in lower
revenues and expenses than in 2003. Revenues from 
discontinued operations decreased $170, or 35.3%, and
expenses decreased $116, or 39.3%, in 2004. 

Extraordinary item in 2003 consisted of an extraordinary
loss of $7, net of taxes of $4, related to consolidation of
real estate leases under FIN 46 (see Note 1).

Cumulative effect of accounting changes Effective
January 1, 2003, we changed our method of recognizing
revenues and expenses related to publishing directories
from the “issue basis” to the “amortization method.” Our
directory accounting change resulted in a noncash charge
of $1,136, net of an income tax benefit of $714, recorded
as a cumulative effect of accounting change on the
Consolidated Statement of Income as of January 1, 2003.
(See Note 1)

On January 1, 2003, we adopted FAS 143, which
changed the way we depreciate certain types of our 
property, plant and equipment. The noncash gain resulting
from adoption was $3,677, net of deferred taxes of $2,249,
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change on the
Consolidated Statement of Income as of January 1, 2003.
(See Note 1)

Segment Results
Our segments represent strategic business units that 
offer different products and services and are managed
accordingly. Due to the proximity of our acquisition of
ATTC to year end, we have reported those results in the
AT&T Corp. segment even though there may be some
overlap in the products and service provided by that seg-
ment and our wireline segment. Our operating segment
results presented in Note 4 and discussed below for each
segment follow our internal management reporting. We
analyze our various operating segments based on segment
income. Interest expense, interest income, other income
(expense) — net and income tax expense are managed
only on a total company basis and are, accordingly, 
reflected only in consolidated results. Therefore, these
items are not included in the calculation of each segment’s
percentage of our total segment income. Each segment’s
percentage of total segment operating revenue calculation
is derived from our segment results table in Note 4 and
reflects amounts before eliminations. We have six
reportable segments that reflect the current management
of our business: (1) wireline, (2) AT&T Corp., (3) Cingular,
(4) directory, (5) international, and (6) other. 

The wireline segment accounted for approximately 47%
of our 2005 total segment operating revenues as compared
to 61% in 2004 and 55% of our 2005 total segment income
as compared to 52% in 2004. This segment consists of our
traditional SBC wireline subsidiaries and operates as both a

retail and wholesale seller of communications services
providing landline telecommunications services, including
local and long-distance voice, switched access, data and
messaging services and satellite television services through our
agreement with EchoStar Communications Corp. (EchoStar).

The AT&T Corp. segment accounted for approximately
4% of our 2005 total segment operating revenues and 2%
of our 2005 total segment income. This segment reflects
100% of the results of ATTC for the 43 days following the
November 18, 2005 acquisition. ATTC operates as both a
retail and wholesale seller of communications services, 
primarily providing long-distance and local voice, data 
services and managed networking to business customers.
ATTC also provides local and long-distance voice and data
services to consumers. 

The Cingular segment accounted for approximately 44%
of our 2005 total segment operating revenues as compared
to 32% in 2004 and 7% of our 2005 total segment income
as compared to 2% in 2004. This segment reflects 100% of
the results reported by Cingular, our wireless joint venture
with BellSouth Corporation (BellSouth). Cingular offers
both wireless voice and data communications services
across the United States, providing cellular and PCS services.
Although we analyze Cingular’s revenues and expenses
under the Cingular segment, we eliminate the Cingular
segment in our consolidated financial statements. In our
consolidated financial statements, we report our 60% 
proportionate share of Cingular’s results as equity in net
income of affiliates. 

The directory segment accounted for approximately 5%
of our 2005 total segment operating revenues as compared
to 6% in 2004 and 27% of our 2005 total segment income
as compared to 30% in 2004. This segment includes all
directory operations, including Yellow and White Pages
advertising and electronic publishing. Results for this
segment are shown under the amortization method, 
which means that revenues and direct expenses are 
recognized ratably over the life of the directory title, 
typically 12 months. In November 2004, a subsidiary in our
directory segment entered into a joint venture agreement
with BellSouth and acquired the internet directory 
publisher YELLOWPAGES.COM (YPC) (see Note 6). 

Other than those international investments acquired in
our acquisition of ATTC, all investments with primarily
international operations are included in the international
segment, which accounted for less than 1% of our 2005
and 2004 total segment operating revenues and 
approximately 5% of our 2005 total segment income 
as compared to 12% in 2004. Most of our international
investments reflected in the international segment are
accounted for under the equity method, and therefore
their results are reflected in segment income but not in
segment revenue or expense. During 2004, we sold our
interests in TDC, Belgacom and Telkom.

The other segment includes results from all corporate
and other operations as well as the equity income from 
our investment in Cingular. In November 2005 we sold 
our paging operations. Although we analyze Cingular’s 
revenues and expenses under the Cingular segment, we
record its equity in net income of affiliates in this segment. 
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The following tables show components of results of
operations by segment. We discuss significant segment
results following each table. We discuss capital expendi-
tures for each segment in “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” Due to the fourth-quarter 2005 acquisition 
of ATTC and the application of purchase accounting rules
required by GAAP, there are no period comparisons 

available and thus percentage increases and decreases are
not shown for the AT&T Corp. segment. In addition,
Cingular’s 2005 operating revenue and expense percentage
increases and decreases are not considered meaningful,
due to Cingular’s fourth-quarter 2004 acquisition of AT&T
Wireless, and are denoted with a dash. 

Wireline
Segment Results

Percent Change

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Segment operating revenues
Voice $19,904 $20,796 $21,986 (4.3)% (5.4)%
Data 11,930 10,984 10,150 8.6 8.2
Long-distance voice 3,756 3,297 2,561 13.9 28.7
Other 1,855 1,810 1,843 2.5 (1.8)

Total Segment Operating Revenues 37,445 36,887 36,540 1.5 0.9

Segment operating expenses
Cost of sales 16,814 16,603 15,941 1.3 4.2
Selling, general and administrative 9,505 9,206 8,794 3.2 4.7
Depreciation and amortization 7,121 7,454 7,763 (4.5) (4.0)

Total Segment Operating Expenses 33,440 33,263 32,498 0.5 2.4

Segment Income $ 4,005 $ 3,624 $ 4,042 10.5% (10.3)%

Our wireline segment operating income margin was 10.7%
in 2005, compared to 9.8% in 2004 and 11.1% in 2003. 
The improvement in our wireline segment operating
income margin in 2005 was due primarily to the continued
growth in our Data and Long-distance voice revenues,
which more than offset the loss of Voice revenue from 
the decline in total access lines (as shown in the following
table) from 2004 to 2005 of approximately 2.9 million
lines, or 5.6%, due to increasing competition. 

Voice revenue declined due to customers continuing 
to disconnect primary and additional lines and using 
alternative technologies, such as wireless, and to a lesser
extent VoIP and cable instead of phone lines for voice and
data; our bundling strategy and other pricing responses to
competitors’ offerings, and; lower demand for services.
Voice revenue also has declined over the past several years
as our retail customers have disconnected their lines in
order to obtain service from competitors who lease our
UNE-P lines. However, that trend started to change in the
third quarter of 2004 and for 2005, UNE-P lines (which
include lines under commercial UNE-P replacement agree-
ments) declined by 2.2 million, or 33.8%, from 2004 levels.
The decline in UNE-P lines during 2005 is also attributable
to UNE-P customers switching to alternative technologies as
the UNE-P rules have changed; this decline has decreased
our wholesale revenues. The impact of the UNE-P rules on
our operating revenue is discussed below. (The UNE-P rules

are discussed in “Overview” and in “Operating
Environment and Trends of the Business.”) During 2005,
our operating income margin was pressured on the cost
side due to a charge to terminate existing agreements 
with WilTel and by higher costs caused by our growth 
initiatives in long-distance and DSL as well as, prior to the
amendment of our agreement, our co-branded AT&T | DISH
Network satellite TV service, sales in the large-business
market and by higher repair costs caused by severe
weather in our traditional SBC regions.

The decline in our wireline segment operating income
margin in 2004 compared to 2003 was due primarily to the
continued loss of voice revenue from the decline in total
access lines from 2003 to 2004 of 2.3 million lines, or 4.3%.
This revenue decline was caused by both an increase in 
customers disconnecting additional lines and using 
alternative technologies, our bundling strategy and other
pricing responses to competitors’ offerings as well as lower
demand for services due to the uncertain U.S. economy
(primarily in the first half of 2004). Revenue also has
declined over the past several years as our retail customers
disconnected their lines in order to obtain service from
competitors who leased our UNE-P lines. Our operating
income margin was also pressured by costs due to our
growth initiatives in long-distance, DSL and the large-
business market.
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Total switched access lines in service at December 31, 2005
declined 5.6% from December 31, 2004 levels. Retail access
lines, while declining 2.1% from 2004 levels, represent
89.3% of total switched access lines at December 31, 2005,
compared to 86.1% a year earlier. During this same period,
wholesale lines (which include UNE-P, commercially
negotiated UNE-P replacements and resale) decreased
27.9% and at December 31, 2005 represented 10.0% of
total access lines, down from 13.1% a year earlier.

The decline in total access lines in 2005 reflects many
factors, including the disconnection of additional lines 
as our existing customers purchase our DSL broadband 
services and for other reasons, and the continued growth 
in alternative communication technologies such as wireless,
cable and other internet-based systems. While we lose
some revenue when a wireline customer shifts from one of
our retail lines to a competitor that relies on commercial
UNE-P replacement agreements, the UNE-P rules or a resale
agreement to offer service (i.e., one of our wholesale 
customers), we lose all customer revenue when a retail
wireline customer shifts to an alternative technology such
as cable, wireless or the Internet using VoIP or a competitor
using its own traditional network. However, recently,
declines in our retail business access lines have been 
partially offset by sales of our business internet-based
systems (which are reported as Data revenues). We do 
not currently offer a residential internet-based service. 
The UNE-P rules are scheduled to end after a 12-month 
transition period that began March 11, 2005. Approximately
10% of our wholesale lines are still subject to the UNE-P
transition rules. Based on marketing research, we believe
that the majority of remaining customers that had used
UNE-P service are shifting to an alternative technology or

to a competitor using its own network, as opposed to
returning as our retail customers. Our wireline segment’s
operating margins will continue to be pressured by
increasing customer shifts from our traditional retail base
to either alternative technologies or competitors using
commercial UNE-P replacement or resale agreements or
their own facilities, as well as our pricing responses to
retain or regain retail customers. 

Total switched access lines in service at December 31, 2004
were 52.4 million, a decline of 2.3 million, or 4.3%, from
December 31, 2003 levels. Of this total, retail access lines 
of 45.1 million represent 86.1% of total access lines.
Wholesale lines represented 13.1% of total access lines at
December 31, 2004. 

Voice revenues decreased $892, or 4.3%, in 2005 and
$1,190, or 5.4%, in 2004 primarily due to the loss of retail
and wholesale access lines. The decline in retail lines 
primarily reflects increased competition, including 
customers using wireless, VoIP technology and cable instead
of phone lines for voice and data, and the disconnection of
additional lines for DSL service and other reasons. The
decline in wholesale lines is related to the unwinding of
the UNE-P rules which are scheduled to end in March 2006. 

Retail access line declines decreased revenues 
approximately $328 in 2005 and $841 in 2004. Lower
demand for wholesale services, primarily due to the decline
in UNE-P lines provided to competitors, decreased revenue
approximately $145 in 2005. A decline in demand for calling
features (e.g., Caller ID and voice mail), due primarily to the
access line declines, decreased revenues approximately 
$97 in 2005 and $180 in 2004. Continued declines in
demand for voice equipment located on customer premises
decreased revenues approximately $69 in 2005 and $87 in

Access Line Trends
Following is a summary of our switched access lines at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Switched Access Lines
Increase (Decrease)

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
(In 000s) 2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Retail Consumer
Primary 22,793 23,206 23,948 (413) (742)
Additional 3,890 4,322 4,894 (432) (572)

Retail Consumer Subtotal 26,683 27,528 28,842 (845) (1,314)

Retail Business 17,457 17,552 18,264 (95) (712)

Retail Subtotal 44,140 45,080 47,106 (940) (2,026)

Percent of total switched access lines 89.3% 86.1% 86.1%

UNE-P 4,300 6,497 6,664 (2,197) (167)
Resale 638 349 445 289 (96)

Wholesale Subtotal1 4,938 6,846 7,109 (1,908) (263)

Percent of total switched access lines 10.0% 13.1% 13.0%

Payphone (retail and wholesale) 335 430 468 (95) (38)

Percent of total switched access lines 0.7% 0.8% 0.9%

Total Switched Access Lines 49,413 52,356 54,683 (2,943) (2,327)

DSL Lines in Service 6,921 5,104 3,515 1,817 1,589

1Wireline segment wholesale lines at December 31, 2005 include approximately 1.64 million lines purchased by ATTC.
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2004. Lower demand for retail payphone services decreased
revenues approximately $52 in 2005 and $57 in 2004. 
We expect payphone access lines and revenue to continue
to decline in future periods. Reduced demand for inside
wire service agreements decreased revenues approximately
$36 in 2005 and $61 in 2004. Revenue from “local plus”
plans (expanded local calling area) declined approximately
$22 in 2005 and $76 in 2004, as more customers chose
broader long-distance and other bundled offerings. 

Pricing responses to competitors’ offerings and regulatory
changes were essentially flat in 2005 and reduced revenues
approximately $390 in 2004. Revenue was lower by $71 in
2005 from additional revenues we recorded in 2004 related
to a September 2004 ruling by the CPUC that retroactively
increased UNE-P rates we could charge in California.
Revenue also was lower by $37 in 2005 from additional
revenue we recorded in 2004 related to Federal
Communications Commission (FCC) proceedings on the
inclusion of other postretirement benefit costs in previous
tariff filings. 

Partially offsetting these revenue declines were net 
settlements and billing adjustments with our wholesale 
customers which increased revenues approximately $34 in
2005 and $204 in 2004. Also in 2004, increased demand 
for wholesale services, primarily UNE-P lines provided to
competitors, increased revenues approximately $94. 

Data revenues increased $946, or 8.6%, in 2005 and
$834, or 8.2%, in 2004 primarily due to continued growth
in DSL, our broadband internet-access service, high-capacity
transport and sales of data equipment and services. DSL
and dial-up internet service increased Data revenues
approximately $444 in 2005 and $538 in 2004, reflecting an
increase in DSL lines in service and, in 2005, was partially
driven by lower-priced promotional offerings and pricing
responses to competitors. The number of DSL lines in service
grew to approximately 6.9 million, a 35.6% increase from
2004. At December 31, 2004 we served 5.1 million 
DSL lines, a 45.2% increase from December 31, 2003. 

Revenue from our high-capacity transport services
increased approximately $273 in 2005 and declined $81 in
2004. Our high-capacity transport services, which include
DS1s and DS3s (types of dedicated high-capacity lines), 
and SONET (a dedicated high-speed solution for multi-site
businesses), represented about 58% of total data revenues
in 2005 and 61% in 2004. Our 2004 high-capacity results
include revenue declines of approximately $65 related to
the 2000 federal Coalition for Affordable Local and Long
Distance Services (CALLS) order and the September 2004
California order. Included in the 2004 decrease in high-
capacity transport revenues was the favorable impact of a
one-time MCI, Inc. (MCI) (formerly known as WorldCom)
2003 settlement of approximately $45 which affected 
year-over-year comparisons. 

Revenue from data equipment sales and network 
integration services increased approximately $132 in 2005
and $402 in 2004. Revenues from large-business customers
typically consist of revenue from the initial installation of
equipment followed by services provided over multiple
years. The significant increase in 2004 reflected our initial
expansion into the large-business market following our 
late 2003 entry into nationwide long-distance. 

Long-distance voice revenues increased $459, or 13.9%,
in 2005 and $736, or 28.7%, in 2004. These increases were
primarily driven by the increase in long-distance lines in
service in 2005 and 2004. The number of long-distance lines
in service in the wireline segment at December 31, 2005
grew to approximately 23.5 million, a 12.6% increase from
2004. At December 31, 2004, we served 20.9 million lines, a
44.8% increase from December 31, 2003. Sales of combined
long-distance and local calling fixed-fee offerings (referred
to as “bundling”) also contributed to the increased long-
distance revenues and lines. Long-distance revenues 
continued to increase in our traditional SBC Midwest, 
West and Southwest regions with the most significant
improvements in results occurring in our Midwest region
(Michigan, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and Wisconsin). Our 
long-distance revenue growth slowed in 2005, reflecting
continuing market maturity since we began providing
service throughout our regions in late 2003.

Retail long-distance revenues increased approximately
$467 in 2005 and $825 in 2004, reflecting our higher 
long-distance penetration levels. Continued growth in
wholesale long-distance services sold to Cingular and our
international and other long-distance services increased
revenues approximately $155 in 2005 and $282 in 2004.
Partially offsetting these increases was a decline of 
approximately $139 in 2005 and $340 in 2004 due to
pricing responses to increased competition and a reduction
in our billed minutes of use mainly related to the increased
sales of our fixed-fee bundles, which do not separately bill
for minutes of use.

Other operating revenues increased $45, or 2.5%, in
2005 and decreased $33, or 1.8%, in 2004. Our co-branded
AT&T | DISH Network satellite TV service increased revenue
approximately $196 in 2005 and $94 in 2004. We expect
future growth in revenues from this service to moderate 
as we restructured our agreement with EchoStar in
September 2005 (see “Other Business Matters”) to record
only commission revenue when signing up future customers.
Price increases, primarily in directory assistance, increased
revenues approximately $23 in 2005 and $48 in 2004.
Partially offsetting these revenue increases was lower
demand for directory and operator assistance, billing and
collection services provided to other carriers, wholesale and
other miscellaneous products and services, various one-time
billing adjustments and other pricing changes decreased
revenue approximately $190 in 2005 and $148 in 2004.
Commission revenue received from Cingular related to
Cingular customers added through our sales sources
increased approximately $8 in 2005 after decreasing $27 
in 2004, reflecting more stringent credit policies put in
place in 2004. 

Cost of sales expenses increased $211, or 1.3%, in 2005
and $662, or 4.2%, in 2004. Cost of sales consists of costs
we incur to provide our products and services, including
costs of operating and maintaining our networks. Costs 
in this category include our repair technicians and repair 
services, certain network planning and engineering
expenses, operator services, information technology, 
property taxes related to elements of our network, and
payphone operations. Pension and postretirement costs,
net of amounts capitalized as part of construction labor,
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are also included to the extent that they are allocated to
our network labor force and other employees who 
perform the functions listed in this paragraph.

Traffic compensation expense (for access to another
carrier’s network) increased approximately $330 in 2005
and $122 in 2004. Growth in our long-distance service 
generated approximately $192 of the increase in 2005 
and $286 in 2004, partially offset by lower rates paid for
local traffic (telephone calls) terminating on competitor
networks and wireless customers. Expense also increased
approximately $164 in 2005 resulting from reduced
expense in 2004 from non-recurring traffic compensation
settlements. Offsetting these increases, traffic compensation
expense decreased approximately $26 in 2005 related to a
carrier settlement. 

Costs associated with equipment sales and related
network integration services and, prior to the amendment
of our agreement, our co-branded AT&T | DISH Network
satellite TV service increased approximately $195 in 2005
and $603 in 2004, reflecting our emphasis on growth in DSL
and sales in the large-business market and video. Prior to
restructuring our relationship with EchoStar in September
2005, our co-branded AT&T | DISH Network satellite TV
service had relatively high initial acquisition costs. Costs
associated with equipment for large-business customers 
(as well as DSL and, previously, video) typically are greater
than costs associated with services that are provided over
multiple years. Costs in 2004 reflect our initial expansion
into the large-business market. 

Salary and wage merit increases and other bonus accrual
adjustments increased expense approximately $170 in 2005
and $356 in 2004. Merger severance accruals increased
expenses approximately $176 in 2005. We also incurred
repair costs of approximately $100 in 2005 primarily related
to severe weather in our regions, including California. 

Partially offsetting these increases were lower employee
levels which decreased expenses, primarily salary and
wages, approximately $322 in 2005 and $208 in 2004.
Nonemployee-related expenses such as contract services,
agent commissions and materials and supplies costs
decreased approximately $100 in 2005 and $148 in 2004. 

Additionally, expenses decreased $154 in 2005 due to
the one-time accrual in 2004 for a retiree bonus as a result
of the settlement of our labor contract negotiations in 
the second quarter of 2004. Benefit expenses, consisting
primarily of our combined net pension and postretirement
cost, decreased approximately $12 in 2005, primarily 
resulting from changes made to management medical 
coverage in 2005. In addition, changes in 2005 to phone
concessions for out-of-region retirees reduced expenses 
by approximately $20 in 2005. Benefit expenses decreased
by $306 in 2004 compared to 2003 reflecting changes in 
nonmanagement retirees’ medical coverage and our
accounting for the Medicare Act. 

As part of an internal business unit realignment during
the second quarter of 2005, expenses incurred by the
affected unit in 2004 were reported in cost of sales, while
in 2005 costs incurred by this group have been reported as
selling expenses. This resulted in reduced cost of sales
expenses of $148 in 2005, and a corresponding increase in
selling, general and administrative expenses in 2005. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased
$299, or 3.2%, in 2005 and $412, or 4.7%, in 2004. Selling,
general and administrative expenses consist of our provision
for uncollectible accounts; advertising costs; sales and 
marketing functions, including our retail and wholesale
customer service centers; centrally managed real estate
costs, including maintenance and utilities on all owned 
and leased buildings; credit and collection functions, and;
corporate overhead costs, such as finance, legal, human
resources and external affairs. Pension and postretirement
costs are also included to the extent they relate to employees
who perform the functions listed in this paragraph. 

Salary and wage merit increases and other bonus accrual
adjustments increased expenses approximately $108 in 2005
and $127 in 2004. Expenses increased during 2005 due to 
a charge of $236 to terminate existing agreements with
WilTel, which will continue to provide transitional and 
out-of-market long-distance services under a new
agreement that commenced in November 2005 as a result
of our acquisition of ATTC. ATTC merger-related asset
impairment charges of approximately $349 and 
merger-related severance cost accruals of $107 increased
expenses in 2005. Expenses increased approximately 
$111 in 2004 due to higher severance accruals.

Partially offsetting these increases were lower employee
levels, which decreased expenses, primarily salary and
wages, approximately $264 in 2005 and $36 in 2004. Our
provision for uncollectible accounts decreased approximately
$55 in 2005 and $21 in 2004 as we experienced fewer losses
from our retail customers and a decrease in bankruptcy
filings by our wholesale customers. Advertising expense
decreased approximately $20 in 2005 and $43 in 2004 
primarily driven by higher costs in 2003 from our launch 
of long-distance service in new markets and bundling 
initiatives, which declined slightly in 2004 and 2005.
Nonemployee-related expenses, such as contract services,
agent commissions and materials and supplies costs,
decreased approximately $59 in 2005 and increased $188 
in 2004. Other employee-related expenses, including travel,
training and conferences, decreased approximately $21 
in 2005 and increased $29 in 2004. 

Expenses decreased $79 in 2005 due to the one-time
accrual in 2004 for a retiree bonus resulting from the 
settlement of our labor contract negotiations in 2004.
Benefit expenses, consisting primarily of our combined net
pension and postretirement cost, decreased approximately
$66 in 2005 primarily due to changes made to management
medical coverage in 2005. In addition, changes in 2005 to
phone concessions for out-of-region retirees reduced
expenses by approximately $73 in 2005. Benefit expenses
decreased by $22 in 2004 compared to 2003 reflecting
changes in nonmanagement retirees’ medical coverage 
and our accounting for the Medicare Act. 

As part of an internal business unit realignment during
the second quarter of 2005, expenses incurred by the
affected unit in 2004 were reported in cost of sales, while
in 2005 costs incurred by this group have been reported 
as selling expenses. This resulted in increased selling,
general and administrative expenses of $148 in 2005 and 
a corresponding reduction in cost of sales in 2005.
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Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased $333,
or 4.5%, in 2005 and $309, or 4.0%, in 2004. Lower expenses
in 2005 and 2004 were due primarily to significantly lower
capital expenditure levels since 2001.

AT&T Corp.
Segment Results

2005 2004 2003

Segment operating revenues
Voice $ 361 $ — $ —
Data 1,129 — —
Long-distance voice 1,208 — —
Other 189 — —

Total Segment 
Operating Revenues 2,887 — —

Segment operating expenses
Cost of sales 1,686 — —
Selling, general and 

administrative 669 — —
Depreciation and 

amortization 414 — —

Total Segment 
Operating Expenses 2,769 — —

Segment Operating Income 118 — —

Equity in Net Income 
of Affiliates 2 — —

Segment Income $ 120 $ — $ —

The AT&T Corp. segment consists of the results of ATTC
after we completed our acquisition on November 18, 2005.
Our AT&T Corp. segment operating income margin was
4.1% for the 43-day period ended December 31, 2005. The
results included the effects of the purchase accounting
rules required under GAAP. The discussion below includes
our understanding of the trends of the business prior to
and following the November acquisition.

Voice revenues of $361 for the period have been 
negatively impacted by ATTC’s 2004 decision to shift
emphasis away from residential customer acquisitions as a
result of changes in the federal regulatory environment
over the past two years. For these changes, see the
“Regulatory Developments” section.

Data revenues of $1,129 have been negatively impacted
by competitive pricing pressure. Positively impacting data
revenue were advanced services, such as Enhanced Virtual
Private Network and IP-enabled frame relay services.

Long-distance voice revenues of $1,208 have been 
negatively impacted by competition, which has led to lower
prices in business markets and loss of consumer and small-
and medium-sized business market share, and substitution
which has led to lower volumes.

Other operating revenues of $189 have been negatively
impacted by contract terminations and renegotiations. 

Cost of sales of $1,686 includes the costs of operating and
maintaining the network, as well as traffic compensation
expense. Traffic compensation expense was approximately
$1,102, or 65%, of total costs of sales.

Selling, general and administrative expenses of $669
include our provision for uncollectible accounts and sales
and marketing functions.

Depreciation and amortization expenses of $414
included amortization expense of $192 associated with
acquired intangible assets, of which $184 was from 
customer-related intangibles.

Supplemental Information
To provide improved comparability versus previous 
quarters, below is a supplemental table providing 
quarterly pro forma operating revenues of the AT&T Corp.
segment. On a pro forma operating revenue basis, this
segment would have represented 26% of total segment
operating revenues for 2005 (segment operating 
revenues include 100% of our Cingular segment 
operating revenues).

AT&T Corp.
Pro Forma Segment Operating Revenues

Three-Month Period Ended

Dec 31, 2005 Sep 30, 2005 Jun 30, 2005 Mar 31, 2005

AT&T Corp. Operating Revenues $3,481 $6,620 $6,760 $7,015
AT&T Corp. Segment Operating Revenues 2,887 — — —

Pro Forma AT&T Corp. Segment Operating Revenues $6,368 $6,620 $6,760 $7,015

1AT&T Corp. results from October 1, 2005 – November 18, 2005.
2AT&T Corp. segment results from November 19, 2005 – December 31, 2005.

Revenues from business customers declined during 2005
reflecting continued pricing pressures in traditional voice
and data products, offset in part by growth in IP-based
products and E-services. Revenues from consumer 

(residential and small- and medium-sized businesses)
customers declined during 2005 reflecting industry trends
and ATTC’s decision (prior to the acquisition) to shift its
emphasis to other segments of the business.

1

2
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Accounting for Cingular
We account for our 60% economic interest in Cingular
under the equity method of accounting in our consolidated
financial statements since we share control equally (i.e.,
50/50) with our 40% economic partner BellSouth in the joint
venture. We have equal voting rights and representation on
the Board of Directors that controls Cingular. This means
that our consolidated results include Cingular’s results in the
“Equity in net income of affiliates” line. However, when
analyzing our segment results, we evaluate Cingular’s results
on a stand-alone basis using information provided by
Cingular during the year. Accordingly, in our segment
presentation, we present 100% of Cingular’s revenues 
and expenses under “Segment operating revenues” and
“Segment operating expenses.” Including 100% of
Cingular’s results in our segment operations (rather than
60% in equity in net income of affiliates) affects the presen-
tation of this segment’s revenues, expenses, operating
income, nonoperating items and segment income but 
does not affect our consolidated net income. We discuss
Cingular’s liquidity and capital expenditures under the head-
ing “Cingular” within the “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

In the first quarter of 2005, to be consistent with 
industry practices, Cingular changed its income statement
presentation for the current and prior-year periods to
record billings to customers for various state gross receipts
taxes and other fees as “Service” revenues and the taxes
assessed by the various state jurisdictions and other fees as
“Cost of services and equipment sales.” This amount
totaled approximately $129 in 2004 and $94 in 2003.
Operating income and net income for all restated periods
were not affected.

Acquisition of AT&T Wireless
On October 26, 2004, Cingular acquired AT&T Wireless for
approximately $41,000 in cash. We and BellSouth funded,

by means of an equity contribution to Cingular, a significant
portion of the acquisition’s purchase price. Based on our
60% equity ownership of Cingular, and after taking into
account cash on hand at AT&T Wireless, we provided
approximately $21,600 to fund the purchase price. Equity
ownership and management control of Cingular remains
unchanged after the acquisition.

In the first half of 2005, Cingular completed all required
divestitures of assets and spectrum in certain markets in
response to the agreement made with the U.S. Department
of Justice (DOJ) and the FCC as a condition to receiving 
regulatory approval to acquire AT&T Wireless. These
required divestitures included Cingular’s sale of certain
former AT&T Wireless assets and properties, including
licenses, network assets and subscribers that Cingular 
operated in several markets. 

In October 2005, Cingular approved the final phase of 
its network integration plan. This phase will involve 
integrating its Global System for Mobile Communication
(GSM) networks, decommissioning redundant cell sites and
core network elements, and swapping vendor equipment
in various markets in order to have similar equipment in
each market. Cingular expects to complete its network 
integration plan by the end of 2006 and to incur costs of
approximately $580 related to this phase of its plan, which
includes integration exit cost liabilities of $350 that were
recorded as an adjustment to the AT&T Wireless purchase
price allocation. In connection with the approval of this
final phase, Cingular reduced its network equipment
balance by approximately $60 for equipment removed
from service during 2005. Although Cingular will be 
decommissioning much of its Time Division Multiple Access
(TDMA) network it will continue providing analog services
to some customers through February 2008.

Cingular
Segment Results

Percent Change1

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Segment operating revenues
Service $30,638 $17,602 $14,317 — 22.9)%
Equipment 3,795 1,963 1,260 — 55.8

Total Segment Operating Revenues 34,433 19,565 15,577 — 25.6

Segment operating expenses
Cost of services and equipment sales 14,387 7,611 5,806 — 31.1
Selling, general and administrative 11,647 7,349 5,428 — 35.4
Depreciation and amortization 6,575 3,077 2,089 — 47.3

Total Segment Operating Expenses 32,609 18,037 13,323 — 35.4

Segment Operating Income 1,824 1,528 2,254 19.4 (32.2)
Interest Expense 1,260 900 856 40.0 5.1
Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliates 5 (415) (333) — (24.6)
Other – net (38) (70) (60) 45.7 (16.7)

Segment Income $ 531 $ 143 $ 1,005 — (85.8)%

1Cingular’s 2005 operating revenue and expense percentage increases and decreases are not considered meaningful due to Cingular’s fourth-quarter 2004 acquisition of
AT&T Wireless and are denoted with a dash.
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Competition and the slowing rate of new wireless users as
the wireless market matures will continue to adversely
impact Cingular’s gross additions and revenue growth,
increase expenses and put pressure on margins. Cingular
expects that future revenue growth will become increasingly
dependent on minimizing customer turnover (customer
churn) and increasing average revenue per user/customer
(ARPU). Cingular’s ARPU has weakened over the past several
years as it has offered a broader array of plans to expand
its customer base and responded to increasing competition,
resulting in pricing reductions. While Cingular’s ARPU has
somewhat stabilized recently, Cingular nevertheless expects
continued pressure on ARPU notwithstanding increasing
revenue from data services. Cingular expects its cost of 
services to continue increasing due to higher network 
system usage, including the costs Cingular is now paying 
T-Mobile USA (T-Mobile) for the use of its network in
California and Nevada, higher costs as Cingular continues
to integrate AT&T Wireless’ network and operations, and,
to a lesser extent, increased expenses related to operating,
maintaining and decommissioning TDMA networks that
duplicated GSM networks while integrating the networks
acquired from AT&T Wireless. Cingular’s remaining purchase
commitment to T-Mobile was approximately $520 at
December 31, 2005. Operating costs will substantially
increase in the event that Cingular’s network expansion in
California and Nevada is not completed prior to fulfilling
the purchase commitment with T-Mobile. 

ARPU declined 0.1% in 2005 and 3.9% in 2004. The
decline in ARPU was due to a decrease in local service and
net roaming revenue per customer partially offset by an
increase in average data revenue per customer and
increased long-distance revenue per customer. Local service
revenue per customer declined primarily due to customer
shifts to all-inclusive rate plans that offer lower monthly
charges and “rollover” minutes (which allow customers to
carry over unused minutes from month to month for up to
one year) as well as Cingular’s free mobile-to-mobile plans,
which allow Cingular customers to call other Cingular 
customers at no charge. An increase in customers on
rollover plans tends to lower average monthly revenue per
customer since unused minutes (and associated revenue)
are deferred until subsequent months for up to one year. 

The effective management of wireless customer churn is
critical to Cingular’s ability to maximize revenue growth
and maintain and improve margins. Cingular’s wireless 
customer churn rate is calculated by dividing the aggregate
number of wireless customers (prepaid and postpaid) who
cancel service during each month in a period by the total
number of wireless customers at the beginning of each
month in that period. Cingular’s churn rate was 2.2% in
2005, down from 2.7% in 2004 and 2003.

The churn rate for Cingular’s postpaid customers was
1.9% in 2005, down from 2.3% in 2004 and 2003. The
decline in postpaid churn reflects benefits from the 
acquisition of AT&T Wireless, including more affordable
rate plans, broader network coverage, higher network
quality, exclusive devices and free mobile-to-mobile calling
among Cingular’s 54.1 million customers. 

The decline in Cingular’s churn rate compared to 2004
resulted primarily from a change in methodology of 
calculating churn related to reseller customers. Beginning
in the first quarter of 2005, Cingular adopted a new
reseller churn calculation methodology that resulted in an
aggregate churn calculation that is more comparable with
its major competitors. Prior to 2005, Cingular included 
gross reseller disconnects in its churn calculation. Effective
with the first quarter of 2005, Cingular’s churn calculation
is based on total net reseller disconnects. This change 
resulted in an improvement to 2005 reported churn of
approximately 32 basis points. Partially offsetting Cingular’s
churn decline was an increase in prepaid customer churn.

Cingular’s Operating Results
Our Cingular segment operating income margin was 5.3%
in 2005, 7.8% in 2004 and 14.5% in 2003. The lower margins
in 2005 and 2004 compared to 2003 were caused by
expenses increasing at a higher rate than revenues, which
was primarily attributable to the acquisition of AT&T
Wireless in late October 2004. However, our Cingular 
segment operating income margin improved every quarter
during 2005 compared to the fourth quarter of 2004.
Cingular’s operating income margin was 6.2% in the fourth
quarter of 2005, 7.5% in the third quarter, 5.9% in the
second quarter and 1.4% in the first quarter of 2005 
compared to an operating loss margin of 2.1% in the
fourth quarter of 2004.

Wireless Customer Activity
Three-Month Period Ended

(in 000s) Dec 31, 2005 Sep 30, 2005 Jun 30, 2005 Mar 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Gross additions 5,136 4,386 4,292 4,672 4,914
Net additions 1,820 867 952 1,367 1,699
Other adjustments1 32 (17) 140 (149) 21,761
Net additions including other adjustments1 1,852 850 1,092 1,218 23,460

1Other adjustments include customers gained or lost through property divestitures related to the AT&T Wireless acquisition and other adjustments. In the fourth quarter of
2004, other adjustments included approximately 21.9 million subscribers related to Cingular’s acquisition of AT&T Wireless.

Cingular’s Customer and Operating Trends 
As of December 31, 2005, Cingular served approximately
54.1 million cellular/PCS (wireless) customers, compared 
to 49.1 million at December 31, 2004 and 24.0 million at
December 31, 2003. Cingular’s increase in customer gross

additions was primarily due to the acquisition of AT&T
Wireless in late October 2004. The increase was also due 
to Cingular’s larger distribution network, its broad range 
of service offerings and increased advertising. Cingular’s
recent customer activity is listed below:
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Cingular’s operating expenses increased $14,572 in 2005
and $4,714 in 2004. More than offsetting these operating
expenses was revenue growth of $14,868 in 2005. In 2004,
revenue growth of $3,988 partially offset the increased
operating expenses. 

Service revenues are comprised of local voice and data
services, roaming, long-distance and other revenue.
Offsetting 2005 Service revenues was approximately $31 
in customer bill credits issued to customers affected by 
hurricanes. Service revenues increased $13,036 in 2005 
and $3,285 in 2004 and consisted of:

• Local voice revenues, which increased approximately
$10,219 in 2005 and $2,741 in 2004 primarily due to
the acquisition of AT&T Wireless (due to Cingular’s
significant increase in average number of wireless
customers). Increased Universal Service Fund (USF) 
and regulatory compliance fees also contributed to
the local voice revenues increase in 2005 and 2004.

• Data service revenues, which increased $1,785 in 2005
and $438 in 2004 primarily due to the inclusion of 
former AT&T Wireless customers (who on average
were heavier data users than Cingular customers),
increased average data revenue per customer and
increased use of text messaging services. Data service
revenues represented approximately 7.8% of
Cingular’s total revenues in 2005 and 4.6% in 2004.

• Roaming revenues from Cingular customers and other
wireless carriers for use of Cingular’s network, which
increased $655 in 2005 and $6 in 2004. The 2005
increase was primarily due to roaming revenues from
the acquired AT&T Wireless customer base.

• Long-distance and other revenue, which increased
$377 in 2005 and $100 in 2004 primarily due to
increased long-distance revenues from the acquired
AT&T Wireless customer base as well as increased
domestic and international long-distance calling.

Equipment revenues increased $1,832 in 2005 and $703
in 2004 due to increased handset revenues primarily as a
result of significantly higher gross customer additions and
increases in existing customers upgrading their units.
Upgrade unit sales reflect an increase in GSM upgrades 
and Cingular’s efforts to migrate former AT&T Wireless 
customers to Cingular service offerings.

Cost of services and equipment sales expenses
increased $6,776 in 2005 and $1,805 in 2004 primarily due
to increased cost of services resulting from incremental
costs related to the acquired AT&T Wireless network.
Included in the 2005 increase were integration costs of
approximately $195 related to the acquired AT&T Wireless
network and hurricane-related costs of $97.

Cost of services increased $4,581 in 2005 and $962 in
2004. Cost of services increased due to the following:

• Increases in network usage with a minutes of use
increase of more than 110% in 2005 and more 
than 50% in 2004 primarily due to the increase 
in subscribers related to Cingular’s acquisition of 
AT&T Wireless.

• Increased costs Cingular is now paying T-Mobile for
the use of its network in California and Nevada.

• Increased expenses related to operating, maintaining
and decommissioning TDMA networks that duplicated
GSM networks while integrating the networks
acquired from AT&T Wireless.

• Higher roaming and long-distance cost and increased
USF and regulatory fees related to the increase in the
customer base. 

Equipment sales expense increased $2,195 in 2005 and
$843 in 2004 primarily due to higher handset unit sales
associated with the 46.1% increase in gross customer 
additions in 2005 and more than 30.0% in 2004, existing
customers upgrading their units and the continued 
migration of former AT&T Wireless customers to Cingular
service offerings. Equipment costs increased at a higher
rate than equipment revenues due to Cingular’s sales of
handsets below cost, through direct sales sources, to 
customers who committed to one-year or two-year 
contracts or in connection with other promotions.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased
$4,298 in 2005 and $1,921 in 2004 primarily due to 
incremental expenses associated with the acquisition of
AT&T Wireless. These increases include integration costs of
approximately $264 in 2005 and $277 in 2004, including
employee termination costs, re-branding and advertising of
the Cingular and AT&T Wireless combination and customer
service and systems integration costs. Also included in this
increase were hurricane-related costs of $19 in 2005. 

Total selling expenses increased $1,385 in 2005 and $873
in 2004 primarily due to the increase in gross customer
additions previously mentioned. Total selling expenses
include sales, marketing, advertising and commissions
expense. Cingular’s sales expense increased approximately
$462 in 2005 and $232 in 2004 primarily due to increased
sales personnel costs associated with the acquired AT&T
Wireless sales force. Commissions expense increased 
approximately $494 in 2005 and $289 in 2004 and advertising
and marketing expenses increased $429 in 2005 and $352
in 2004. 

General and administrative expenses increased $2,913 in
2005 and $1,048 in 2004 primarily due to the previously
mentioned incremental expenses from AT&T Wireless and
integration costs. General and administrative expenses
include customer service, upgrade commissions, billing, bad
debt, other maintenance and other administrative expense.
Customer service expenses increased approximately $960 in
2005 and $395 in 2004 due to a higher number of employees
and employee-related expenses related to the significant
increase in customers, as well as customer retention 
and customer service improvement initiatives. Other 
administrative expenses increased approximately $926 in
2005 and $307 in 2004 primarily due to incremental
expenses associated with the acquired AT&T Wireless
administrative functions. Billing, bad debt and other 
customer maintenance expense increased approximately
$766 in 2005 and $305 in 2004 primarily due to the 
significant increase in Cingular’s customer base. Upgrade
commissions increased approximately $261 in 2005 and 
$41 in 2004 due to the previously mentioned increased 
customer migration and handset upgrade activity. 



AT&T INC.  2005 ANNUAL REPORT  –  31

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased
$3,498 in 2005 and $988 in 2004. These increases include
approximately $417 of integration costs in 2005.
Depreciation expense increased approximately $2,249 
in 2005 and $635 in 2004 primarily due to incremental 
depreciation associated with the property, plant and 
equipment acquired in the AT&T Wireless acquisition and
depreciation related to Cingular’s ongoing capital spending
associated with its GSM network. Additionally, depreciation
expense increased due to accelerated depreciation on
certain TDMA network assets based on Cingular’s projected
transition of network traffic to GSM technology and 
accelerated depreciation on certain other network assets.
Substantially all of Cingular’s TDMA assets are anticipated
to be fully depreciated by the end of 2007. 

Amortization expense increased approximately $1,249 in
2005 and $353 in 2004 primarily due to the amortization of
the AT&T Wireless customer contracts and other intangible
assets acquired.

Supplemental Information
Because Cingular’s acquisition of AT&T Wireless has a 
significant effect on comparative financial information, we
have included the following sequential quarterly results for
comparative purposes. 

Cingular’s operating margins have increased since the
acquisition reflecting the continued increase in the number
of wireless customers, continued progress in its merger-
integration initiatives, as well as continued improvement in
customer churn compared with 2004.

Cingular
Sequential Segment Results

Three-Month Period Ended

Dec 31, 2005 Sep 30, 2005 Jun 30, 2005 Mar 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Segment operating revenues
Service revenues $7,779 $7,721 $7,719 $7,419 $6,313
Equipment revenues 1,070 1,025 890 810 806

Total Segment Operating Revenues 8,849 8,746 8,609 8,229 7,119

Segment operating expenses
Cost of services and equipment sales 3,758 3,667 3,523 3,439 2,939
Selling, general and administrative 2,812 2,881 2,953 3,001 2,947
Depreciation and amortization 1,730 1,541 1,629 1,675 1,386

Total Segment Operating Expenses 8,300 8,089 8,105 8,115 7,272

Segment Operating Income (Loss) 549 657 504 114 (153)
Interest Expense 292 304 326 338 303
Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliates 1 1 1 2 (114)
Other – net (6) (28) (8.) 4 13

Segment Income (Loss) $ 252 $ 326 $ 171 $ (218) $ (557)

Directory
Segment Results

Percent Change

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Total Segment Operating Revenues $3,714 $3,759 $3,773 (1.2)% (0.4)%

Segment operating expenses
Cost of sales 1,103 1,022 964 7.9 6.0
Selling, general and administrative 612 622 673 (1.6) (7.6)
Depreciation and amortization 5 9 21 (44.4) (57.1)

Total Segment Operating Expenses 1,720 1,653 1,658 4.1 (0.3)

Segment Operating Income 1,994 2,106 2,115 (5.3) (0.4)
Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliates (5) — — — —

Segment Income $1,989 $2,106 $2,115 (5.6)% (0.4)%

In September 2004, we sold our interest in the directory
advertising business in Illinois and northwest Indiana. 
Our directory segment results exclude the results of those 
operations (see Note 17). In November 2004, our directory
segment entered into a joint venture agreement with
BellSouth and acquired the internet directory publisher,
YPC. We account for YPC under the equity method of
accounting.

Our directory segment operating income margin was
53.6% in 2005, 56.0% in 2004 and 56.1% in 2003. 
The segment operating income margin decrease in 2005 
is a result of both higher expenses and lower revenues. 
The segment operating income margin stability in 2004 is
due to our revenues and expenses for both periods being 
relatively flat.
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Operating revenues decreased $45, or 1.2%, in 2005
and $14, or 0.4%, in 2004. The decrease in revenues in 2005
was primarily due to a decrease of approximately $74 in
our local Yellow Pages advertising, which was partially
offset by an increase of $39 in internet advertising revenue.
Revenues in 2004 decreased primarily in our local Yellow
Pages advertising, which decreased approximately $95 in
2004, and was partially offset by an increase of $30 in 
internet advertising revenue and an improvement of $27 
in revenue adjustments related to customer satisfaction.
These results reflect the impact of competition from other
publishers, other advertising media and continuing 
economic pressures on advertising customers. 

Cost of sales increased $81, or 7.9%, in 2005 and $58, or
6.0%, in 2004. The increase in 2005 was primarily driven by

higher costs for internet traffic of approximately $22,
publishing of $17 and distribution of $9. In 2004, cost 
of sales increased due to higher costs for commissions,
publishing and distribution which were partially offset 
by decreased costs for paper and printing. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased
$10, or 1.6%, in 2005 and $51, or 7.6%, in 2004. The
expense reduction in 2005 was primarily due to lower
advertising expense. Decreased expenses in 2004 were 
primarily due to lower uncollectible expense of 
approximately $68, partially offset by increases in 
advertising expense of $25 and increased employee
benefit-related costs of $14.

International
Segment Results

Percent Change

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Total Segment Operating Revenues $ 10 $ 22 $ 30 (54.5)% (26.7)%

Total Segment Operating Expenses 28 31 47 (9.7) (34.0)

Segment Operating Income (Loss) (18) (9) (17) — 47.1

Equity in Net Income of Affiliates 395 812 606 (51.4) 34.0

Segment Income $377 $803 $589 (53.1)% 36.3%

Our international segment consists primarily of equity
investments in international companies, the income from
which we report as equity in net income of affiliates.
Revenues from the segment’s direct international operations
are less than 1% of our consolidated revenues. 

Our earnings from foreign affiliates are sensitive to
exchange-rate changes in the value of the respective local
currencies. See Note 1 for a discussion of foreign currency
translation. Our foreign investments are recorded under
GAAP, which include adjustments for the purchase method
of accounting and exclude certain adjustments required for
local reporting in specific countries. In discussing Equity in
Net Income of Affiliates, all dollar amounts refer to the
effect on our income. The following table summarizes the 
individual results for our significant equity holdings in the
international segment. A discussion of these results follows.
See “Other income (expense) – net” and Note 2 for 
information on the sale of several investments during 2004.

Segment operating revenues decreased $12, or 54.5%,
in 2005 and $8, or 26.7%, in 2004. Revenues declined
primarily due to forgone management-fee revenues from
the disposition of investments. 

Segment operating expenses decreased $3, or 9.7%, in
2005 and $16, or 34.0%, in 2004. Expenses in 2005 declined
primarily due to lower employee costs resulting from fewer
foreign-based employees. Expenses in 2004 declined primarily
due to lower corporate-allocated charges.

Our equity in net income of affiliates by major investment
at December 31, are listed below:

2005 2004 2003

América Móvil $198 $132 $ 76
Belgacom1 — 49 28
TDC1 — 328 182
Telkom South Africa1 — 115 121
Telmex 212 180 196
Other (15) 8 3

Equity in Net Income
of Affiliates $395 $812 $606

1Investment sold in 2004.

Equity in net income of affiliates decreased $417, or
51.4%, in 2005 and increased $206, or 34.0%, in 2004. 
The decrease in 2005 was primarily due to gains that
occurred in 2004, and foregone equity income from the 
disposition of investments. Increases at América Móvil 
and Telmex reflect better operating results at both 
companies and reduced income taxes at América Móvil. 

The increase in 2004 was primarily due to a gain of
approximately $235 from TDC, related to the sale of its
interest in Belgacom. Equity income in 2004 also increased
due to a settlement loss of $160 in 2003 on a transfer of
pension liabilities which affected year-over-year comparisons.
The settlement loss in 2003 resulted from a transfer of
pension liabilities by Belgacom to the Belgian government
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and included a loss of approximately $115 from Belgacom
and TDC’s loss of $45 associated with the same transaction.
Equity in net income of affiliates in 2004 also increased
approximately: (1) $53 due to favorable operating results,
primarily at América Móvil, (2) $46 due to prior-year
restructuring charges at TDC and (3) $65 due to favorable
financing and exchange-rate impacts. These increases were
partially offset by lower equity income of approximately

$314 related to asset sales, including: (1) $131 from the 
sale of our and TDC’s investment in Belgacom, (2) $38 from
the sale of our interest in Telkom and (3) $145 from the
sale of our interest in TDC. The increases were also offset
by combined charges of approximately $51 for 2004
restructuring charges at TDC and impairment of our 
goodwill associated with a TDC subsidiary.

Other
Segment Results

Percent Change

2005 vs. 2004 vs. 
2005 2004 2003 2004 2003

Total Segment Operating Revenues $253 $244 $263 3.7% (7.2)%

Total Segment Operating Expenses 183 64 119 — (46.2)

Segment Operating Income 70 180 144 (61.1) 25.0

Equity in Net Income of Affiliates 217 61 647 — (90.6)

Segment Income $287 $241 $791 19.1% (69.5)%

Our other segment results consist primarily of corporate
and other operations. In November 2005, we sold our 
paging operations. 

Segment operating revenues increased in 2005 as a result
of higher revenues from capital leasing subsidiaries. Segment
operating revenues decreased in 2004 as a result of lower
revenues from paging and capital leasing subsidiaries. 

Equity in Net Income of Affiliates primarily represents
the equity income from our investment in Cingular.

O P E R AT I N G  E N V I R O N M E N T  A N D  T R E N D S  O F  T H E  B U S I N E S S
2006 Revenue Trends Our acquisition of ATTC will help
change the focus of our company toward broadband/data
and business revenues. Cingular’s late-2004 acquisition of
AT&T Wireless also increased our potential for growth in
the wireless area. During 2005, we experienced slight
growth in our traditional wireline operations and for 2006
we expect similar growth in these traditional areas.
Because of the late 2005 completion date of the ATTC
acquisition, we expect reported revenues to increase in
2006 compared to 2005. However, in terms of business
trends, we expect our 2006 and 2007 revenues to reflect
continuing but diminishing declines from ATTC operations,
as we integrate their business operations. If we include our
proportionate share of Cingular’s revenues in analyzing our
overall company prospects, we expect total year-over-year
revenue growth to turn positive in 2008. Our revenue
expectations assume that we will experience improvement
in our retail access line trends, partially offset by a decline
in the number of wholesale lines we provide, based on
favorable developments in the federal regulatory environ-
ment (see the “Regulatory Developments” section). We also
expect to expand services utilizing our broadband network
(see “Project Lightspeed” discussed in “Expected Growth
Areas”) as well as the national business market as a result
of the ATTC acquisition. Accordingly, we assume that we
will experience continued growth in DSL and additional
opportunities in the national data markets (see “Expected
Growth Areas”). We also assume continued long-distance
subscriber growth in our former SBC long-distance business,

but at a lower rate as that long-distance business continues
to mature. During the fourth quarter of 2004, Cingular
completed its acquisition of AT&T Wireless and is now the
largest wireless service provider in the U.S. While Cingular’s
revenues are not included in our consolidated revenues, we
expect the increased availability and competitiveness of its
service offerings will enhance our bundling opportunities
(see “Cingular” discussed in “Expected Growth Areas”).
However, we also expect that increasing competition in the
communications industry, including the continued growth
of alternative technologies such as wireless, cable and VoIP
and our response to competitors’ pricing strategies, as well
as the trends at ATTC, will pressure revenue. 

2006 Expense Trends The ATTC acquisition and related
merger costs will adversely affect expenses in 2006 and
2007. We expect our operating income margin, adjusted to
exclude these costs, will expand in 2008, due primarily to
expected improvement in our revenues and continued cost-
control measures. In particular, we expect continuing net
workforce reductions over the next three years related to
merger synergies and other operational initiatives.
Expenses related to growth initiatives, such as Project
Lightspeed (see “Expected Growth Areas”), and an
expected increase in pension and other postretirement
benefits costs to a range of approximately $1,700 to $1,800
will apply some pressure to our operating income margin. 

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW

In the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (Telecom Act),
Congress established a pro-competitive, deregulatory
national policy framework to bring the benefits of 
competition and investment in advanced telecommunications
facilities and services to all Americans by opening all
telecommunications markets to competition and reducing
or eliminating burdensome regulation. Since the Telecom
Act was passed, the FCC and state regulatory commissions
have maintained many of the extensive regulatory 
requirements applicable to incumbent local exchange 
companies (ILECs), including our wireline subsidiaries, and
imposed significant new regulatory requirements, including
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rules requiring us to unbundle our traditional network, in
an effort to jump-start a specific definition of purported
competition. However, over the past two years, the FCC 
has curtailed and, in some cases, eliminated certain of these
requirements in order to promote investment and deploy-
ment of next-generation broadband services and facilities,
and in response to a series of federal court decisions 
where the FCC’s rules (in particular, those requiring ILECs to
extensively unbundle their networks) exceeded the FCC’s
authority. For example, in February 2005, in response to a
March 2004 decision by the United States Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit), which
overturned significant portions of the FCC’s third set of
unbundling rules, including those mandating the availability
of the mass-market UNE-P, the FCC released new rules that
will eliminate the requirement that our wireline subsidiaries
provide the UNE-P at Total Element Long Run Incremental
Cost (TELRIC) rates. Those new rules became effective
March 11, 2005 and included a year-long transition for
eliminating our obligation to provide mass-market UNE-P.

Additionally, on September 23, 2005, the FCC released its
Title I Broadband Order (Broadband Order), which ruled
that facilities-based wireline broadband internet access
services offered by telephone companies are information
services and should be regulated in a similar manner to
broadband internet access services offered by cable 
companies. This order, which became effective on
November 16, 2005, substantially deregulates our existing
DSL services and prevents the imposition of regulation on
broadband internet access services to be offered over
Project Lightspeed, discussed below. 

We are actively pursuing additional legislative and 
regulatory measures to reduce or eliminate regulatory
requirements that inhibit our ability to provide the full
suite of services increasingly demanded by our customers.
For example, we are supporting legislative efforts at both
the state and federal levels that would offer a streamlined
process for new video service providers to compete with
traditional cable television providers. In addition, we are
supporting efforts to update regulatory treatment for retail
services. As discussed in “State Regulation,” Texas recently
enacted legislation allowing us and other new competitors
to file for a state-issued certificate of franchise authority to
provide video services. The Oklahoma Corporation
Commission has also issued a statewide order, which is
under appeal to the Oklahoma Supreme Court by a cable
provider and the AARP, that provides for increased pricing
flexibility for all intrastate retail services. Other states in the
13-state area in which we operate as an ILEC are considering
similar legislation. Several bills are also pending before
Congress that would both reform the Telecom Act and
promote additional video competition. Passage of legislation
is uncertain and depends on many factors, but we believe
that the increasing pace of technological change in our
industry will encourage lawmakers to remove artificial 
barriers to competition.

Because of opportunities made available by the continued
changing regulatory environment and our acquisition of
ATTC, we expect that our capital expenditures in 2006 will
increase to a target range of between $8,000 and $8,500.
This amount includes capital for Project Lightspeed and

merger-integration projects (see “Project Lightspeed” 
discussed in “Expected Growth Areas”). Despite a slightly
more positive regulatory outlook and these broadband
opportunities, increasing competition and the growth of
alternative technologies such as cable, wireless and VoIP
have created significant challenges for our business. 

Expected Growth Areas
We expect our primary wireline products, products and
services offered by ATTC and wireless services to remain 
the most significant portion of our business and have also
discussed trends affecting the segments in which we report
results for these products (see “Wireline Segment Results,”
“AT&T Corp. Segment Results” and “Cingular Segment
Results”). Over the next few years we expect an increasing
percentage of our growth to come from: (1) data/broadband,
through existing services, new services to be provided by
our Project Lightspeed initiative and our acquisition of
ATTC, and (2) Cingular’s wireless service. We expect our
acquisition of ATTC to strengthen the reach and 
sophistication of our network facilities, increase our 
large-business customer base and enhance the opportunity
to market wireless services to that customer base. Whether,
or the extent to which, growth in these areas will offset
declines in other areas of our business is not known.

Our data services include DSL/Internet (broadband) as
well as services to large businesses. At December 31, 2005,
our data revenues represented approximately 30% of our
consolidated revenues, and increased 18% from 2004. 
Our DSL lines continue to grow and were approximately
6.9 million at December 31, 2005 compared to 5.1 million
at the end of 2004.

Project Lightspeed In June 2004, we announced key
advances in developing a network capable of delivering a
new generation of integrated digital television, super-high-
speed broadband and VoIP services to our residential and
small-business customers, referred to as Project Lightspeed.
We have been building out this network in numerous 
locations and began providing services in one limited
market, including IP video, in late 2005. Our goal in this
controlled initial launch is to ensure that all operating and
back-office systems function at a level capable of supporting
our targeted mid-2006 scaled-up deployment. To that end,
we have restricted the number of customers and services
offered to the necessary minimum. Subject to successful
results from this controlled launch and successful testing of
our additional IP video services, we plan to enter additional
markets in mid-2006. At that time we expect to add 
additional services and features to our service offerings. 
We expect to have the capability to offer service to 
approximately 18 million households by the end of 2008, as
part of our initial deployment, and expect to spend
approximately $4,400 in network-related deployment costs
and capital expenditures beginning in 2006 through 2008,
as well as additional success-based customer activation
capital expenditures. 

With respect to our IP video service, we continue to
work with our vendors to develop, in a timely manner, the
requisite hardware and software technology. Our deploy-
ment plans could be delayed if we do not receive required
equipment and software on schedule. We also continue to
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negotiate with programming owners (e.g., movie studios
and cable networks) for permission to offer existing
television programs and movies and, if applicable, other
new interactive services that we could offer in the future
using advances in the IP technology we are testing. Our
ability to provide an attractive and profitable video offering
will depend in large part on the results of these efforts.
Also, as discussed in the “Regulatory Developments”
section, we are supporting legislation at both the federal
and state levels that would streamline the regulatory
process for new video competitors to enter the market.

We believe that Project Lightspeed is subject to federal
oversight as a “video service” under the Federal
Communications Act. Additionally, in September 2005, Texas
passed a state telecommunications law that encourages
new competitors to enter the video market (see “Texas
Telecom Reform and Video Legislation”). However, some
cable providers and municipalities have claimed that certain
IP services should be treated as a traditional cable service
and therefore subject to the applicable state and local 
regulation, which could include the requirement to pay
fees to obtain local franchises for our IP video service. If the
courts were to decide that state and local regulation were
applicable to our Project Lightspeed services, it could have
a material adverse effect on the cost, timing and extent of
our deployment plans. 

Wireless Cingular, our wireless joint venture with
BellSouth, began operations in October 2000. In October 2004,
Cingular completed its acquisition of AT&T Wireless, which
established Cingular as the largest provider of mobile 
wireless voice and data communications services in the U.S.
At December 31, 2005, Cingular served approximately 
54.1 million customers and had access to licenses to provide
wireless communications services covering an aggregate
population of potential customers of approximately 
294 million, or approximately 99% of the U.S. population,
including all of the 100 largest U.S. metropolitan areas. 

Cingular’s wireless networks use equipment with digital
transmission technologies known as GSM and TDMA 
technology. Cingular has upgraded its existing TDMA
markets to use GSM technology in order to provide a
common voice standard. Cingular is also adding high-speed
wireless data services such as General Packet Radio Service
(GPRS) and Enhanced Data Rates for Global Evolution
(EDGE) and Universal Mobile Telecommunications System
(UMTS). EDGE technology allows customers to access the
Internet from their wireless devices at higher speeds than
GPRS and UMTS allows for superior speed for data and
video services. 

We expect that intense industry competition and market
saturation will likely cause the wireless industry’s customer
growth rate to moderate in comparison with historical
growth rates. While the wireless telecommunications industry
does continue to grow, a high degree of competition exists
among four national carriers, their affiliates and smaller
regional carriers. This competition will continue to put 
pressure upon pricing, margins and customer turnover as
the carriers compete for potential customers. Future carrier
revenue growth is highly dependent upon the number of
net customer additions a carrier can achieve and the
average revenue per customer. The effective management

of customer turnover, or churn, is also important in 
minimizing customer acquisition costs and maintaining and
improving margins.

Cingular faces many challenges and opportunities in the
future and is focused on the following key initiatives: 

• Further establishing its position as a premier provider
for business and government accounts by providing
these customers with access to sales and support 
professionals focused solely on their specialized needs.

• Continued improvement on the coverage and quality
of its network. Cingular continues its process of 
completing the integration of the Cingular and AT&T
Wireless networks under a plan that is designed to
achieve network quality and coverage performance
exceeding that of either of the former networks. 

• Continued deployment of UMTS third-generation (3G)
network technology with High-Speed Downlink
Packet Access (HSDPA). UMTS and HSDPA provide
superior speeds for data and video services, as well as
operating efficiencies using the same spectrum and
infrastructure for voice and data on an IP-based 
platform and will allow Cingular to offer a host of
new broadband data applications.

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

Set forth below is a summary of the most significant 
developments in our regulatory environment during 2005.
While these issues, for the most part, apply only to certain
subsidiaries in our wireline segment or AT&T Corp. segment,
the words “we,” “AT&T,” “ATTC” and “our” are used to
simplify the discussion. The following discussions are
intended as a condensed summary of the issues rather than
a precise legal description of all of those specific issues. 

International Regulation ATTC subsidiaries operating
outside the U.S. are subject to the jurisdiction of national
regulatory authorities in the market where service is 
provided. Regulation is generally limited to operational
licensing authority for the provision of enterprise (i.e. large
business) services. 

Federal Regulation A summary of significant 2005
federal regulatory developments follows.

Triennial Review Remand Order In December 2004,
the FCC adopted its fourth set of rules concerning an ILEC’s
obligation to make elements of its network available to
other local service providers. Each of its previous three sets
of rules had been overturned by the federal courts. On
February 4, 2005, the FCC released its written order 
containing the new rules, the Triennial Review Remand
Order (TRRO) which became effective on March 11, 2005.
The TRRO provides significant relief from unbundling by
eliminating our remaining obligation to provide local
switching and hence the UNE-P, for mass-market customers,
subject to a 12-month transition period. At December 31, 2005,
we had approximately 500,000 remaining UNE-P lines
subject to the March 2006 transition deadline. Based on 
our marketing research, we believe that the majority of
customers of those competitors who have not signed 
commercial UNE-P replacements or resale agreements 
with us have switched to alternative technologies as
opposed to returning as our retail customers. 
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We believe, however, that the FCC’s revised rules fail
fully to comply with the D.C. Circuit’s decision; for example,
the FCC largely retained unbundling requirements for
many of our high-capacity loop and transport facilities.
Therefore, we (together with several other parties) filed an
appeal with the D.C. Circuit challenging this portion of the
TRRO. Several other parties, including competitive local
exchange carriers (CLECs), filed appeals of other portions 
of the TRRO in other circuits. Those appeals have been 
consolidated in the D.C. Circuit, which is scheduled to hear
oral arguments on March 21, 2006. 

In addition, other parties, including CLECs, have asked
the FCC to reconsider various other aspects of the FCC’s
order, such as extending the 12-month transition period 
for unbundled mass-market switching to 18 months, and
modifying the unbundling analysis for high-capacity loops
and dedicated transport. Specifically, the CLECs asked the
FCC to change the criteria used to determine if an ILEC is
required to unbundle high-capacity DS1 loops used to serve
small buildings. These parties have also asked the FCC to
modify or rescind that portion of the order relating to the
eligibility criteria for obtaining access to combinations of
unbundled high-capacity loops and transport elements
(often referred to as “enhanced extended links” or EELs),
which can be used as a substitute for special access services. 

It is unclear how state regulatory commissions will 
ultimately respond to the TRRO. Under the overturned
rules, state commissions had set the rates that we were
allowed to charge competitors for the UNE-P and for
leasing other unbundled elements of our network. Many of
the states in the 13-state area in which we operate as an
ILEC have opened or conducted proceedings to consider
the FCC’s detailed findings and transition plans outlined in
the Triennial Review Order (TRO) and TRRO. Some states
have taken the position that their relevant state laws have
been preempted by the FCC’s order and federal court 
decisions, while other states appear to be taking the 
position that their state laws have not been preempted.
We expect that as the various state commissions issue
rulings in these proceedings, various parties, including
AT&T, will litigate some or all of these rulings. 

The effects on the FCC decisions on the above topics are
dependent on many factors including, but not limited to,
the ultimate resolution of the pending appeals; the number
and nature of competitors requesting interconnection,
unbundling or resale; and the results of the state regulatory
commissions’ review and handling of related matters
within their jurisdictions. Accordingly, we are not able to
assess the total potential impact of the FCC orders and 
proposed rulemakings. 

Broadband In June 2005, the Supreme Court of the
United States (Supreme Court) ruled that it was reasonable
for the FCC to find that internet access services provided by
cable companies should be defined as “information services,”
rather than “telecommunications services.” This decision
preserves the FCC’s deregulatory framework for cable 
internet access services because providers of information
services do not have to comply with rules requiring
providers of the services to lease lines to competitors or
meet certain service standards and state public utility
requirements. In September 2005, the FCC released its

Broadband Order, which ruled that facilities-based wireline
broadband internet access services offered by telephone
companies are information services and should be
regulated in a similar manner to broadband internet access
services offered by cable companies. The order became
effective on November 16, 2005.

The Broadband Order substantially deregulates our
existing DSL services and prevents the imposition of 
regulation on broadband internet access services to be
offered over Project Lightspeed. Under the Broadband
Order we are no longer required to offer DSL transport
service to unaffiliated Internet Service Providers (ISPs).
However, we are required to make wholesale broadband
transmission service available to existing customers for a 
12-month transition period. The FCC also said it expects
that after the transition period, telephone companies will
make wholesale broadband transmission service available
to ISPs on a commercial basis. We are also required to 
continue contributing to existing universal service support
mechanisms for the transmission component of broadband
internet access for 270 days after the effective date of the
order (and thus until mid-August 2006), unless the FCC
orders otherwise in the interim. 

Video Service In November 2005, the FCC adopted
two Notices of Proposed Rule Making (NPRM) that are of
interest to us in connection with our provision of video
service. First, the FCC adopted an NPRM to consider the
adoption of rules that would ensure reasonable franchising
requirements and processes for new video market entrants.
The FCC’s action is generally based on section 621 of Title
VI, which prohibits local franchising authorities from 
unreasonably refusing to award competitive franchises.
Second, the FCC adopted an NPRM to consider changing 
its Emergency Alert System (EAS) rules to take advantage 
of next-generation digital systems. One of the specific 
questions the FCC will consider is whether traditional 
telephone companies that plan to provide high-definition
digital content to customers’ homes through fiber-optic
connections should have public alert and warning 
responsibilities. 

Voice over Internet Protocol The term VoIP is generally
used to describe the transmission of voice using internet-
based technology. A company using this technology often
can provide voice services at a lower cost because this 
technology uses bandwidth more efficiently than a 
traditional network and because this technology has not
been subject to traditional telephone industry regulation.
But, depending on the bandwidth allocated, VoIP services
are not necessarily of the same quality as a traditional 
telephone service. While the deployment of VoIP will result
in increased competition for our wireline voice services, it
also presents growth opportunities for us to develop new
products for our customers. 

The FCC has issued a variety of decisions regarding VoIP
services. For example, during 2004, the FCC declared that
services that do not use the public switched telephone
network (a traditional telephone network) to provide
“peer-to-peer” service (i.e., a service through which 
subscribers communicate with each other solely over
Internet Protocol networks) are unregulated. 
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• IP-Enabled Services In March 2004, the FCC opened
a proceeding to establish the regulatory framework
for IP-enabled services, including VoIP and other 
IP services, that involve use of a public switched 
telephone network (PSTN). In this proceeding, the 
FCC will address various regulatory issues, including
universal service, intercarrier compensation, 
numbering, disability access and consumer protection.
Notwithstanding the unresolved regulatory questions
before the FCC and various state utility commissions,
numerous communications providers, including AT&T,
began providing various forms of VoIP in recent years
or announced their intentions to do so in the near
future. These providers include both established com-
panies as well as new entrants. 

• VoIP E911 Order In May 2005, the FCC required 
certain VoIP providers to include E911 capability in
their VoIP services. E911 capability enables a subscriber
to call public safety authorities (police, fire department,
etc.) and have the subscriber’s telephone number and
location automatically transmitted to those authorities.
The FCC’s requirement applies to VoIP services that allow
a user to send calls to a PSTN, including our wireline
subsidiaries’ traditional networks, and receive calls
from the PSTN. In November 2005, we filed reports
with the FCC detailing our compliance with the VoIP
911 rules for our HIPCS and AT&T CallVantage® VoIP
services. A group of VoIP providers appealed the FCC’s
May 2005 order and the appeal is currently pending
before the D.C. Circuit. 

• Vonage Decision In November 2004, the FCC issued
an order preempting the Minnesota Public Utilities
Commission (MPUC) from applying its traditional 
telephone company regulations to Vonage Holding
Corp.’s (Vonage) DigitalVoice service (which includes
VoIP and other communications capabilities). The FCC
concluded that DigitalVoice could not be separated
into interstate and intrastate communications for 
regulatory purposes without thwarting federal laws
and policies that mandate a minimalistic regulatory
environment for these types of services. The FCC did
not express its opinion on the applicability of
Minnesota’s general business laws concerning taxation,
fraud, general commercial dealings, marketing and
advertising. The FCC also left undecided broader 
questions regarding the regulatory obligations of 
IP-enabled services, which are being addressed in the
FCC’s proceeding on IP-enabled services. Finally, the
FCC stated that it would preempt state regulation 
of other types of IP-enabled services having basic char-
acteristics similar to DigitalVoice. These characteristics
include: a requirement for a broadband connection
from the user’s location; a need for IP-compatible 
customer premises equipment; and a service offering
that provides integrated capabilities and features that
allow customers to manage personal communications,
including receiving voice communications and accessing
other features and capabilities, even video. Various
parties, including state public utilities commissions,
have filed appeals of the FCC order which are pending

before the United States Court of Appeals for the
Eighth Circuit. 

Intercarrier Compensation Reform In October 2004,
the Intercarrier Compensation Forum, a diverse group of
telecommunications industry participants representing
ILECs (including our wireline subsidiaries), CLECs, long-
distance companies (including ATTC), rural telephone 
companies and wireless providers, submitted to the FCC 
a plan for reforming the current system of rates that
telecommunications companies charge each other for 
network access and fees to ensure universal telephone 
service in the U.S. In February 2005, the FCC initiated a 
rulemaking proceeding to consider the plan and other 
proposals for intercarrier compensation reform. At this
time, we are not able to predict when final rules will be
issued or what those rules will require. 

Reciprocal Compensation In 2001, the FCC ruled that
telephone calls placed to ISPs are not subject to the reciprocal
compensation requirements of the Telecom Act, which
require the carrier that originates and transports a call on
its network that terminates on another carrier’s network in
the same local calling area pay a fee to the terminating
carrier. The FCC concluded that requiring reciprocal 
compensation for ISP-bound traffic caused market 
distortions because CLECs offering ISP services could recover
a disproportionate share of their costs from other carriers,
rather than from their ISP customers, since calls rarely 
originate from the ISP. The FCC then concluded that a
system of bill-and-keep (under which carriers look to their
own customers to recover their costs) would eliminate CLEC
incentives to engage in such arbitrage. The FCC adopted an
interim compensation plan for ISP-bound traffic while it
considered broader intercarrier compensation reform. The
interim plan, among other things, capped the rate paid for
ISP-bound traffic (the “rate” cap), the total number of
minutes that could be compensated (the “growth” cap)
and limited compensation for traffic not previously
exchanged between carriers prior to the order (the “new
markets” rule). In October 2004, the FCC lifted the growth
cap and new markets rule, but declined to modify the
other restrictions in its 2001 order, including the rate cap.
As a result of this 2004 ruling, we have been required to
pay reciprocal compensation on additional ISP-bound
traffic, which previously was not compensable because 
of the caps. However, due to our ability to renegotiate 
contracts with carriers these additional payments have 
not had a material effect on our financial statements. 

Special Access Pricing Flexibility In October 2002,
ATTC requested the FCC to revoke current pricing rules 
for special access services, a component of our wireline 
revenues and our AT&T Corp. segment expenses. ATTC 
subsequently filed a petition in the D.C. Circuit asking the
court to require the FCC to act on ATTC’s petition. In
January 2004, the FCC filed its opposition to ATTC’s petition,
which was denied by the D.C. Circuit in January 2005. Also
in January 2005, the FCC initiated a rulemaking proceeding
to consider whether it should modify its pricing flexibility
rules, and, if so, how. However, due to the magnitude of
the issue and the current transitions at the FCC and within
the telecommunications industry, an order is not expected
before late 2006.
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Number Portability For several years, customers have
been able to retain their numbers when switching their
local service between wireline companies (generally
referred to as “local number portability”), and the FCC
allowed ILECs to recover, through customer rate charges,
their carrier-specific costs of implementing local number
portability (LNP). We were allowed to recover our costs
over a five-year term by charging on a per-line basis.
However, the per-line rate charges were determined based
on a projected number of access lines. Since the actual
number of access lines has now turned out to be lower
than estimated, in February 2005 we requested the FCC to
grant an exception to the five-year limit on charges to
recover LNP implementation costs to allow us to recover
our costs over a longer period of time. If our request is
granted, we would recover previously authorized costs of
approximately $210. An order is expected by May 2006.

Settlement with AT&T Corp. In March 2005, we
reached agreement to settle outstanding claims between
the pre-merger companies SBC and ATTC. The largest
portion of the payment related to ATTC agreeing to 
reimburse us for the adjustment of the UNE-P rates in
California, Michigan, Ohio and Wisconsin. The agreement
also settled claims relating to, among other items, traffic
compensation, cellular roaming access, collocation (ATTC
equipment located on our premises), long-distance 
presubscription and other transport issues. As part of the
agreement, we also settled our pending lawsuit against
ATTC for unpaid access charges due on terminating 
interexchange traffic transported partially over the
Internet, with no effect on our financial statements. 
As a result of the settlement, in the first quarter of 2005 
we recorded an increase in operating revenue of 
approximately $32 and a decrease in operating expense 
of approximately $29. 

Proceeding on Other Postretirement Benefit Costs
In March 2003, the FCC reinstated a proceeding which it
claimed to have incorrectly terminated in 2002 relating to
the costs of providing postretirement employee benefits
other than pensions. The FCC asked local exchange 
companies, including our wireline subsidiaries, to provide
additional information concerning the treatment of these
postretirement costs in their 1996 access tariff filings and
any other related matters. On March 30, 2005, the FCC
issued an order terminating its investigation without
requiring any adjustments to our 1996 tariff filings. 

State Regulation A summary of significant 2005 state 
regulatory developments follows.

Texas Telecom Reform and Video Legislation In
September 2005, Texas passed a state telecommunications
law that encourages new competitors to enter the video
market and reforms existing state telecom laws. Video 
franchises will be granted by the Public Utilities Commission
of Texas (PUCT), territories will be defined by the applicant
and fees will be based upon a statewide definition of gross
revenues. Franchise holders cannot fail to provide service in
local areas based on the income of residents; however, holders
will not be subject to mandatory build-out requirements.
The PUCT approved our application to become a video
service provider in November 2005. The Texas law also

established a new regulatory framework for retail price
regulation. For telephone exchanges in populations exceeding
100,000 residents, as of January 1, 2006, residential access
lines are deregulated by the state and the cap on certain
vertical services will be removed beginning July 1, 2006. 

In September 2005, the Texas Cable & Telecommunications
Association filed a lawsuit in United States District Court, Austin
Division, seeking to declare this new law unconstitutional and
inconsistent with the Federal Cable Act. 

California Audit On February 26, 2004, the CPUC
decided several major monetary issues in the 1997-1999
audit of our California wireline subsidiary. The CPUC 
determined that we were in compliance with regulatory
accounting rules for pension and depreciation and that no
refunds were owed by our subsidiary to customers. The
CPUC determined that we should fund amounts for certain
employee benefits into a Voluntary Employee Beneficiary
Association (VEBA) trust, which resulted in our March 2004
contribution of approximately $232. In April 2004, other
parties filed petitions for rehearing. In December 2005, the
CPUC denied the applications for rehearing. 

California Intrastate Access Charges In August 2003,
the CPUC opened a rulemaking to determine whether
certain elements of state access charges (charges that our
local exchange carrier receives from long-distance carriers
for use of the local exchange network) should be eliminated
or reduced. The CPUC, in a December 2004 decision, first
addressed the issue whether we should be authorized to
increase revenues from other services to offset lost revenues
from reduced access charges, and further concluded that if
access charges were eliminated it should order offsetting
rate increases for us. In a proposed decision issued in
December 2005, a CPUC administrative law judge would
eliminate certain access charges that we would receive
from long-distance carriers (lost annual revenue of 
approximately $130), but would authorize offsetting rate
increases for recovery of approximately 75% of that
amount starting after December 2006. We believe that the
proposed decision is unlawful and have filed comments
opposing its adoption. The CPUC is expected to address the
issue in the first quarter of 2006. 

Market Deregulation In addition to other state activity
to adopt legislation to deregulate retail rates, during 2005,
the PUCT adopted our market test evidence in total,
despite opposition of the CLEC trade association and the
Office of Public Utility Counsel. As a result of this action, as
of January 1, 2006, we have the option to raise residential
basic local exchange service prices in 40 exchanges in Texas.
This action results in pricing flexibility for approximately 66%
of our residential local service lines, including all residential
lines in major cities. Texas vertical service products have
enjoyed pricing flexibility since 1999 and all business lines
were afforded local service pricing flexibility earlier this year.
Additionally, in November 2005, Michigan updated the
Michigan Telecommunications Act, which price deregulated
all basic exchange rates except a primary residential service,
effectively eliminating price regulation on all business
access lines and most residential access lines. 

State UNE Pricing Proceedings As discussed above in
“Triennial Review Remand Order,” in March 2005, the FCC
issued the TRRO which eliminated our obligation to provide



AT&T INC.  2005 ANNUAL REPORT  –  39

unbundled local switching (and thus the UNE-P) for the
mass-market on a prospective basis. The FCC also eliminated
our obligation prospectively to provide high-capacity loops
and dedicated transport in certain markets. Also as 
discussed above, the FCC established a transition plan for
existing mass-market UNE-P customers and high-capacity
loops and dedicated transport circuits that no longer 
will be subject to unbundling. As a consequence, state
regulatory commissions should have a more limited role
over the scope and terms of our network element offerings.

In September 2004, the CPUC voted to increase the 
UNE-P rates. The order became effective immediately,
allowing us to retroactively charge the new rates back to
May 2002, as contemplated in the May 2002 interim order.
In January 2005, a decision from the United States Court of
Appeals for the Ninth Circuit remanded to the CPUC an
appeal challenging how the CPUC had priced one component
of the UNE-P rates in a previous order. During 2005, 
the CPUC addressed the issue on remand resulting in a
favorable outcome for us. 

COMPETITION

Competition continues to increase for telecommunications
and information services, and regulations, such as the FCC’s
unbundling rules, have increased the opportunities for
alternative communications service providers. Technological
advances have expanded the types and uses of services 
and products available. In addition, lack of regulation of
comparable alternative technologies (e.g., cable, wireless and
VoIP providers) has lowered costs for alternative providers.
As a result, we face heightened competition as well as some
new opportunities in significant portions of our business.

Wireline
Our wireline subsidiaries expect continued competitive
pressure in 2006 from multiple providers in various markets,
including facilities-based local competitors, interexchange
carriers and resellers. In some markets, we compete with
large cable companies such as Comcast Corporation, Cox
Communications, Inc. and Time Warner Inc. for local and
high-speed internet services customers and other telecom-
munications companies such as Verizon (via recently acquired
MCI) for both long-distance and local services customers.
Substitution of wireless and internet-based services for 
traditional local service lines also continues to increase. 
At this time, we are unable to quantify the effect of 
competition on the industry as a whole, or financially on
this segment, but we expect both losses of market share in
local service and gains resulting from business initiatives
especially in the area of bundling of products and services
including wireless and video, large-business data services,
broadband and long-distance service. 

Our wireline subsidiaries remain subject to regulation by
state regulatory commissions for intrastate services and by
the FCC for interstate services. In contrast, our competitors
are often subject to less or no regulation in providing 
comparable voice and data services. Under the Telecom 
Act, companies seeking to interconnect to our wireline 
subsidiaries’ networks and exchange local calls enter into
interconnection agreements with us. Any unresolved issues
in negotiating those agreements are subject to arbitration

before the appropriate state commission. These agreements
(whether fully agreed-upon or arbitrated) are then subject to
review and approval by the appropriate state commission. As
noted in the “Triennial Review Remand Order” discussion
above, in March 2005, the FCC revised its rules and provided
significant relief from unbundling by eliminating our 
obligation to provide local switching, and hence the UNE-P,
for mass-market customers, subject to a 12-month transition
period. During the 12-month transition period (which ends
in March 2006), we are experiencing decreases in the
number of UNE-P lines as competitors move to alternate
arrangements to serve their customers or their customers
choose an alternative technology. We could experience
increased pressure on our operating revenues should a 
customer that was receiving service from a UNE-P provider
switch to an alternative technology or facilities-based 
competitor (a competitor with its own network). 

In addition to these wholesale rate and service regulations
noted above, all of our wireline subsidiaries operate under
state-specific elective “price-cap regulation” for retail
services (also referred to as “alternative regulation”) that
was either legislatively enacted or authorized by the
appropriate state regulatory commission. Prior to price-cap
regulation, our wireline subsidiaries were under “rate of
return regulation.” Under rate of return regulation, the
state regulatory commissions determined an allowable rate
of return we could earn on plant in service and set tariff
rates to recover the associated revenues required to earn
that return. Under price-cap regulation, price caps are set
for regulated services and are not tied to the cost of 
providing the services or to rate of return requirements.
Price-cap rates may be subject to or eligible for annual
decreases or increases and also may be eligible for 
deregulation or greater pricing flexibility if the associated
service is deemed competitive under some state regulatory
commission rules. Minimum customer service standards may
also be imposed and payments required if we fail to meet
the standards.

We continue to lose access lines due to competitors 
(e.g., wireless, cable and VoIP providers) who can provide
comparable services at lower prices because they are not
subject to traditional telephone industry regulation and
have lower cost structures. 

In response to these competitive pressures, for several
years we have utilized a bundling strategy that rewards
customers who consolidate their services (e.g., local and
long-distance telephone, DSL, wireless and video) with us.
In 2005, we continued to focus on bundling wireline and
wireless services, including combined packages of minutes
and video service through an agreement with EchoStar.
During 2006, we will continue to develop innovative 
products that capitalize on our expanding fiber network.

AT&T Corp.
Our AT&T Corp. segment subsidiaries expect continued
competition in 2006. As competitive regulatory and 
technological changes occur, including those occasioned by
the Telecom Act, we anticipate that new and different
competitors will enter and expand their position in the
communications service markets. Our principal competitors
include Verizon (via recently acquired MCI) and Sprint, as
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well as prepaid card providers. In addition, we face a 
number of international competitors including Equant,
British Telecom and SingTel as well as from a number of
large systems integrators such as International Business
Machines and Electronic Data Systems.

In response to the previously discussed changes in the
federal regulatory environment and the deregulation of
the long-distance market over recent years, in 2004 ATTC
announced that it would no longer actively market to
mass-market consumer customers, and therefore is not
affected to the same degree by those regulations as our
wireline segment.

ATTC provides local, domestic interstate and international
wholesale networking capacity and switched services to
other service providers, primarily large ISPs using the
largest class of nationwide Internet networks (Internet
backbone), wireless carriers, CLECs, regional phone ILECs,
cable companies and systems integrators. These services are
subject to additional competitive pressures from the 
development of new technologies and the increased 
availability of domestic and international transmission
capacity. As our competitors develop and expand their
existing networks, our networks experience excess capacity.
The introduction of new products and service offerings 
and increasing satellite, wireless, fiber-optic and cable
transmission capacity for services similar to those provided
by us continues to provide competitive pressures. 

Cingular 
Cingular faces substantial and increasing competition in all
aspects of the wireless communications industry. Under 
current FCC rules, six or more PCS licensees, two cellular
licensees and one or more enhanced specialized mobile
radio licensees may operate in each of Cingular’s markets,
which results in the presence of multiple competitors.
Cingular’s competitors are principally three national
(Verizon Wireless, Sprint Nextel Corp. and T-Mobile) and 
a larger number of regional providers of cellular, PCS 
and other wireless communications services. 

Cingular may experience significant competition from
companies that provide similar services using other 
communications technologies and services. While some of
these technologies and services are now operational, others
are being developed or may be developed in the future.
Cingular competes for customers based principally on price,
service offerings, call quality, coverage area and customer
service. See discussion of EDGE technology in “Wireless”
under “Expected Growth Areas” above.

Directory
Our directory subsidiaries face competition from approxi-
mately 100 publishers of printed directories in their 
operating areas. Direct and indirect competition also exists
from other advertising media, including newspapers, radio,
television and direct-mail providers, as well as from 
directories offered over the Internet. We actively compete
on the Internet through our YPC joint venture. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND STANDARDS

Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates Because of
the size of the financial statement line items they relate to,

some of our accounting policies and estimates have a more
significant impact on our financial statements than others. 

Traffic Compensation We use various estimates and
assumptions to determine the amount of traffic compensation
expenses recognized during any reporting period. Switched
traffic compensation costs in our AT&T Corp. segment are
accrued utilizing estimated rates by product, formulated
from historical data and adjusted for known rate changes
and volume levels, which are estimated for certain products
and known for other products. Such estimates are adjusted
monthly to reflect newly available information, such as rate
changes and new contractual agreements. Bills reflecting
actual incurred information are generally not received until
three to nine months following the end of the reporting
period, at which point a final adjustment is made to the
accrued switched traffic compensation expense. Dedicated
traffic compensation costs are estimated based on the
number of circuits and the average projected circuit costs,
based on historical data adjusted for rate changes. These
costs are adjusted to reflect actual expenses over the three
months following the end of the reporting period as bills
are received. As of December 31, 2005, approximately $940
was accrued in our AT&T Corp. segment relating to our
estimated traffic compensation costs.

Depreciation Our depreciation of assets, including use
of composite group depreciation and estimates of useful
lives, is described in Notes 1 and 5. We assign useful lives
based on periodic studies of actual asset lives. Changes 
in those lives with significant impact on the financial 
statements must be disclosed, but no such changes have
occurred in the three years ended December 31, 2005.
However, if all other factors were to remain unchanged, we
expect a one-year increase in the useful lives of the largest
categories of our plant in service (which accounts for more
than three-fourths of our total plant in service) would
result in a decrease of between $615 and $800 in our 2006
depreciation expense and a one-year decrease would result
in an increase of between $745 and $1,175 in our 2006
depreciation expense. Effective January 1, 2003, as required
by FAS 143, we decreased our depreciation rates to exclude
costs of removal in certain circumstances. This change is
discussed in Note 1.

Allowance for Uncollectibles We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that
result from the failure or inability of our customers to
make required payments. When determining the
allowance, we consider the probability of recoverability of
accounts receivable based on past experience, taking into
account current collection trends that are expected to 
continue, as well as general economic factors, including
bankruptcy rates. Credit risks are assessed based on 
historical write-offs, net of recoveries, and future estimated
net write-offs as well as an analysis of the aged accounts
receivable balances with reserves generally increasing as
the receivable ages. Accounts receivable may be fully
reserved for when specific collection issues are known to
exist, such as pending bankruptcy or catastrophes. The
analysis of receivables is performed monthly and the bad
debt allowances adjusted accordingly. A 10% change in the
amounts estimated to be uncollectible would result in a
change in uncollectible expense of between approximately
$70 and $110.
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Pension and Postretirement Benefits Our actuarial
estimates of retiree benefit expense and the associated 
significant weighted-average assumptions are discussed in
Note 10. One of the most significant of these assumptions
is the return on assets assumption, which was 8.5% for the
year ending December 31, 2005. This assumption will
remain unchanged for 2006. If all other factors were to
remain unchanged, we expect a 1% decrease in the
expected long-term rate of return would cause 2006 
combined pension and postretirement cost to increase
approximately $579 over 2005 (analogous decrease in
retiree benefit costs would result from a 1% increase). 
The 10-year returns on our pension plan were 9.3%
through 2005 including returns in excess of our assumed
rate of return for 2005. Under GAAP, the expected long-
term rate of return is calculated on the market-related
value of assets (MRVA). GAAP requires that actual gains
and losses on pension and postretirement plan assets be
recognized in the MRVA equally over a period of up to five
years. We use a methodology, allowed under GAAP, under
which we hold the MRVA to within 20% of the actual fair
value of plan assets, which can have the effect of accelerat-
ing the recognition of excess actual gains and losses into
the MRVA in less than five years. This methodology did not
have a significant additional effect on our 2005 or 2004
combined net pension and postretirement expense. Due to
investment losses on plan assets experienced through 2002,
this methodology contributed approximately $605 to our 
combined net pension and postretirement cost in 2003, as
compared with the methodology that recognizes gains 
and losses over a full five years. Note 10 also discusses the
effects of certain changes in assumptions related to medical
trend rates on retiree health care costs.

Income Taxes Our estimates of income taxes and the
significant items giving rise to the deferred assets and 
liabilities are shown in Note 9 and reflect our assessment 
of actual future taxes to be paid on items reflected in the
financial statements, giving consideration to both timing
and probability of these estimates. Actual income taxes
could vary from these estimates due to future changes 
in income tax law or results from the final review of our 
tax returns by the IRS or state tax authorities. We have 
considered these potential changes and have provided
amounts within our deferred tax assets and liabilities that
reflect our judgment of the probable outcome of tax 
contingencies. We continue to believe that our tax return
positions are fully supportable. Unfavorable settlement of
any particular issue could require use of our cash. Favorable
resolution could be recognized as a reduction to our tax
expense and cash refunds. We periodically review the
amounts provided and adjust them in light of changes in
facts and circumstances, such as the progress of a tax audit.

Asset Valuations and Impairments Under FAS 141, the
assets and liabilities of ATTC were recorded at their respective
preliminary fair values as of the November 18, 2005 
acquisition date. We obtained preliminary third-party 
valuations of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets (including the AT&T trade name), debt and certain
other assets and liabilities. Because of the proximity of this
transaction to year end, the values of certain assets and 
liabilities are based on preliminary valuations and are subject

to adjustment as additional information is obtained. Such
additional information includes, but is not limited to: 
valuations and physical counts of property, plant and
equipment, valuations of investments and the involuntary
termination of employees. Changes to the valuation of
property, plant and equipment may result in adjustments
to the fair value of certain identifiable intangible assets
acquired. When finalized, material adjustments to goodwill
may result including the segment allocation of goodwill.

The fair values of intangible assets acquired in our 
acquisition of ATTC were based on the expected discounted
cash flows of the identified customer relationships, patents
and licenses and are discussed in Note 2. Customer 
relationships, which are finite-lived intangible assets are
amortized using the “sum of the months digits” method 
of amortization over the expected period in which those
relationships are expected to contribute to our future cash
flows, including consideration for demand, competition
and other economic factors based in such a way as to 
allocate it as equitably as possible to periods during which
we expect to benefit from those relationships. We have
established the useful lives of customer relationships with
business customers from 1.5 to 9 years and those with 
consumer customers from 1.5 to 2.5 years. The sum of the
months digits method is a process of allocation, not of 
valuation and reflects our belief that we expect greater
revenue generation from these customer relationships
during the earlier years of their lives. We recorded 
amortization expense of $184 in 2005 using this method.
Alternatively, we could have chosen to amortize customer
relationships using the “straight-line” method, which would
allocate the cost equally over the amortization period, 
and would have resulted in amortization expense of
approximately $96 in 2005. In 2006, expected amortization
using the sum of the months digit method is approximately
$899 and under the straight-line method it would be $579.
Amortization of other intangibles, including patents, is
determined using the straight-line method of amortization
over the expected remaining useful lives of 2 to 18 years,
was approximately $8 in 2005 and is expected to be
approximately $50 in 2006. We do not amortize indefinite-
lived intangibles, such as the trade name.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we review these types of
assets for impairment either annually or whenever events
or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable over the remaining life of the asset or asset
group. In order to determine that the asset is recoverable,
we verify that the expected future cash flows directly
related to that asset exceed its fair value, which is based 
on the discounted cash flows. The discounted cash flow 
calculation uses various assumptions and estimates regarding
future revenue, expense and cash flows projections over
the estimated remaining useful life of the asset.

Cost investments are evaluated to determine whether
mark-to-market declines are temporary and reflected in
other comprehensive income, or other than temporary 
and recorded as an expense in the income statement. This
evaluation is based on the length of time and the severity
of decline in the investment’s value. 
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New Accounting Standards
FSP FAS No. 143-1 In June 2005, the FASB issued FASB
Staff Position FSP FAS No. 143-1, “Accounting for Electronic
Equipment Waste Obligations,” (FSP FAS 143-1) to address
the accounting for obligations associated with the Directive
on Waste Electrical and Electronic equipment (the
Directive) issued by the European Union (EU). The Directive
was enacted in February 2003, and directs EU-member
countries to adopt legislation to regulate the collection,
treatment, recovery and environmentally sound disposal of
electrical and electronic waste equipment. The Directive
concludes that commercial users are obligated to retire, in an
environmentally sound manner, specific assets that qualify as
historical waste. FSP FAS 143-1 is effective for reporting
periods ending after June 8, 2005, or the date of adoption
of the Directive by the applicable EU-member countries, if
later. We have evaluated the impact to our operations in
ATTC’s EU countries that have adopted the legislation and
have deemed the costs immaterial. We will continue to
evaluate the effects as other EU-member countries enact
legislation. However, if the remaining EU-member countries
were to enact similar legislation, we do not expect this to
have a material impact on our results of operations.

FAS 154 In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting for
Changes and Error Corrections,” (FAS 154) which is a
replacement of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
No. 20, “Accounting Changes” and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 3 “Reporting Accounting
Changes in Interim Financial Statements” and is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. FAS 154
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and
changes the accounting for the reporting of a change in
accounting principle. FAS 154 requires retrospective appli-
cation to prior periods’ financial statements of a voluntary
change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable.
FAS 154 also requires that a change in method of depreciation,
amortization or depletion for long-lived nonfinancial assets
be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate that is
effected by a change in accounting principle. 

FIN 47 In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Inter-
pretations 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations,” (FIN 47) an interpretation of FAS 143 and is
effective for fiscal years ended after December 15, 2005. 
FIN 47 clarifies that the term “conditional asset retirement
obligation,” as used in FAS 143 refers to a legal obligation
to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing
and/or method of settlement is conditional on a future
event that may or may not be within the control of the
entity. The obligation to perform the asset retirement
activity is unconditional even though uncertainty exists
about the timing and/or method of settlement. FIN 47
requires a company to recognize the liability for the fair
value of the conditional asset retirement obligation if the
fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Any
liability accrued would be offset by an increase in the value
of the asset. Adoption of FIN 47 did not have a material
impact on our financial statements.

FAS 123(R) In December 2004, the FASB issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (FAS 123(R)), which

is a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (FAS 123). FAS 123(R) supersedes 
APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and amends Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.”

We adopted FAS 123(R) in September 2005, using 
the “modified retrospective” method. The modified 
retrospective method requires that compensation cost be
recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based 
on the requirements of FAS 123(R) for all share-based 
payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on
the requirements of FAS 123 for all awards granted to
employees prior to the effective date of FAS 123(R) that
remain unvested on the effective date. The modified 
retrospective method also allowed companies to restate
based on the amounts previously recognized under FAS 123
for purposes of pro forma disclosures for all prior years for
which FAS 123 was effective. Accordingly, we have adjusted
our December 31, 2004 Consolidated Balance Sheet to
increase “Capital in excess of par value” and decrease
“Retained earnings” by $546. 

We had previously adopted the fair-value-based method
of accounting for share-based payments allowed under 
FAS 123 effective January 1, 2002, using the retroactive
restatement method of adoption described in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure.”
This included restatement of results from January 1, 2000
forward, as those were the years for which audited income
statements were included in the 2002 SBC Annual Report.
Upon adoption of FAS 123(R), because we adopted using
the modified retrospective method, we also restated results
for 1995 through 1999 for the effects on our equity. We
will continue to use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to
employees. 

As of December 31, 2005, there was approximately 
$143 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to 
nonvested stock-based compensation arrangements
granted. That cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

OTHER BUSINESS MATTERS

Acquisition of AT&T Corp. In November 2005, we
acquired ATTC for approximately $15,517 including 
capitalized merger-transaction costs, using shares of 
common stock. The transaction was approved by the Board
of Directors of each company and shareholders of ATTC.
The DOJ reviewed the merger’s potential impact on 
relevant product and geographic markets. The DOJ
required divestiture (through 10-year indefeasible rights of
use) of ATTC’s interest in fiber serving certain specified
commercial buildings where both companies were the only
facilities-based providers. The FCC and numerous state and
international regulatory bodies also approved the acquisition.
The FCC’s order released on November 17, 2005, imposes
conditions on us that relate, among other things, to:
Unbundled Network Elements (UNE), DS1 and DS3 (high-
capacity transport services) and special access pricing; how
to account for ATTC collocation arrangements; special
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access performance reporting; Internet backbone peering
arrangements; and annual certifications. As a condition of
approval, the CPUC required that we make certain financial
commitments, including philanthropic donations, with a
present value of $124 and that we provide our DSL services
on a stand-alone basis. These commitments were included
as an additional acquisition cost. We do not expect the
above-mentioned conditions will have a material impact on
our financial statements.

2Wire In January 2006, AT&T, Alcatel and Telmex
entered into an agreement and jointly acquired 51% of
2Wire, Inc. (2Wire). The total sum paid by the three companies
was approximately $243. We purchased a 7.52% ownership
interest for approximately $36, Alcatel purchased a 25.0%
ownership interest for $119 and Telmex purchased an 18.5%
ownership interest for $88. Additionally, we executed a
prepaid call option (dependent on certain provisions) with
Telmex for $26 to acquire enough shares to give us a total
ownership percentage in 2Wire of 13%. We will account for
2Wire as a cost investment. 2Wire is a privately held
company that provides services related to Project Lightspeed.

EchoStar Agreement In September 2005, we modified
and extended our agreement with EchoStar to an agency
agreement under which we will continue marketing the 
co-branded AT&T | DISH Network satellite television service.
Under the new terms, we will now receive and record sales
commissions as revenues and will no longer record retail
revenue on new customers while continuing to serve 
previously existing customers on the prior terms. EchoStar will
record the recurring service revenues and will pay installation
and equipment costs for customers under the new agreement.
The new agreement is a three-year agreement.

IRS Settlement In December 2005, we reached an
agreement with the IRS to settle certain claims, principally
related to the utilization of capital losses and tax credits for
years 1997-1999. Included in the settlement was relief from
previous assessments and agreement on multiple items
challenged by the IRS in the course of routine audits. The
settlement resulted in our recognition of approximately
$902 of reduced income tax expense in 2005 and a 
corresponding increase in net income. Amounts due to us
under the settlement were left on deposit with the IRS. 

Antitrust Litigation In 2002, two consumer class-action
antitrust cases were filed in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York (District Court)
against SBC, Verizon Communications Inc., BellSouth and
Qwest Communications International Inc. alleging that they
have violated federal and state antitrust laws by agreeing
not to compete with one another and acting together to
impede competition for local telephone services (Twombly
v. Bell Atlantic Corp., et al.). In October 2003, the District
Court granted the joint defendants’ motion to dismiss and
the plaintiffs appealed. In October 2005, the United States
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit Court (Second
Circuit) reversed the District Court, thereby allowing the
cases to proceed. The Second Circuit noted in its decision
that its ruling was procedural in nature and did not address
the merits of the cases. Motions for rehearing and rehearing
en banc were denied on January 3, 2006, and the case 

has now been remanded to the District Court for further
proceedings. We continue to believe that an adverse outcome
having a material effect on our financial statements in
these cases is unlikely but will continue to evaluate the
potential impact of these suits on our financial results as
they progress.

AT&T Wireless Litigation Several class-action lawsuits
have been filed in the District Court against ATTC asserting
claims under the federal securities laws in connection with
the offering of AT&T Wireless tracking stock in April 2000
(In re AT&T Corp. Securities Litigation). The plaintiffs have
demanded damages in excess of $2,100 related to the
offering of AT&T Wireless tracking stock. A trial date has
been set for April 2006. In connection with the split-off 
of AT&T Wireless, certain provisions of the separation
agreement between AT&T Wireless and ATTC will result 
in Cingular, due to its acquisition of AT&T Wireless, being
allocated as much as 70% of any liabilities arising out of
these actions to the extent they relate to AT&T Wireless
tracking stock, with the remaining liability being allocated
equally between ATTC and Comcast Cable Communications,
Inc. We believe that the possibility of an adverse outcome
having a material effect on our financial statements in any
of these lawsuits is unlikely. However, we will continue to
evaluate the potential impact of these lawsuits on our
financial results. During the third quarter, Cingular 
completed its assessment of the total amount of 
pre-acquisition liabilities related to pending legal 
proceedings, including these lawsuits, and increased the
amount of the AT&T Wireless purchase price allocated to
assumed liabilities by $172. 

Retiree Phone Concession Litigation In May 2005, we
were served with a purported class action in U.S. District
Court, Western District of Texas (Stoffels v. SBC
Communications Inc.), in which the plaintiffs, who are
retirees of Pacific Bell Telephone Company, Southwestern
Bell, and Ameritech, contend that the telephone concession
provided by the company is, in essence, a “defined benefit
plan” within the meaning of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). Plaintiffs seek to
certify a class of persons that are either (1) retirees of the
former subsidiaries of SBC or a predecessor thereof, who
received the telephone concession benefit after they
retired or (2) current or former employees of the former
subsidiaries of SBC with more than 5 years of service during
the time that they had a policy to provide employees with
a telephone concession benefit upon retirement. Plaintiffs
seek reformation of the out-of-region phone concession
offered under the postemployment benefits plan (the Plan)
and the documents governing it to comply with ERISA, an
order requiring us to fund the Plan as reformed, the
appointment of an independent fiduciary to administer the
Plan, an order requiring the Plan to pay benefits to plain-
tiffs and other class members consistent with the terms of
the plan and attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to ERISA.
We filed a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim,
which was denied by the U.S. District Court, Western
District of Texas on February 3, 2006. The case has been 
set for trial on May 29, 2006. We believe that an adverse
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outcome having a material effect on our financial statements
in this case is unlikely but will continue to evaluate the poten-
tial impact of this suit on our financial results as it progresses.

Hepting Litigation Plaintiffs filed this purported class
action in U.S. District Court in the Northern District of
California on behalf of “all individuals in the United States
that are current residential subscribers or customers of
defendants’ telephone services or internet services, or that
were residential telephone or internet subscribers or
customers at any time after September 2001,” (Hepting, 
et al v. AT&T Corp., AT&T Inc. and Does 1-20). They allege
that the defendants have provided and continue to provide
the U.S. Government with direct access to databases
containing its stored telephone and internet records, and
have disclosed and are currently disclosing to the U.S.
Government records concerning communications to which
Plaintiffs and class members were a party. Plaintiffs seek
damages, a declaratory judgment, and injunctive relief for
violations of the First and Fourth Amendments to the
United States Constitution, the Foreign Intelligence
Surveillance Act, the Electronic Communications Privacy
Act, and other federal and California statutes. The com-
plaint has not been served on the Defendants. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We had $1,224 in cash and cash equivalents available at
December 31, 2005. Cash and cash equivalents included
cash of approximately $709, money market funds of $257
and other cash equivalents of $258. The increase in cash
and cash equivalents of $464 since December 31, 2004 was
primarily provided by cash receipts from operations, cash
received from Cingular and the net cash received upon our
acquisition of ATTC. This was partially offset by cash used
to meet the financing needs of the business including, but
not limited to, payment of operating expenses, funding
capital expenditures, dividends to stockholders, net
repayment of debt, repurchase of treasury shares, increased
tax payments and payment of liabilities (primarily taxes)
associated with our discontinued operations. We discuss
many of these factors in detail below.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
During 2005, our primary source of funds was cash from
operating activities of $12,974 compared to $10,950 in
2004. Operating cash flows increased in 2005 compared to
2004 primarily due to retirement benefit funding of $2,232
in 2004, partially offset by increased tax payments in 2005
of approximately $1,224. The 2005 increased tax payments
were mainly related to prior year accrued liabilities. The 
timing of cash payments for income taxes, which is governed
by the IRS and other taxing jurisdictions, will differ from
the timing of recording tax expense and deferred income
taxes, which are reported in accordance with GAAP. We
also made advance tax payments, which we consider to be
a refundable deposit, to a certain state jurisdiction. These
payments were made in order to avoid potentially onerous
interest and penalties. The issues involved are in dispute
and we intend to pursue all procedural options available to
us in order to obtain refunds of the amounts deposited. 

We reached an agreement with the IRS to settle certain
claims resulting in a reduction to income tax expense of
$902. We left a net refund with the IRS as a deposit against
federal tax payments. 

Our 2004 cash flow from operations remained relatively
stable compared to 2003, excluding the $2,232 contribution
to our pension and postretirement benefit plans and a $2,800
decline in our deferred income tax expense. Our primary
source of funds for 2004 and 2003 was cash generated
from operating activities, as shown on the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. 

Cash Used in and Provided by Investing Activities
During 2005, cash used for investing activities consisted of:

• $5,576 in construction and capital expenditures. 
• $169 related to the acquisition of Yantra Corp., a

provider of distributed order management and supply
chain fulfillment solutions.

To provide high-quality communications services to our
customers, we must make significant investments in 
property, plant and equipment. The amount of capital
investment is influenced by demand for services and 
products, continued growth and regulatory considerations.
Our capital expenditures totaled $5,576 for 2005, $5,099
for 2004 and $5,219 for 2003. Capital expenditures in the
wireline segment, which represented substantially all of 
our total capital expenditures, increased by approximately
5.9% in 2005 and decreased by 2.8% in 2004. Substantially
all of our capital expenditures made in 2005 were in the
wireline segment and were used primarily for our wireline
subsidiaries’ networks, Project Lightspeed and support
systems for our long-distance service. 

Because of opportunities made available by the
continued changing regulatory environment and our
acquisition of ATTC, we expect that our capital expendi-
tures in 2006, which includes Project Lightspeed and
excludes Cingular, will increase to a target range of
between $8,000 and $8,500. We expect to spend
approximately $4,400 on our Project Lightspeed initiative
for network related deployment costs and capital
expenditures beginning in 2006 through 2008, as well 
as additional success-based customer activation capital
expenditures. We expect that the business opportunities
made available, specifically in the data/broadband 
area, will allow us to expand our products and services 
(see “Project Lightspeed” discussed in “Expected 
Growth Areas”).

We expect to fund 2006 capital expenditures for our
wireline and AT&T Corp. segments, which includes ATTC’s
international operations, using cash from operations and
incremental borrowings, depending on interest rate levels
and overall market conditions. Substantially all of our
capital spending in 2006 will relate to our wireline and
AT&T Corp. segments primarily for their subsidiaries’
networks, Project Lightspeed and merger-integration
projects. The international segment should be self-funding
as it consists substantially of equity investments and not
direct AT&T operations. We expect to fund any directory
segment capital expenditures using cash from operations.
We discuss our Cingular segment below.
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During 2005, cash provided by our investing activities
primarily consisted of:

• $2,442 of net repayments from Cingular in accordance
with the terms of our agreement with Cingular and
BellSouth. See our “Cingular” section below for
details. 

• $1,673 in cash received upon closing our acquisition of
ATTC, net of merger acquisition costs. 

• $336 of proceeds from a real estate sale lease-back
transaction, the gain on which is deferred and 
amortized over the life of the lease.

• $154 primarily from the sale of shares of Amdocs,
Yahoo, the sale of our entire interest in SpectraSite
and the sale of a leasing partnership. 

• $99 related to maturities of other held-to-maturity
securities, which have maturities greater than 90 days.

• $37 related to the repayment of a note receivable
from an international investment.

Cash Used in Financing Activities
We will fund our 2006 financing activities primarily through
a combination of cash from operations and, to a lesser
extent than in 2005, cash provided by Cingular. We will
continue to examine opportunities to fund our activities
with cash from the disposition of certain assets and other
investments as well as issuing debt at favorable rates in
order to refinance some of our debt maturities in 2006.

We paid cash dividends of $4,256 in 2005, $4,141 in 2004
and $4,539 in 2003. Dividends declared by our Board of
Directors totaled $1.30 per share in 2005, $1.26 per share in
2004 and $1.41 per share in 2003. In December 2005, our
Board of Directors approved a 3.1% increase in the regular
quarterly dividend to $0.3325 per share. The dividends
declared and paid during 2003 included two increases in the
regular quarterly dividend and three additional dividends
(totaling $0.25) above our regular quarterly dividend. 
Our dividend policy considers both the expectations and
requirements of stockholders, internal requirements of
AT&T and long-term growth opportunities. It is our intent
to provide the financial flexibility to allow our Board of
Directors the opportunity to continue our historical
approach to dividend growth. All dividends remain subject
to approval by our Board of Directors.

During 2005, we used our available excess cash to
reduce our debt levels and repurchase shares of common
stock under our repurchase program. Funds from 
operations were primarily used to repay our current and
long-term debt. During 2005, debt repayments totaled
$6,801 and consisted of:

• $4,077 related to commercial paper borrowings. 
• $1,077 related to debt maturities with interest rates

ranging from 6.25% to 9.50%. 
• $1,347 related to our early redemption of debt, which

includes $26 of call premiums.
• $238 related to the exercise of a put on our 5.95%

notes originally maturing in 2038.
• $42 related to net repayments on other short-term

borrowings.
• $20 related to scheduled principal payments on 

other debt. 

At December 31, 2005 we had approximately $4,455 of
debt maturing within one year, which includes $3,990 of
long-term debt maturities during 2006, $320 of commercial
paper borrowings and $108 of bank borrowings. Our long-
term debt maturities exclude the remaining excess of the
fair value over the recorded value of debt of approximately
$37. Our consolidated commercial paper borrowings
totaled approximately $4,397 at December 31, 2004. All of
our commercial paper borrowings are due within 90 days.
Our bank borrowings availability is contingent on the level
of cash held by some of our foreign subsidiaries. We con-
tinue to examine our mix of short- and long-term debt in
light of interest rate trends. (See Note 7)

In November 2005, we received net proceeds of $1,973
from the issuance of $2,000 of long-term debt consisting of
$500 of three-year floating rate notes with an initial rate of
4.52%; $1,000 of 5.30% five-year notes; and $500 from the
reopening of our 6.15% 30-year bonds maturing in 2034. 

Our Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of
up to 350 million shares of AT&T common stock; this
authorization expires at the end of 2008. During 2005, we
increased our level of share repurchases of our common
stock under our existing share repurchase program. Under
this repurchase program, we repurchased 76 million shares
at a cost of approximately $1,843 in 2005 and expect to
purchase an additional $2,000 of shares under our 
repurchase program in 2006. See our “Issuer Equity
Repurchases” table for share repurchase details in the
fourth quarter of 2005. 

In November 2005, we repaid approximately $378 of
preferred securities previously issued by an AT&T subsidiary,
which was related to an internal restructuring of our 
ownership in several investments. Additionally, in
December 2005, we redeemed an additional $350 of 
preferred stock in subsidiaries. 

In June 2005, we received proceeds of approximately
$234 from a registered offering of 10,000,000 shares of our
common stock. 

We have a three-year credit agreement totaling $6,000
with a syndicate of banks, which expires on October 18, 2007.
Advances under this agreement may be used for general
corporate purposes, including support of commercial paper
borrowings and other short-term borrowings. There is no
material adverse change provision governing the drawdown
of advances under this credit agreement. We are in 
compliance with all covenants under the agreement. 
We had no borrowings outstanding under committed 
lines of credit as of December 31, 2005. (See Note 7)

Other
Our total capital consists of debt (long-term debt and debt
maturing within one year) and stockholders’ equity. Our
capital structure does not include debt issued by our 
international equity investees or Cingular. Total capital
increased approximately $17,791 in 2005 compared to
$11,245 in 2004. The 2005 total capital increase was 
primarily due to the purchase of ATTC (see Note 2). For
2005 our common stock outstanding and capital in excess
of par value increased by $14,781 and our current and
long-term debt increased by $3,605. The increase in total
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debt of $3,605 was primarily due to acquired debt from
ATTC of approximately $8,293 and debt issuances of $2,000,
partially offset by debt repayments of $6,801 during 2005.
Stockholders’ equity also increased due to our net income
and was partially offset by our repurchases of common
shares through our stock repurchase program. The 2004
total capital increase was primarily due to increased current 
and long-term debt of $8,989, of which $8,750 related to
funding our share of Cingular’s purchase of AT&T Wireless. 

Our debt ratio was 35.9%, 40.0% and 32.0% at
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The debt ratio is
affected by the same factors that affect total capital. The
primary factor that impacted our 2005 debt ratio was the
acquisition of ATTC, which increased stockholders’ equity
and our current and long-term debt.

Cingular
The upgrade, integration and expansion of the Cingular
and AT&T Wireless networks and the networks acquired in
a transaction with Triton PCS Holdings, Inc. will require 
substantial amounts of capital over the next several years.
As of December 31, 2005, Cingular has spent $7,475 primarily
for GSM/GPRS/EDGE network upgrades with cash from
operations, dispositions and, as needed, advances under
the revolving credit agreement mentioned below. Cingular
expects to fund its capital requirements for at least the
next 12 months from existing cash balances, cash generated
from operations and, if necessary, drawing under this 
revolving credit agreement. In 2006, Cingular expects to
spend within a target range of between $7,000 and $7,500 
primarily for the upgrade, integration and expansion of its
networks, the installation of UMTS/HSDPA technology in a
number of markets and the construction of network
facilities in California and Nevada to replace the facilities
sold to T-Mobile upon the termination of our GSMF network
infrastructure joint venture. 

Effective August 1, 2004, we and BellSouth agreed to
finance Cingular’s capital and operating cash requirements
to the extent Cingular requires funding above the level
provided by operations. We and BellSouth also entered
into a one-year revolving credit agreement with Cingular
to provide short-term financing for operations on a pro
rata basis at an interest rate of LIBOR (London Interbank
Offered Rate) plus 0.05%, which may be renewed upon
agreement of the parties. In June 2005, this agreement 
was renewed through July 31, 2007. This agreement
includes a provision for the repayment of our and
BellSouth’s shareholder loans made to Cingular in the event
there are no outstanding amounts due under the revolving
credit agreement and to the extent Cingular has excess
cash, as defined by the agreement. 

Under the revolving credit agreement we received net
repayments from Cingular totaling $2,442 in 2005. These
amounts were applied first to reduce the outstanding
amount of advances previously made to Cingular, which
totaled $307 at December 31, 2005 and $1,002 at
December 31, 2004 and are reflected in “Investments in
and Advances to Cingular Wireless” on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Our shareholder loan to Cingular totaled

approximately $4,108 at December 31, 2005 and $5,855 
at December 31, 2004. 

In January 2005, Cingular and T-Mobile dissolved their
network infrastructure joint venture. In connection with
the dissolution, Cingular sold its ownership of the
California/Nevada network assets to T-Mobile for 
approximately $2,500 in cash. Cingular used a significant
portion of the proceeds from the sale to fund capital
expenditures through July 2005 and, in the third quarter,
used the remaining $1,488 to repay its shareholder loans
from BellSouth and us pursuant to the revolving credit
agreement. 

In September 2005, Cingular received proceeds of
approximately $300 related to the sale of its entire interest
in IDEA Cellular Ltd., a cellular telecommunications
company in India. 

In June 2005, Cingular agreed to sell former AT&T
Wireless operations and licenses in the Caribbean and
Bermuda to Digicel Limited for approximately $61. A
majority of this transaction was completed by the fourth
quarter of 2005 with the remaining portion contingent
upon governmental and regulatory approvals. 

In May 2005, we transferred wireless properties to
Cingular to settle a liability related to the formation of
Cingular. This transfer resulted in a decrease of 
approximately $35 to our “Investment in Cingular” account. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS,
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Current accounting standards require us to disclose our
material obligations and commitments to make future 
payments under contracts, such as debt and lease 
agreements, and under contingent commitments, such as
debt guarantees. We occasionally enter into third-party
debt guarantees, but they are not, nor are they reasonably
likely to become material. We disclose our contractual 
long-term debt repayment obligations in Note 7 and our
operating lease payments in Note 5. Our contractual 
obligations do not include expected pension and 
postretirement payments as we maintain pension funds and
VEBA trusts to fully or partially fund these benefits (see
Note 10). In the ordinary course of business we routinely
enter into commercial commitments for various aspects of
our operations, such as plant additions and office supplies.
However, we do not believe that the commitments will 
have a material effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. 

Below is a table of our contractual obligations as of
December 31, 2005. The purchase obligations listed below
are those for which we have guaranteed funds and will 
be funded with cash provided by operations or through
incremental borrowings. The minimum commitment for
certain obligations is based on termination penalties that
could be paid to exit the contract. Since termination 
penalties would not be paid in every year, such penalties
are excluded from the table. Other long-term liabilities
were included in the table based on the year of required
payment or an estimate of the year of payment. Such 
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estimate of payment is based on a review of past trends for
these items, as well as a forecast of future activities. Certain
items were excluded from the table below as the year of
payment is unknown and could not be reliably estimated
since past trends were not deemed to be an indicator of
future payment. 

Substantially all of our purchase obligations are in our
wireline and AT&T Corp. segments and the remainder is
attributable to commitments in our directory segment for
paper and printing services. Due to the immaterial value of
our capital lease obligations, they have been included with
long-term debt. Our total capital lease obligations are
$115, with approximately $13 to be paid in less than one
year. The table does not include the fair value of our 
interest rate swaps. Many of our other noncurrent liabilities
have been excluded from the table below due to the

uncertainty of the timing of payments, combined with the
absence of historical trending to be used as a predictor for
such payments. Additionally, certain other long-term 
liabilities have been excluded since settlement of such 
liabilities will not require the use of cash. However, we
have included in the table below, obligations which primarily
relate to benefit funding and severance due to the 
certainty of the timing of these future payments. Our other
long-term liabilities are: deferred income taxes (see Note 9)
of $15,713; postemployment benefit obligations (see Note
10) of $18,133; unamortized investment tax credits of $209;
and other noncurrent liabilities of $5,354, which included
supplemental retirement plan and certain other postem-
ployment benefit liabilities (see Note 10) and deferred
lease revenue from our agreement with SpectraSite, Inc. of
$598 (see Note 5).

Contractual Obligations

Payments Due By Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Long-term debt obligations1 $29,482 $3,990 $2,337 $5,242 $17,913
Commercial paper obligations 320 320 — — —
Other short-term borrowings 108 108 — — —
Purchase obligations2,3,4 3,105 1,235 1,234 387 249
Operating lease obligations 2,626 632 926 551 517
Retirement benefit funding obligation 1,000 — — 1,000 —
Other long-term obligations 937 — 426 79 432
Severance obligations 870 574 296 — —

Total Contractual Obligations $38,448 $6,859 $5,219 $7,259 $19,111
1Included in the “More than 5 Years” column is $1,000 of 4.18% Puttable Reset Securities (PURS) maturing in 2021 with a put option by holder in 2006 and $125 of 6.35%
debentures maturing in 2026 with a put option by holder in 2006 (see Note 7). The impact of premiums/discounts and derivative instruments included in debt amounts on
the balance sheet are excluded from the table. These debt amounts include revaluations on our foreign currency denominated debt of $218 in 2006. We have entered into
foreign exchange contracts, recorded in other current assets, which hedge our exposure to these foreign currency revaluations.

2Includes approximately $410 of total purchase commitments with WilTel for services to be provided on WilTel’s network.
3Our AT&T Corp. segment has contractual obligations to utilize network facilities from local exchange carriers with terms greater than one year. Since the contracts have no
minimum volume requirements, and are based on an interrelationship of volumes and discounted rates, we assessed our minimum commitment based on penalties to exit
the contracts, assuming we exited the contracts on December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2005, the penalties we would have incurred to exit all of these contracts would
have been $536. These termination fees could be $571 in 2006, $684 in the aggregate for 2007 and 2008 and $125 for 2009, assuming all contracts are exited. These
termination fees are excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in every year and the timing of such payments, if any, is uncertain.

4We calculated the minimum obligation for certain agreements to purchase goods or services based on termination fees that can be paid to exit the contract. If we elect to
exit these contracts, termination fees for all such contracts in the year of termination could be approximately $398 in 2006, $425 in the aggregate for 2007 and 2008, $90 in
the aggregate for 2009 and 2010 and $3, in the aggregate, thereafter. These termination fees are excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in every year
and the timing of such payments, if any, is uncertain.

MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. In 
managing exposure to these fluctuations, we may engage
in various hedging transactions that have been authorized
according to documented policies and procedures. On a
limited basis, we use certain derivative financial instruments,
including foreign currency exchange contracts and 
combined interest rate foreign currency contracts to 
manage these risks. We do not use derivatives for trading
purposes, to generate income or to engage in speculative
activity. Our capital costs are directly linked to financial and
business risks. We seek to manage the potential negative
effects from market volatility and market risk. The majority
of our financial instruments are medium- and long-term
fixed rate notes and debentures. Fluctuations in market
interest rates can lead to significant fluctuations in the fair

value of these notes and debentures. It is our policy to
manage our debt structure and foreign exchange exposure
in order to manage capital costs, control financial risks and
maintain financial flexibility over the long term. Where
appropriate, we will take actions to limit the negative
effect of interest and foreign exchange rates, liquidity and
counterparty risks on stockholder value. 

We enter into foreign currency contracts to minimize
our exposure to risk of adverse changes in currency
exchange rates. We are subject to foreign exchange risk for
foreign currency-denominated transactions, such as debt
issued, recognized payables and receivables and forecasted
transactions. At December 31, 2005, our foreign currency
exposures were principally Euros, British pound sterling,
Danish krone and Japanese Yen.
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We had fair value interest rate swaps with a notional value
of $4,250 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, with a net fair
value liability of approximately $16 and a fair value asset 
of $79, respectively. The net fair value liability of $16 at
December 31, 2005 was comprised of a fair value liability 
of $33 and a fair value asset of $17.

In November 2005, we entered into an interest rate
forward contract with a notional amount of $500 to par-
tially hedge interest expense related to our debt issuance
for refinancing a portion of our debt maturities in 2006. We
utilized the notional amount of this interest rate forward
contract and incurred settlement costs of approximately 
$2 (see Note 8). The settlement costs are accounted for 
as a component of “Other comprehensive income” and 
are being amortized as interest expense over the term of
the interest payments of the related debt issuances.

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts The fair value of
foreign exchange contracts is subject to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. For the purpose of assessing 
specific risks, we use a sensitivity analysis to determine the
effects that market risk exposures may have on the fair
value of our financial instruments and results of operations.
To perform the sensitivity analysis, we assess the risk of loss
in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical 10% change
in the value of foreign currencies (negative change in the
value of the U.S. dollar), assuming no change in interest
rates. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements
for additional information relating to notional amounts
and fair values of financial instruments.

For foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at
December 31, 2005, assuming a hypothetical 10% depreciation
of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies from the 
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates, the fair value
of the foreign exchange forward contracts (net liability)
would have decreased approximately $36. Because our
foreign exchange contracts are entered into for hedging
purposes, we believe that these losses would be largely
offset by gains on the underlying transactions.

Interest Rate Foreign Currency Contracts We have
also entered into combined interest rate foreign currency
contracts to hedge foreign currency-denominated debt. 
At December 31, 2005, assuming a hypothetical 10% 
depreciation in the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies
from the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates, the
fair value of the combined interest rate foreign currency
contracts (asset) would have increased approximately $88.
Because our foreign exchange contracts are entered into
for hedging purposes, we believe that these gains would
be largely offset by losses on the underlying foreign 
currency-denominated debt.

The model to determine sensitivity assumes a parallel
shift in all foreign currency exchange rates, although
exchange rates rarely move in the same direction.
Additionally, the amounts above do not necessarily 
represent the actual changes in fair value we would incur
under normal market conditions because all variables,
other than the exchange rates, are held constant in the 
calculations.

Maturity

After Fair Value
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2010 Total 12/31/05

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest Rate Swaps:
Receive Fixed/Pay Variable Notional Amount $1,000 — — — — $3,250 $4,250 $(16)

Variable Rate Payable1 5.8% 5.9% 6.0% 6.0% 6.1% 5.9%

Weighted-Average Fixed Rate Receivable 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0%

1Interest payable based on current and implied forward rates for Three or Six Month LIBOR plus a spread ranging between approximately 64 and 170 basis points.

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION ABOUT MARKET RISK

In order to determine the changes in fair value of our 
various financial instruments, we use certain financial 
modeling techniques. We apply rate sensitivity changes
directly to our interest rate swap transactions and forward
rate sensitivity to our foreign currency-forward contracts.

The changes in fair value, as discussed below, assume
the occurrence of certain market conditions, which could
have an adverse financial impact on AT&T and do not 
represent projected gains or losses in fair value that we
expect to incur. Future impacts would be based on actual
developments in global financial markets. We do not
foresee any significant changes in the strategies used to
manage interest rate risk, foreign currency rate risk or
equity price risk in the near future.

Interest Rate Sensitivity The principal amounts by
expected maturity, average interest rate and fair value of
our liabilities that are exposed to interest rate risk are
described in Notes 7 and 8. Following are our interest 
rate derivatives subject to interest rate risk as of 
December 31, 2005. The interest rates illustrated in the
interest rate swaps section of the table below refer to the
average expected rates we would receive and the average
expected rates we would pay based on the contracts. The
notional amount is the principal amount of the debt
subject to the interest rate swap contracts. The fair value
asset (liability) represents the amount we would receive or
pay if we exited the contracts as of December 31, 2005.
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The risk of loss in fair values of all other financial 
instruments resulting from a hypothetical 10% change in
market prices was not significant as of December 31, 2005.

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Exchange Risk From time to time, we make
investments in businesses in foreign countries, are paid 
dividends and receive proceeds from sales or borrow funds
in foreign currency. Before making an investment, or in
anticipation of a foreign currency receipt, we often will
enter into forward foreign exchange contracts. The contracts
are used to provide currency at a fixed rate. Our policy is 
to measure the risk of adverse currency fluctuations by 
calculating the potential dollar losses resulting from
changes in exchange rates that have a reasonable probability
of occurring. We cover the exposure that results from
changes that exceed acceptable amounts. We do not 
speculate in foreign exchange markets. 

We have also entered into foreign currency contracts 
to minimize our exposure to risk of adverse changes in 
currency exchange rates. We are subject to foreign
exchange risk for foreign currency-denominated transactions,
such as debt issued, recognized payables and receivables
and forecasted transactions. At December 31, 2005, our
foreign currency exposures were principally Euros, British
pound sterling, Danish krone and Japanese Yen.

Interest Rate Risk We issue debt in fixed and floating
rate instruments. Interest rate swaps are used for the
purpose of controlling interest expense by managing the
mix of fixed and floating rate debt. Interest rate forward
contracts were utilized to hedge interest expense related to
financing Cingular’s acquisition of AT&T Wireless in 2004.
We do not seek to make a profit from changes in interest
rates. We manage interest rate sensitivity by measuring
potential increases in interest expense that would result
from a probable change in interest rates. When the
potential increase in interest expense exceeds an
acceptable amount, we reduce risk through the issuance 
of fixed rate (in lieu of variable rate) instruments and 
the purchase of derivatives.

Issuer Equity Repurchases
Our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
350 million shares of our common stock; this authorization
expires at the end of 2008. During 2005, we increased our
level of share repurchases of our common stock under our
existing share repurchase program. Under this repurchase
program, we repurchased 76 million shares at a cost of
approximately $1,843 in 2005 and expect to purchase
approximately $2,000 of additional shares under our 
repurchase program in 2006. Our fourth-quarter share
repurchases are listed below:

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as Maximum Number of

Part of Publicly Shares that May Yet
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans Be Purchased Under

Purchase Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share1 or Programs the Plans or Programs

October 26, 2005 – October 31, 2005 7,000,000 $23.45 7,000,000 294,989,613

November 1, 2005 – November 29, 2005 25,200,000 $23.86 25,200,000 269,789,613

December 1, 2005 – December 9, 2005 13,260,500 $25.23 13,260,500 256,529,113

Total 45,460,500 $24.19 45,460,500 256,529,113

1Average Price Paid per Share excludes transaction costs.

CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
As required under the rules of the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), our chief executive officer has timely 
submitted to the NYSE his annual certification that he is
not aware of any violation by the company of NYSE 
corporate governance standards. Also as required under
the rules of the NYSE, readers are advised that the 
certifications required under Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are not included in this 
report but instead are included as exhibits to our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2005.

RISK FACTORS
In addition to the other information set forth in this 
document, including the matters contained under the 
caption “Cautionary Language Concerning Forward-
Looking Statements,” you should carefully read the matters
described below. We believe each of these matters could
materially affect our business. We recognize most of these
factors are beyond our ability to control and therefore to
predict an outcome. Accordingly, we have organized them

by first addressing general factors, then industry factors
and, finally, transactions specifically applicable to us.

Adverse changes in the U.S. securities markets and medical
costs could materially increase our benefit plan costs.

Our pension and postretirement costs are subject to
increases, primarily due to continuing increases in medical
and prescription drug costs and can be affected by lower
returns in prior years on funds held by our pension and
other benefit plans which are reflected in our financial
statements over several years. For example, in two of the
last five years we experienced increased combined pension
and postretirement costs. Investment returns on these
funds depend largely on trends in the U.S. securities 
markets and the U.S. economy. In calculating the annual
costs included on our financial statements of providing
benefits under our plans, we have made certain assump-
tions regarding future investment returns, medical costs
and interest rates. If actual investment returns, medical
costs and interest rates are worse than those previously
assumed, our annual costs will increase.
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Changes in available technology could increase 
competition and our capital costs.

The telecommunications industry has experienced rapid
changes in the last several years. The development of 
wireless, cable and IP technologies has significantly
increased the commercial viability of alternatives to 
traditional wireline telephone service. In order to remain
competitive, we have begun to deploy a more sophisticated
network and continue to research other new technologies.
If the new technologies we have adopted or on which we
have focused our research efforts fail to be cost-effective
and accepted by customers, our ability to remain competi-
tive could be materially adversely affected.

Changes to federal and state regulations and decisions 
in regulatory proceedings could materially adversely
affect us. 

Our wireline and ATTC subsidiaries are subject to
significant federal and state regulation while many of our
competitors are not. The adoption of new regulations or
changes to existing regulations could significantly increase
our costs which either would reduce our operating margins
or potentially increase customer turnover should we
attempt to increase prices to cover our increased costs. In
addition, the development of new technologies, such as 
IP-based services, has created or potentially could create
conflicting regulation between the FCC and various state
and local authorities, which may involve lengthy litigation
to resolve and may result in outcomes unfavorable to us.

Increasing competition in our wireline markets could
adversely affect wireline operating margins. 

We expect competition in the telecommunications
industry to continue to intensify. We expect this
competition will continue to put pressure on pricing,
margins and customer retention. A number of our
competitors that rely on alternative technologies (e.g.,
wireless, cable and VoIP) are typically subject to less (or no)
regulation than our wireline and ATTC subsidiaries and
therefore are able to operate with lower costs. These
competitors also have cost advantages compared to us, 
due in part to a non-unionized workforce, lower employee
benefits and fewer retirees (as most of the competitors 
are relatively new companies). We believe such advantages
can be offset by continuing to increase the efficiency of 
our operating systems and improving employee training
and productivity but there can be no assurance our efforts
in these areas will be successful. 

Increasing competition in the wireless industry could
adversely affect Cingular’s operating results.

On average, Cingular has three to four other wireless 
competitors in each of its service areas and competes for
customers based principally on price, service offerings, call
quality, coverage area and customer service. In addition,
Cingular is likely to experience growing competition from
providers offering services using alternative wireless 
technologies and IP-based networks as well as traditional
wireline networks. Cingular expects intense industry 

competition and market saturation likely will cause the
wireless industry’s customer growth rate to moderate in
comparison with historical growth rates. This competition
will continue to put pressure on pricing, margins and 
customer turnover as companies compete for potential 
customers. Cingular’s ability to respond will depend, among
other things, on improving customer retention and
reducing customer turnover by subsidizing product
upgrades and/or reducing pricing to match competitors’ 
initiatives, upgrading Cingular’s network and providing
improved customer service. These efforts will involve
significant expenses and require strategic management
decisions on matters such as technology choices, marketing
plans and financial budgets. We and BellSouth provide
Cingular with its working capital financing; if we or
BellSouth were unable or unwilling to finance Cingular’s
operating and capital needs on a timely basis or permit
third-party financing, Cingular would be unable to pursue
its business plan. Since we jointly manage Cingular with
BellSouth, if we and BellSouth cannot agree, inaction or
disputes may result, which could have a material adverse
effect on Cingular’s operating results. 

The success of our Project Lightspeed broadband initiative
will depend on the timing, extent and cost of deployment,
the development of attractive and profitable service 
offerings and the extent to which regulatory, franchise
fees and build-out requirements apply to this initiative.

The trend in telecommunications technology is to shift
from the traditional circuit and wire-based technology to
Internet Protocol-based technology. IP-based technology
can transport voice and data, as well as video, from both
wired and wireless networks. IP-based networks also 
potentially cost less to operate than traditional networks.
Our competitors, many of which are newer companies, are
deploying this IP-based technology. In order to continue 
to offer attractive and competitively-priced services, 
we are deploying a new broadband network to offer 
IP-based voice, data and video services. Using a new and
sophisticated technology on a very large scale entails risks
but also presents opportunities to expand service offerings
to customers. Should deployment of our network be
delayed or costs exceed expected amounts, our margins
would be adversely affected and such effects could be
material. Should regulatory requirements be different than
we anticipated, our deployment could be delayed, perhaps 
significantly, or limited to only those geographical areas
where regulation is not burdensome. In addition, should
the delivery of services expected to be deployed on our
network be delayed due to technological or regulatory
constraints or other reasons, or the cost of providing such
services becomes higher than expected, customers may
decide to purchase services from our competitors which
would adversely affect our revenues and margins, and such
effects could be material.
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Our acquisition of ATTC may not be integrated 
successfully; the expected cost savings and any other 
synergies from the acquisition may take longer to realize
than expected or may not be fully realized; and 
disruption from the acquisition may adversely affect our
relationships with customers, employees, suppliers and
other parties.

We acquired ATTC in order to combine ATTC’s global
systems capabilities, business and government customers
and IP-based business with our local exchange, broadband 
and wireless services and to create potential cost savings, 
revenue synergies, technological development and other
benefits. Achieving these results will depend in part on 
successfully combining two large corporations, which could
involve significant management attention and create
uncertainties for employees. Diversion of attention from
ongoing operations on the part of management and
employees could adversely affect our customers, suppliers
and other parties with whom we have relationships. 
We also expect to incur substantial expenses related to 
the integration of ATTC. We must integrate a large number 
of systems, both operational and administrative. These 
integration expenses will likely result/have resulted in our
taking significant charges against earnings, both cash and
noncash, primarily from the amortization of intangibles
and one-time impairments. Delays in this process could
have a material adverse effect on our revenues, expenses,
operating results and financial condition. In addition,
events outside of our control, including changes in state
and federal regulation and laws as well as economic 
trends, also could adversely affect our ability to integrate
ATTC and such effects may be material. 

Cingular’s acquisition of AT&T Wireless may not be 
integrated successfully; the expected costs savings and
any other synergies from the acquisition may take longer
to realize than expected or may not be fully realized; and
disruption from the acquisition may adversely affect our
relationships with customers, employees, suppliers and
other parties. 

Cingular acquired AT&T Wireless to add additional
spectrum and expand its network coverage and enhance 
its business customer base. By adding size and scale,
Cingular expects to compete more effectively in the 
wireless industry and procure more significant cost
economies from vendors. In order to achieve these 
goals, Cingular must integrate separate network systems
and consolidate other operating and support systems
without reducing network service coverage or quality or
customer service. Cingular also must develop and offer
competitive and attractive services. If Cingular does not
accomplish its integration plan in a timely and cost-
effective manner, Cingular may lose customers, experience
reduced growth and fail to realize the anticipated benefits
and synergies of the acquisition to the extent, or in the
time frame, expected.
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CAUTIONARY LANGUAGE CONCERNING 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Information set forth in this report contains forward-looking
statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties, and
actual results could differ materially. Many of these factors
are discussed in more detail in the “Risk Factors” section.
We claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-
looking statements provided by the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

The following factors could cause our future results to
differ materially from those expressed in the forward-
looking statements:

• Adverse economic changes in the markets served by us
or in countries in which we have significant investments.

• Changes in available technology and the effects of
such changes including product substitutions and
deployment costs.

• Increases in our benefit plans’ costs including increases
due to adverse changes in the U.S. securities markets,
resulting in worse-than-assumed investment returns
and discount rates, and adverse medical cost trends.

• The final outcome of Federal Communications
Commission proceedings and reopenings of such 
proceedings and judicial review, if any, of such 
proceedings, including issues relating to access
charges, broadband deployment, availability and 
pricing of unbundled network elements and platforms
(UNE-Ps) and unbundled loop and transport elements
(EELs).

• The final outcome of regulatory proceedings in the
states in which we operate and reopenings of such
proceedings, and judicial review, if any, of such 
proceedings, including proceedings relating to 
interconnection terms, access charges, universal 
service, UNE-Ps and resale and wholesale rates, 
broadband deployment including Project Lightspeed,
performance measurement plans, service standards
and traffic compensation.

• Enactment of additional state, federal and/or foreign
regulatory and tax laws and regulations pertaining to
our subsidiaries and foreign investments.

• Our ability to absorb revenue losses caused by increasing
competition, including offerings using alternative
technologies (e.g., cable, wireless and VoIP) and UNE-P
requirements, and our ability to maintain capital
expenditures.

• The extent of competition and the resulting pressure
on access line totals and wireline and wireless operating
margins. 

• Our ability to develop attractive and profitable 
product/service offerings to offset increasing 
competition in our wireline and wireless markets.

• The ability of our competitors to offer product/service
offerings at lower prices due to lower cost structures
and regulatory and legislative actions adverse to us,
including state regulatory proceedings relating to
UNE-Ps and nonregulation of comparable alternative
technologies (e.g., VoIP).

• The timing, extent and cost of deployment of our
Project Lightspeed broadband initiative; the 
development of attractive and profitable service 
offerings; the extent to which regulatory, franchise
fees and build-out requirements apply to this initiative,
and; the availability and reliability of the various 
technologies required to provide such offerings.

• The issuance by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board or other accounting oversight bodies of new
accounting standards or changes to existing standards.

• The issuance by the Internal Revenue Service and/or
state tax authorities of new tax regulations or changes
to existing standards and actions by federal, state or
local tax agencies and judicial authorities with respect
to applying applicable tax laws and regulations; and
the resolution of disputes with any taxing jurisdictions.

• The impact of the wireless joint venture with
BellSouth, known as Cingular, including: marketing
and product-development efforts; customer acquisition
and retention costs; access to additional spectrum;
network upgrades; technological advancements;
industry consolidation, including the acquisition of
AT&T Wireless, and; availability and cost of capital.

• Cingular’s failure to achieve, in the amounts and 
within the time frame expected, the capital and
expense synergies and other benefits expected from
its acquisition of AT&T Wireless.

• The impact of our acquisition of ATTC, including the
risk that the businesses will not be integrated 
successfully; the risk that the cost savings and any
other synergies from the acquisition may not be fully
realized or may take longer to realize than expected;
disruption from the acquisition making it more 
difficult to maintain relationships with customers,
employees or suppliers; and competition and its effect
on pricing, spending, third-party relationships and 
revenues.

• Changes in our corporate strategies, such as changing
network requirements or acquisitions and dispositions,
to respond to competition and regulatory, legislative
and technological developments.

Readers are cautioned that other factors discussed in 
this report, although not enumerated here, also could
materially affect our future earnings.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Dollars in millions except per share amounts

2005 2004 2003

Operating Revenues
Voice $20,037 $20,796 $21,986
Data 12,964 10,984 10,150
Long-distance voice 4,964 3,297 2,561
Directory advertising 3,786 3,832 3,894
Other 2,111 1,878 1,907

Total operating revenues 43,862 40,787 40,498

Operating Expenses
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization 

shown separately below) 19,190 17,515 16,857
Selling, general and administrative 10,861 9,807 9,487
Depreciation and amortization 7,643 7,564 7,870

Total operating expenses 37,694 34,886 34,214

Operating Income 6,168 5,901 6,284

Other Income (Expense)
Interest expense (1,456) (1,023) (1,191)
Interest income 383 492 603
Equity in net income of affiliates 609 873 1,253
Other income (expense) – net 14 922 1,767

Total other income (expense) (450) 1,264 2,432

Income Before Income Taxes 5,718 7,165 8,716
Income taxes 932 2,186 2,857

Income From Continuing Operations 4,786 4,979 5,859
Income From Discontinued Operations, net of tax — 908 112

Income Before Extraordinary Item and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes 4,786 5,887 5,971
Extraordinary item, net of tax — — (7)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax — — 2,541

Net Income $ 4,786 $ 5,887 $ 8,505

Earnings Per Common Share:
Income From Continuing Operations $ 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.77
Income Before Extraordinary Item and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes $ 1.42 $ 1.78 $ 1.80
Net Income $ 1.42 $ 1.78 $ 2.56

Earnings Per Common Share – Assuming Dilution:
Income From Continuing Operations $ 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.76
Income Before Extraordinary Item and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes $ 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 1.80
Net Income $ 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 2.56

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Dollars in millions except per share amounts

December 31,

2005 2004

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,224 $ 760
Accounts receivable – net of allowances for uncollectibles of $1,176 and $1,001 9,351 6,901
Prepaid expenses 1,029 746
Deferred income taxes 2,011 566
Other current assets 1,039 989

Total current assets 14,654 9,962

Property, Plant and Equipment – Net 58,727 50,046
Goodwill 14,055 1,625
Intangible Assets – Net 8,503 429
Investments in Equity Affiliates 2,031 1,798
Investments in and Advances to Cingular Wireless 31,404 33,687
Other Assets 16,258 12,718

Total Assets $145,632 $110,265

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Debt maturing within one year $ 4,455 $ 5,734
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,088 11,459
Accrued taxes 2,586 1,787
Dividends payable 1,289 1,065
Liabilities of discontinued operations — 310

Total current liabilities 25,418 20,355

Long-Term Debt 26,115 21,231
Deferred Credits and Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 15,713 15,621
Postemployment benefit obligation 18,133 9,076
Unamortized investment tax credits 209 188
Other noncurrent liabilities 5,354 3,290

Total deferred credits and other noncurrent liabilities 39,409 28,175

Stockholders’ Equity
Common shares ($1 par value, 7,000,000,000 authorized: issued  4,065,093,907

at December 31, 2005 and 3,433,124,836 at December 31, 2004) 4,065 3,433
Capital in excess of par value 27,499 13,350
Retained earnings 29,106 28,806
Treasury shares (188,209,761 at December 31, 2005 and 

132,212,645 at December 31, 2004, at cost) (5,406) (4,535)
Additional minimum pension liability adjustment (218) (190)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (356) (360)

Total stockholders’ equity 54,690 40,504

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $145,632 $110,265

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Dollars in millions, increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

2005 2004 2003

Operating Activities
Net income $ 4,786 $ 5,887 $ 8,505
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 7,643 7,564 7,870
Undistributed earnings from investments in equity affiliates (451) (542) (965)
Provision for uncollectible accounts 744 761 846
Amortization of investment tax credits (21) (32) (24)
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (658) 646 3,446
Net gain on sales of investments (135) (939) (1,775)
Extraordinary item, net of tax — — 7
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax — — (2,541)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — (908) (112)
Retirement benefit funding — (2,232) (1,645)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (94) 282 (2,121)
Other current assets 34 (102) (14)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 84 414 2,293
Stock-based compensation tax benefit (3) (5) (1)

Other – net 1,045 156 (363)

Total adjustments 8,188 5,063 4,901

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 12,974 10,950 13,406

Investing Activities
Construction and capital expenditures (5,576) (5,099) (5,219)
Receipts from (investments in) affiliates – net 2,436 (22,660) —
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities — (135) (710)
Maturities of held-to-maturity securities 99 499 248
Dispositions 526 6,672 3,020
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 1,504 (74) (8)
Proceeds from note repayment 37 50 —
Purchases of other investments — — (436)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (974) (20,747) (3,105)

Financing Activities
Net change in short-term borrowings with original 

maturities of three months or less (4,119) 3,398 (78)
Repayment of other short-term borrowings — — (1,070)
Issuance of long-term debt 1,973 6,461 —
Repayment of long-term debt (2,682) (881) (3,148)
Purchase of treasury shares (1,843) (448) (490)
Issuance of treasury shares 432 216 102
Repurchase of preferred shares of subsidiaries (728) — —
Dividends paid (4,256) (4,141) (4,539)
Stock-based compensation tax benefit 3 5 1
Other (6) — —

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities (11,226) 4,610 (9,222)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 774 (5,187) 1,079
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities from Discontinued Operations (310) (256) 156
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities from Discontinued Operations — 1,397 —

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 464 (4,046) 1,235
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 760 4,806 3,571

Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 1,224 $ 760 $ 4,806

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Dollars and shares in millions, except per share amounts

2005 2004 2003

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year 3,433 $ 3,433 3,433 $ 3,433 3,433 $ 3,433
Issuance of shares 632 632 — — — —

Balance at end of year 4,065 $ 4,065 3,433 $ 3,433 3,433 $ 3,433

Capital in Excess of Par Value
Balance at beginning of year $13,350 $13,556 $13,545
Issuance of shares 14,087 (315) (181)
Stock based compensation 62 109 192

Balance at end of year $27,499 $13,350 $13,556

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year $28,806 $27,089 $23,257
Net income ($1.42, $1.78 and $2.56 per share) 4,786 5,887 8,505
Dividends to stockholders ($1.30, $1.26 and $1.41 per share) (4,480) (4,170) (4,674)
Other (6) — 1

Balance at end of year $29,106 $28,806 $27,089

Treasury Shares
Balance at beginning of year (132) $ (4,535) (128) $ (4,698) (115) $ (4,584)
Purchase of shares (76) (1,843) (17) (448) (21) (490)
Issuance of shares 20 972 13 611 8 376

Balance at end of year (188) $ (5,406) (132) $ (4,535) (128) $ (4,698)

Additional Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment
Balance at beginning of year $ (190) $ (1,132) $ (1,473)
Required adjustments (net of taxes of $(17), $578 and $210) (28) 942 341

Balance at end of year $ (218) $ (190) $ (1,132)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax
Balance at beginning of year $ (360) $ — $ (978)
Currency translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustment, 
net of taxes of $27, $(17) and $302 50 (31) 561

Less reclassification adjustment for cumulative currency 
translation adjustments realized in net income, 
net of taxes of $(52) — (97) —

Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities:
Unrealized gains (losses), net of taxes 

of $3, $102 and $264 5 189 536
Less reclassification adjustment realized in net income, 

net of taxes of $(30), $(121) and $(64) (56) (225) (119)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges:

Unrealized gains (losses), net of taxes of $(1) and $(106) (1) (196) —
Less reclassification adjustment realized in net income, 

net of taxes of $3 7 — —
Other (1) — —

Other comprehensive income (loss) 4 (360) 978

Balance at end of year $ (356) $ (360) $ —

Total Comprehensive Income
Net income $ 4,786 $ 5,887 $ 8,505
Additional minimum pension liability adjustments per above (28) 942 341
Other comprehensive income (loss) per above 4 (360) 978

Total Comprehensive Income $ 4,762 $ 6,469 $ 9,824

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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N O T E  1 . S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T  
A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

Basis of Presentation Throughout this document, AT&T
Inc., formerly known as SBC Communications Inc. (SBC), is
referred to as “AT&T,” “we” or the “Company.” On
November 18, 2005, we acquired 100 percent of the
outstanding common shares of AT&T Corp. (ATTC). In
connection with the merger, we changed the name of the
company from “SBC Communications Inc.” to “AT&T Inc.”
ATTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and 
the results of ATTC’s operations have been included in 
our consolidated financial statements after the 
November 18, 2005 acquisition date. For a detailed 
discussion of our acquisition, see Note 2.

The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and our majority-owned 
subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries and affiliates operate in the
communications services industry both domestically and
internationally providing wireline and wireless telecom-
munications services and equipment as well as directory 
advertising and publishing services.

All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated
in the consolidation process. Investments in partnerships,
joint ventures, including Cingular Wireless (Cingular), and
less than majority-owned subsidiaries where we have signif-
icant influence are accounted for under the equity method.
We account for our 60% economic interest in Cingular
under the equity method since we share control equally
(i.e., 50/50) with our 40% economic partner in the joint
venture. We have equal voting rights and representation
on the Board of Directors that controls Cingular. Earnings
from certain foreign equity investments accounted for
using the equity method are included for periods ended
within up to three months of our year end (see Note 6).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes, including estimates 
of probable losses and expenses. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities In January
2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting
Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51” (FIN 46). FIN 46 provides
guidance for determining whether an entity is a variable
interest entity (VIE) and which equity investor of that VIE, 
if any, should include the VIE in its consolidated financial
statements. In December 2003, the FASB staff revised FIN 46
(FIN 46(R)) to clarify some of the provisions. The revision
delayed the effective date for application of FIN 46(R) by
large public companies, such as us, until periods ending
after March 15, 2004, for all types of VIEs other than
special-purpose entities, including our investment in
Cingular. In 2003, we recorded an extraordinary loss of $7,
net of taxes of $4, related to consolidation of real estate
leases under FIN 46.

In accordance with the provisions of FIN 46(R), we
performed a quantitative study of potential cash flows of

Cingular, covering a wide range of scenarios that valued
Cingular significantly above and below the estimated fair
value of Cingular. The probability of these scenarios was
assessed to establish the weighted-average amount that
these scenarios were both above and below the average of
all the scenarios. These are the “residual returns” and
“expected losses” as defined by FIN 46(R). As Cingular’s
total capitalization has a high equity component, the
“expected losses” of the FIN 46(R) calculations were 
significantly below not only the fair value of Cingular’s
equity, but also its book value. Therefore, we determined
that Cingular did not qualify for consolidation by us under
the provisions of FIN 46(R), and our accounting treatment
of our investment in Cingular remained unchanged.
Cingular’s acquisition of AT&T Wireless Services Inc. 
(AT&T Wireless) was accomplished entirely through equity
contributions to Cingular; Cingular’s debt increased only 
by the amount of AT&T Wireless public debt assumed in
connection with the acquisition. When we reassessed
whether Cingular should be consolidated under FIN 46(R),
primarily because of the large increase in the fair value 
of Cingular’s equity as a result of the transaction, we 
concluded the acquisition of AT&T Wireless did not change
our accounting for Cingular under FIN 46(R).

Stock-Based Compensation In September 2005, we
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (FAS 123(R)),
which is a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (FAS 123). FAS 123(R) supersedes Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and amends Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.”

We adopted FAS 123(R) using the “modified retrospective”
method. The modified retrospective method requires that
compensation cost be recognized beginning with the 
effective date (a) based on the requirements of FAS 123(R)
for all share-based payments granted after the effective
date and (b) based on the requirements of FAS 123 for all
awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of
FAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date. 
The modified retrospective method also allowed companies
to restate based on the amounts previously recognized
under FAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures for all
prior years for which FAS 123 was effective. See Note 12 for
a detailed discussion of our stock-based compensation and
our adoption of FAS 123(R).

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations In March
2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” (FIN 47) an
interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations”(FAS 143) and is effective for fiscal years 
ended after December 15, 2005. FIN 47 clarifies that the
term “conditional asset retirement obligation,” as used in
FAS 143 refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset
retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of
settlement are conditional on a future event that may or
may not be within the control of the entity. The obligation
to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional
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even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or
method of settlement. FIN 47 requires a company to recog-
nize the liability for the fair value of the conditional asset
retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be
reasonably estimated. Any liability accrued is offset by an
increase in the value of the asset. Adoption of FIN 47 did
not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Reclassifications We have reclassified certain amounts
in prior-period financial statements to conform to the
current period’s presentation, including those related to
our discontinued operations (see Note 17). We have 
reclassified accounts receivable for our directory segment.
Previously we netted accounts receivable from our directory
customers against deferred revenue which is recognized
ratably over the life of the directory. During 2005, we
began reporting accounts receivable from our directory 
customers on a gross basis as the full amount is receivable
from the customer at the time the directory is issued. 
As a result of this change, accounts receivable and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities each increased by $1,421 at
December 31, 2004.

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are provided for
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for tax purposes. To the extent allowed
by GAAP, we provide valuation allowances against the
deferred tax assets for amounts when the realization is
uncertain. Management reviews these items regularly in
light of changes in tax laws and court rulings at both
federal and state levels.

Our income tax returns are regularly audited and
reviewed by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and state
taxing authorities. The IRS has completed field examinations
for all tax years through 1999. The IRS has issued assess-
ments challenging the timing and amounts of various
deductions for the 1997-1999 period. We paid the taxes 
on these assessments and filed refund claims, which the 
IRS had denied. We reached a settlement with the IRS
regarding almost all issues included in 1997-1999 claims in
the fourth quarter of 2005. The 1997-1999 IRS settlement
resulted in an income tax benefit that was recognized
during 2005. Additionally, the IRS is expected to complete
fieldwork for the 2000-2002 period during 2006. The 
completion of the 2000-2002 audit fieldwork is not expected
to have an adverse impact on the financial statements.

The IRS has completed its audit of the ATTC Group for
1997 – 2001 and has referred the case to Joint Committee
for review and approval which we expect during the first
quarter of 2006. Additionally, the IRS is currently reviewing
the ATTC Group for 2002 – 2005. Any adjustments required
by either Joint Committee or the review of 2002 – 2005 will
be subject to the rules under purchase accounting, and it is
not expected that either will result in an adverse impact to
the financial statements.

Investment tax credits earned prior to their repeal by
the Tax Reform Act of 1986 are amortized as reductions in
income tax expense over the lives of the assets which gave
rise to the credits.

Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include all
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less and the carrying amounts approximate fair

value. At December 31, 2005, we held $709 in cash, $257 in
money market funds and $258 in other cash equivalents.

Investment Securities Investments in securities
principally consist of held-to-maturity or available-for-sale
instruments. Short-term and long-term investments in
money market securities are carried as held-to-maturity
securities. Available-for-sale securities consist of various
debt and equity securities that are long term in nature.
Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, on available-for-sale
securities are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income. Our investment securities maturing within one year
are recorded in “Other current assets” and instruments with
maturities more than one year are recorded in “Other
Assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue Recognition Revenues derived from local
telephone, long-distance and data services are recognized
when services are provided. This is based upon either usage
(e.g. minutes of traffic processed), period of time (e.g.
monthly service fees) or other established fee schedules.
Service revenues also include billings to our customers for
various regulatory fees imposed on us by governmental
authorities. We record an estimated revenue reduction for
future adjustments to customer accounts, other than a pro-
vision for doubtful accounts, at the time revenue is recog-
nized based on historical experience. Cash incentives given
to customers are recorded as a reduction of revenue. When
required as part of providing service, revenues and associ-
ated expenses related to nonrefundable, upfront service
activation and set-up fees are deferred and recognized
over the associated service contract period. If no service
contract exists, those fees are recognized over the average
customer relationship period. Associated expenses are
deferred only to the extent of such deferred revenue. 
For contracts that involve the bundling of services, revenue
is allocated to the services based on their relative fair value.
We record the sale of equipment to customers as gross
revenue when we are the primary obligor in the arrange-
ment, when title is passed and the products are accepted
by customers. For agreements involving the resale of third-
party services in which we are not considered the primary
obligor of the arrangement, we record the revenue net of
the associated costs incurred. For contracts where we
provide customers with an indefeasible right to use
network capacity, we recognize revenue ratably over the
stated life of the agreement.

We recognize revenues and expenses related to publish-
ing directories on the amortization method, which 
recognizes revenues and expenses ratably over the life of
the directory title, typically 12 months. Prior to 2003, we
recognized revenues and expenses related to publishing
directories on the “issue basis” method of accounting,
which recognizes the revenues and expenses at the time
the initial delivery of the related directory is completed.
See the discussion of our 2003 change in directory 
accounting in the “Cumulative Effect of Accounting
Changes” section below.

Traffic Compensation Expense We use various estimates
and assumptions to determine the amount of traffic 
compensation expenses recognized during any reporting
period. Switched traffic compensation costs in our AT&T
Corp. segment are accrued utilizing estimated rates by
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product, formulated from historical data and adjusted for
known rate changes and volume levels, which are estimated
for certain products and known for other products. Such
estimates are adjusted monthly to reflect newly available
information, such as rate changes and new contractual
agreements. Bills reflecting actual incurred information are
generally not received until three to nine months subse-
quent to the end of the reporting period, at which point 
a final adjustment is made to the accrued switched traffic
compensation expense. Dedicated traffic compensation
costs are estimated based on the number of circuits and 
the average projected circuit costs, based on historical data
adjusted for rate changes. These costs are adjusted to
reflect actual expenses over the three months following 
the end of the reporting period as bills are received.

Allowance for Uncollectibles We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that
result from the failure or inability of our customers to
make required payments. When determining the
allowance, we consider the probability of recoverability of
accounts receivable based on past experience, taking into
account current collection trends that are expected to
continue, as well as general economic factors, including
bankruptcy rates. Credit risks are assessed based on
historical write-offs, net of recoveries, and future estimated
net write-offs as well as an analysis of the aged accounts
receivable balances with reserves generally increasing as
the receivable ages. Accounts receivable may be fully
reserved for when specific collection issues are known 
to exist, such as pending bankruptcy or catastrophes. 
The analysis of receivables is performed monthly and 
the bad debt allowances adjusted accordingly.

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes

Directory accounting Effective January 1, 2003, we
changed our method of recognizing revenues and expenses
related to publishing directories from the “issue basis”
method to the “amortization” method. The issue basis
method recognizes revenues and expenses at the time the
initial delivery of the related directory is completed.
Consequently, quarterly income tends to vary with the
number and size of directory titles published during a
quarter. The amortization method recognizes revenues and
expenses ratably over the life of the directory, which is
typically 12 months. Consequently, quarterly income 
tends to be more consistent over the course of a year. 
We decided to change methods because the amortization
method has now become the more prevalent method used
among significant directory publishers. This change permits a
more meaningful comparison between our directory segment
and other publishing companies (or publishing segments of
larger companies).

Our directory accounting change resulted in a noncash
charge of $1,136, net of an income tax benefit of $714,
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change on
the Consolidated Statements of Income as of January 1,
2003. The effect of this change was to increase consoli-
dated pretax income and our directory segment income for
2003 by $80 ($49 net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share).

Depreciation accounting On January 1, 2003, we
adopted FAS 143. FAS 143 sets forth how companies must
account for the costs of removal of long-lived assets when
those assets are no longer used in a company’s business,
but only if a company is legally required to remove such
assets. FAS 143 requires that companies record the fair
value of the costs of removal in the period in which the
obligations are incurred and capitalize that amount as part
of the book value of the long-lived asset. To determine
whether we have a legal obligation to remove our long-
lived assets, we reviewed state and federal law and
regulatory decisions applicable to our subsidiaries, primarily
our wireline subsidiaries, which have long-lived assets.
Based on this review, we concluded that we are not legally
required to remove any of our long-lived assets, except in a
few minor instances.

However, in November 2002, we were informed that the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) staff concluded
that certain provisions of FAS 143 require that we exclude
costs of removal from depreciation rates and accumulated
depreciation balances in certain circumstances upon
adoption, even where no legal removal obligations exist. 
In our case, this means that for plant accounts where our
estimated costs of removal exceed the estimated salvage
value, we are prohibited from accruing removal costs in
those depreciation rates and accumulated depreciation 
balances in excess of the salvage value. For our other 
long-lived assets, where our estimated costs of removal 
are less than the estimated salvage value, we will continue
to accrue the costs of removal in those depreciation rates
and accumulated depreciation balances.

Therefore, in connection with the adoption of FAS 143
on January 1, 2003, we reversed all existing accrued costs 
of removal for those plant accounts where our estimated
costs of removal exceeded the estimated salvage value. 
The noncash gain resulting from this reversal was $3,684,
net of deferred taxes of $2,249, recorded as a cumulative
effect of accounting change on the Consolidated Statements
of Income as of January 1, 2003.

In addition, in 2003, TDC A/S (TDC), the Danish communi-
cations company in which we then held an investment
accounted for on the equity method, recorded a loss upon
adoption of FAS 143. Our share of that loss was $7, which
included no tax effect. This noncash charge of $7 was also
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change on 
the Consolidated Statements of Income as of January 1, 2003.

Beginning in 2003, for those plant accounts where our
estimated costs of removal previously exceeded the
estimated salvage value, we expense all costs of removal 
as we incur them (previously those costs had been recorded
in our depreciation rates). As a result, our 2003 depreciation
expense decreased and our operations and support
expense increased as these assets were removed from
service. The effect of this change was to increase consoli-
dated pretax income and our wireline segment income 
for 2003 by $280 ($172 net of tax, or $0.05 per diluted
share). However, over the life of the assets, total operating
expenses recognized under this new accounting method
will be approximately the same as under the previous
method (assuming the cost of removal would be the 
same under both methods).
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Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and
equipment is stated at cost, except for assets acquired using
purchase accounting, which are recorded at fair value (see
Note 2). The cost of additions and substantial improve-
ments to property, plant and equipment is capitalized. 
The cost of maintenance and repairs of property, plant and
equipment is charged to operating expenses. Property,
plant and equipment are depreciated using straight-line
methods over their estimated economic lives. Certain
subsidiaries follow composite group depreciation method-
ology; accordingly, when a portion of their depreciable
property, plant and equipment is retired in the ordinary
course of business, the gross book value is reclassified to
accumulated depreciation; no gain or loss is recognized 
on the disposition of this plant.

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for recover-
ability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss shall be recognized only if the carrying
amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds
its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is
not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset.

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation is recorded in the period in which it is incurred if
a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. In periods
subsequent to initial measurement, period-to-period changes
in the liability for an asset retirement obligation resulting
from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing
or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash
flows are recognized. The increase in the carrying value of
the associated long-lived asset is depreciated over the
corresponding estimated economic life.

Software Costs It is our policy to capitalize certain
costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining
internal-use software. Capitalized software costs are
included in “Property, Plant and Equipment” on our
consolidated Balance Sheets and are amortized over three
years. Software costs that do not meet capitalization
criteria are expensed immediately.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Goodwill
represents the excess of consideration paid over the fair
value of net assets acquired in business combinations.
Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are
not amortized but are tested at least annually for impair-
ment. We have completed our annual impairment testing
for 2005 and determined that no impairment exists. During
2005, the carrying amount of our goodwill increased from
our acquisition of ATTC and an acquisition by a subsidiary
and decreased from the sale of our paging subsidiary.

Intangible assets that have finite useful lives are
amortized over their useful lives, which range from 1.5 to 
9 years. Customer relationships are amortized using the
“sum of the months digits” method of amortization over
the expected period in which those relationships are
expected to contribute to our future cash flows, including
consideration for demand, competition and other economic
factors based in such a way as to allocate it as equitably as
possible to periods during which we expect to benefit from
those relationships.

Advertising Costs Advertising costs for advertising
products and services or promoting our corporate image
are expensed as incurred.

Foreign Currency Translation Our foreign investments
and foreign subsidiaries generally report their earnings in
their local currencies. We translate our share of their
foreign assets and liabilities at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet dates. We translate our share of their
revenues and expenses using average rates during the 
year. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustments
are recorded as a separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive income in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Gains and losses resulting
from exchange-rate changes on transactions denominated
in a currency other than the local currency are included in
earnings as incurred.

We have also entered into foreign currency contracts 
to minimize our exposure to risk of adverse changes in 
currency exchange rates. We are subject to foreign exchange
risk for foreign currency-denominated transactions, such 
as debt issued, recognized payables and receivables and 
forecasted transactions. At December 31, 2005, our foreign
currency exposures were principally Euros, British pound 
sterling, Danish krone and Japanese Yen.

Derivative Financial Instruments We record derivatives
on the balance sheet at fair value. We do not invest in
derivatives for trading purposes. We use derivatives from
time to time as part of our strategy to manage risks
associated with our contractual commitments. These
derivatives are designated as either a hedge of the fair
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized
firm commitment (fair value hedge), or a hedge of a
forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to
be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability
(cash flow hedge). Our derivative financial instruments
primarily include interest rate swap agreements and
foreign currency exchange contracts. For example, we use
interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to changes in
interest rates on our debt obligations (see Note 8). We
account for our interest rate swaps using mark-to-market
accounting and include gains or losses from interest rate
swaps when paid or received in interest expense on our
Consolidated Statements of Income. Amounts paid or
received on interest rate forward contracts are amortized
over the period of the related interest payments.

All other derivatives are not formally designated for
accounting purposes (undesignated). These derivatives,
although undesignated for accounting purposes, are
entered into to hedge economic risks.

We record changes in the fair value of fair value hedges,
along with the changes in the fair value of the hedged
asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk. 
Gains or losses upon termination of our fair value hedges
are amortized as interest expense over the term of the
interest payments of the related debt issuances.

We record changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges,
along with the changes in the fair value of the hedged
asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk, in
“Accumulated other comprehensive income,” which is a
component of Stockholders’ Equity. The settlement gains or
costs on our cash flow hedges are amortized as interest
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expense over the term of the interest payments of the
related debt issuances.

Changes in the fair value of undesignated derivatives
are recorded in other income (expense), net, along with the
change in fair value of the underlying asset or liability, as
applicable.

Cash flows associated with derivative instruments are
presented in the same category on the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows as the item being hedged.

When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative
is adjusted for changes in fair value through other income
(expense), net. For fair value hedges, the underlying asset or
liability will no longer be adjusted for changes in fair value
and any asset or liability recorded in connection with the
hedging relationship (including firm commitments) will be
removed from the balance sheet and recorded in current
period earnings. For cash flow hedges, gains and losses that
were accumulated in other comprehensive income as a com-
ponent of Stockholders’ Equity in connection with hedged
assets or liabilities or forecasted transactions will be recog-
nized in other income (expense), net, in the same period the
hedged item affects earnings.

Employee Separations In accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 112, “Employers’
Accounting for Postemployment Benefits,” we establish
obligations for expected termination benefits provided to
former or inactive employees after employment but before
retirement. These benefits include severance payments,
workers’ compensation, disability, medical continuation
coverage and other benefits. At December 31, 2005, we
had severance accruals for legacy SBC employees of
approximately $410, of which $283 was established as
merger-related severance accruals. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (FAS 141), severance accruals
recorded for ATTC employees were included in the purchase
price allocation (see Note 2). At December 31, 2004, we had
severance accruals of approximately $147.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits See Note 10 for 
a comprehensive discussion of our pension and postretire-
ment benefit expense, including a discussion of the
actuarial assumptions.

N O T E  2 . A C Q U I S I T I O N S  A N D  D I S P O S I T I O N S

Acquisitions
AT&T Corp. In November 2005, we acquired ATTC in a
transaction accounted for under FAS 141. ATTC was one 
of the nation’s largest business service communications
providers, offering a variety of global communications
services, including large domestic and multinational
businesses, small and medium-sized businesses and govern-
ment agencies. ATTC operated one of the largest telecom-
munications networks in the U.S. with enterprise networking
services available in 127 countries at December 31, 2005.
ATTC was also a provider of domestic and international
long-distance and usage-based-communications services 
to consumer customers.

Under the merger agreement, each share of ATTC
common stock was exchanged for 0.77942 of a share of 
our common stock. We issued approximately 632 million
shares to ATTC shareholders, giving them an approximate
16 percent stake in the combined company, based on
common shares outstanding. In addition, immediately prior
to the closing of the transaction, ATTC paid each ATTC
shareholder a special dividend of $1.30 per share. Based on
the $24.17 per share closing price of our common stock on
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) on November 17,
2005, the last trading day before the closing of the merger,
combined with the special dividend, consideration received
by ATTC shareholders was approximately $16,300.

Based on the average closing price of our common 
stock on the NYSE for the two days prior to, including, 
and two days subsequent to the public announcement of
the merger (January 31, 2005) of $23.87 and capitalized
merger-transaction costs, the transaction was valued, for
accounting purposes, at approximately $15,517. ATTC is
now a wholly owned subsidiary of AT&T and the results of
ATTC’s operations have been included in our consolidated
financial statements after the November 18, 2005
acquisition date.

We paid a premium (i.e., goodwill) over the fair value 
of the net tangible and identified intangible assets
acquired for a number of reasons, including the following:

Strategic Fit
• Our company will benefit from ATTC’s assets and

capabilities, including: a state-of-the-art nationwide
and global communications network; advanced
technological capabilities in data and internet protocol
(IP)-based services; sales and service expertise for
complex communications services; and significant
product and service development capabilities in AT&T
Labs, a leading communications research organization.

• The merger will combine our broad consumer and
small- and medium-business customer base with
ATTC’s enterprise and government customer bases.

• The combined company will have a strong, diversified
set of products and service offerings.

Cost Savings and Revenue Synergies
• Combined network operations and IT expenses 

will decrease, as facilities and operations will be 
consolidated.

• Sales and support functions of the business services
organizations will be combined.

• Duplicate corporate functions will be eliminated.
Technological Strength
• In acquiring ATTC’s assets, which include an advanced

product portfolio as well as a leading communications
research organization (AT&T Labs), we will now have
additional resources and skills to innovate and more
quickly deliver to customers the next generation of
advanced, integrated IP-based wireline and wireless
communications services.
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The application of purchase accounting under FAS 141
requires that the total purchase price be allocated to the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their fair values at the acquisition date, with amounts
exceeding the fair values being recorded as goodwill. 
The allocation process requires an analysis of acquired 
fixed assets, contracts, customer lists and relationships,
contractual commitments, legal contingencies and brand
value to identify and record the fair value of all assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. In valuing acquired 
assets and assumed liabilities, fair values were based on,
but not limited to: future expected discounted cash flows
for trade names and customer relationships; current
replacement cost for similar capacity and obsolescence 
for certain fixed assets; comparable market rates for
contractual obligations and certain investments, real estate
and liabilities, including pension and postretirement
benefits; expected settlement amounts for litigation and
contingencies, including the AT&T Wireless litigation, and;
appropriate discount rates and growth rates.

Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets
and liabilities of ATTC were recorded at their respective fair
values as of the date of the acquisition, November 18,
2005, and we recorded goodwill of $12,343. We have
obtained preliminary third-party valuations of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets (including the AT&T
trade name), debt and certain other assets and liabilities.
Because of the proximity of this transaction to year end,
the values of certain assets and liabilities are based on
preliminary valuations and are subject to adjustment as
additional information is obtained. Such additional
information includes, but is not limited to: valuations and
physical counts of property, plant and equipment, valuation
of investments and the involuntary termination of
employees. We will have 12 months from the closing of 
the acquisition to finalize our valuations. Changes to the
valuation of property, plant and equipment may result in
adjustments to the fair value of certain identifiable
intangible assets acquired. When finalized, material
adjustments to goodwill may result.

We have not identified any material unrecorded 
pre-acquisition contingencies where the related asset,
liability or impairment is probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. Prior to the end of the one-year
purchase price allocation period, if information becomes
available which would indicate it is probable that such
events had occurred and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated, such items will be included in the final purchase
price allocation and may adjust goodwill.

The following table summarizes the preliminary
estimated fair values of the ATTC assets acquired and
liabilities assumed and related deferred income taxes as 
of acquisition date.

ATTC

Assets acquired
Current assets $ 6,295
Property, plant and equipment 10,921
Intangible assets not subject to amortization

Trade name 4,900
Licenses 40

Intangible assets subject to amortization
Customer lists and relationships 3,050
Patents 150
Brand licensing agreements 70

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 160
Other assets 4,247
Goodwill 12,343

Total assets acquired 42,176

Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities, excluding 

current portion of long-term debt 6,740
Long-term debt 8,293
Deferred income taxes 531
Postemployment benefit obligation 8,807
Other noncurrent liabilities 2,288

Total liabilities assumed 26,659

Net assets acquired $15,517

Goodwill of $12,343, resulting from the acquisition of ATTC
was assigned to the AT&T Corp. segment. However, as part
of the final valuation of the acquisition we will determine
to which entities and to what extent the benefit of the
acquisition applies, and as required by GAAP record the
appropriate goodwill to each entity. Goodwill includes a
portion of value for assembled workforce which is not
separately classified from goodwill in accordance with 
FAS 141. The purchased intangibles and goodwill are not
deductible for tax purposes. However, purchase accounting
allows for the establishment of deferred tax liabilities on
purchased intangibles (other than goodwill) that will be
reflected as a tax benefit on our future Consolidated
Statements of Income in proportion to and over the
amortization period of the related intangible asset.

Substantially all of the licenses acquired and the trade
name of AT&T have an indefinite life, and accordingly, are
not subject to amortization. The customer relationships
intangible assets are being amortized over a weighted
period of 1.5 to 9 years for business customers and 1.5 to
2.5 years for consumer customers, using the sum of the
months digits method of amortization. This method best
reflects the estimated pattern in which the economic
benefits will be consumed. Patent intangible assets 
include protective and commercialized patents, which are
amortized using the straight-line method over 2 to 18 years
based on the remaining lives of the patents and have a
weighted-average amortization period of 10 years.
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ATTC maintained change-in-control provisions with its
employees that allowed for enhanced severance and
benefit payments. Included in the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed above are severance accruals of approxi-
mately $1,543, of which $636 will be paid from ATTC’s
pension plans and $37 from ATTC’s postemployment
benefit plans. These severance payments are expected 
to be paid over the next two years.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results
of operations assume that the acquisition of ATTC was
completed as of January 1 for each of the fiscal years
shown below.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 20041

Revenues $66,061 $69,367
Net Income (Loss) 6,167 (74)

Earnings Per Common Share $ 1.59 $ (0.02)
Earnings Per Common Share – 

Assuming Dilution $ 1.59 $ (0.02)
1ATTC’s 2004 results include an impairment charge on property, plant and
equipment of $11,400. Since the triggering event for assessing impairment of
long-lived assets occurred in July 2004, it is not adjusted in the pro forma
consolidated results.

Pro forma data may not be indicative of the results that
would have been obtained had these events actually
occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, nor
does it intend to be a projection of future results.

Yantra Corporation In January 2005, our subsidiary
Sterling Commerce, Inc. (Sterling), acquired Yantra
Corporation (Yantra) for approximately $169 in cash. We
recorded goodwill in our wireline segment of approxi-
mately $98 associated with this acquisition. Yantra is a
provider of distributed order management and supply
chain fulfillment services.

Dispositions
Net proceeds from the 2004 dispositions of our international
investments were generally used to fund, in part, our share
of the purchase price paid by Cingular to acquire AT&T
Wireless. See Note 16 for additional information on the
Cingular – AT&T Wireless transaction.

Directory advertising In September 2004, we sold our
interest in the directory advertising business in Illinois and
northwest Indiana to R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(Donnelley) for net proceeds of approximately $1,397. 
The sale included our interest in the DonTech II Partnership,
a partnership between us and Donnelley that was the
exclusive sales agent for Yellow Pages advertising in those
two areas. This transaction closed in the third quarter of
2004 and we recorded a gain of approximately $1,357
($827 net of tax) in our third-quarter 2004 financial 
results. During the third quarter of 2004, we changed 
our reporting for this portion of the directory business 
to discontinued operations (see Note 17).

TDC A/S During 2004, we sold our investment in
Danish telecommunications provider TDC for approximately
$2,864 in cash. We reported a net loss of approximately
$138 ($66 net of tax). The details of this disposition follow.

In June 2004, we sold approximately 69.4 million shares
of TDC for approximately $2,125 in cash. Approximately
51.3 million shares were sold to certain institutional
investors located in Europe, the United States and else-
where. TDC also repurchased 18.1 million shares. After this
transaction, we owned approximately 20.6 million shares of
TDC. We reported a loss of approximately $191 ($101 net
of tax) in our second-quarter 2004 financial results due to
this transaction.

As a result of this June transaction, directors designated
by us resigned all of their board seats and we removed all
of our employees from day-to-day operations at TDC.
Accordingly, as we no longer exerted significant influence
on TDC’s operations, we were required to change from 
the equity method of accounting to the cost method of
accounting for our remaining interest in TDC during 
June 2004. Therefore, we ceased recording proportionate
results from TDC as equity income in our financial results
from the date of this transaction.

We had previously agreed to not sell our remaining
approximate 20.6 million shares of TDC until December 6,
2004, subject to various exceptions, including for sales
made with the prior written consent of the investment
banks that conducted the sale of a portion of our shares in
TDC in June of 2004. However, we received approval by
those banks on November 3, 2004, and sold our remaining
approximate 20.6 million shares of TDC for approximately
$739 in cash. We reported a gain of approximately $53 
($35 net of tax) in our fourth-quarter 2004 financial results
due to this transaction.

Telkom S.A. Limited During 2004, we also sold our
investment in South African telecommunications provider
Telkom S.A. Limited (Telkom) for approximately $1,186 in
cash. We reported a loss of approximately $82 ($55 net of
tax). The details of this disposition follow.

In June 2004, we sold approximately 50% of our stake 
in Telkom for approximately $543 in cash to South African
and international institutional investors. We reported a loss
of approximately $68 ($45 net of tax) in our second-quarter
2004 financial results due to this transaction. Because we
retained significant representation on Telkom’s Board of
Directors and participation and influence on operations, 
we continued to use the equity method of accounting for
our then-remaining interest in Telkom.

We had previously agreed to not sell any of our
remaining interest prior to the date of the release of
Telkom’s interim financial results (which was scheduled for
November 15, 2004), subject to various exceptions,
including for sales made with the prior written consent of
the investment banks that conducted the sale of a portion
of our shares in Telkom in June of 2004. We received the
written consent of those investment banks and in
November 2004, we sold our remaining interest in Telkom
for approximately $643 in cash. We reported a loss of
approximately $14 ($10 net of tax) in our fourth-quarter
2004 financial results due to this transaction.

Belgacom S.A. In March 2004, in connection with
Belgacom S.A.’s (Belgacom) initial public offering (IPO), we
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disposed of our entire investment in Belgacom. Both our
investment and TDC’s investment in Belgacom were held
through Belgacom’s minority stockholder, ADSB
Telecommunications B.V. (ADSB). In a series of transactions
culminating with the IPO, we reported a combined direct
and indirect net gain of approximately $1,067 ($715 net of
tax) in our 2004 financial results. Approximately $235 of
this pretax gain was reported as equity income, reflecting
our indirect ownership though TDC (which also disposed of
its interest). We received approximately $2,063 in cash from
the disposition of our direct interest.

N O T E  3 . E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of
basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share for
income from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are shown in the table
below.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003

Numerators
Numerator for basic earnings 
per share:
Income from continuing 
operations $4,786 $4,979 $5,859

Dilutive potential common shares:
Other stock-based compensation 10 9 9

Numerator for diluted 
earnings per share $4,796 $4,988 $5,868

Denominators
Denominator for basic earnings 
per share:
Weighted-average number of 
common shares 
outstanding (000,000) 3,368 3,310 3,318

Dilutive potential common 
shares (000,000):
Stock options 1 2 1
Other stock-based compensation 10 10 10

Denominator for diluted 
earnings per share 3,379 3,322 3,329

Basic earnings per share
Income from continuing 
operations $ 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.77

Income from discontinued 
operations — 0.28 0.03

Extraordinary item — — —
Cumulative effect of 

accounting changes — — 0.76

Net income $ 1.42 $ 1.78 $ 2.56

Diluted earnings per share
Income from continuing 
operations $ 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.76

Income from discontinued 
operations — 0.27 0.04

Extraordinary item — — —
Cumulative effect of 

accounting changes — — 0.76

Net income $ 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 2.56

At December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we had issued and
outstanding options to purchase approximately 277 million,
214 million and 231 million shares of AT&T common stock.
The exercise prices of options to purchase a weighted aver-
age of 257 million, 191 million and 212 million shares in
2005, 2004 and 2003 exceeded the average market price of
AT&T stock. Accordingly, we did not include these amounts
in determining the dilutive potential common shares for
the respective periods. At December 31, 2005, the exercise
price of 20 million stock options was below market price.
Of these options, 5 million will expire by the end of 2007.

N O T E  4 . S E G M E N T  I N F O R M AT I O N

Our segments are strategic business units that offer
different products and services and are managed
accordingly. Due to the proximity of our acquisition of
ATTC to year end, we have reported those results in the
AT&T Corp. segment even though there may be some
overlap in the products and services provided by that
segment and our wireline segment. Under GAAP segment
reporting rules, we analyze our various operating segments
based on segment income. Interest expense, interest
income, other income (expense) – net and income tax
expense are managed only on a total company basis and
are, accordingly, reflected only in consolidated results.
Therefore, these items are not included in the calculation
of each segment’s percentage of our consolidated results.
We have six reportable segments that reflect the current
management of our business: (1) wireline, (2) AT&T Corp.,
(3) Cingular, (4) directory, (5) international, and (6) other.

The wireline segment provides both retail and wholesale
landline telecommunications services, including local and
long-distance voice, switched access, data and messaging
services and satellite television services through our agree-
ment with EchoStar Communications Corp. (EchoStar).

The AT&T Corp. segment reflects the results of ATTC for
the 43 days following the November 18, 2005 acquisition.
ATTC operates as both a retail and wholesale seller of
communications services, primarily providing long-distance
and local voice, data and managed networking to business
customers. ATTC also provides local and long-distance voice
and data services to consumers.

The Cingular segment reflects 100% of the results
reported by Cingular, our wireless joint venture. Although
we analyze Cingular’s revenues and expenses under the
Cingular segment, we eliminate the Cingular segment in
our consolidated financial statements. In our consolidated
financial statements, we report our 60% proportionate
share of Cingular’s results as equity in net income of
affiliates. For segment reporting, we report this equity in
net income of affiliates in our other segment.

The directory segment includes our directory operations,
including Yellow and White Pages advertising and
electronic publishing. Results for this segment are shown
under the amortization method, which means that
revenues and direct expenses are recognized ratably over
the life of the directory title, typically 12 months. Results
reflect the September 2004 sale of our interest in the
directory advertising business in Illinois and northwest
Indiana to Donnelley (see Note 2).
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Our international segment includes all investments
with primarily international operations, excluding 
investments acquired as a result of the ATTC acquisition.
The other segment includes results from all corporate and
other operations as well as the Cingular equity income, 
as discussed above.

In the following tables, we show how our segment
results are reconciled to our consolidated results reported
in accordance with GAAP. The Wireline, AT&T Corp.,
Cingular, Directory, International and Other columns
represent the segment results of each such operating
segment. The Wireline column includes revenues from
services sold to Cingular of $815 in 2005, $602 in 2004 and
$539 in 2003. The AT&T Corp. column includes revenues
from services sold to Cingular of $54 in 2005. Since we
account for Cingular using the equity method of accounting,

these revenues are not eliminated upon consolidation and
as such, remain in consolidated revenue. The Consolidation
and Elimination column includes those line items that we
manage on a consolidated basis only: interest expense,
interest income and other income (expense) – net. This
column also eliminates any intercompany transactions
included in each segment’s results. Since our 60% share of
the results from Cingular is already included in the Other
column, the Cingular Elimination column removes the
results of Cingular shown in the Cingular segment. In the
balance sheet section of the tables below, we included
goodwill and other intangibles from the acquisition of
ATTC in the “Segment assets” line item in the AT&T Corp.
column and included our investment in Cingular in the
“Investment in equity method investees” line item in the
Other column ($26,989 in 2005 and $26,830 in 2004).

Segment results, including a reconciliation to AT&T consolidated results, for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

At December 31, 2005 AT&T Consolidation Cingular Consolidated
or for the year ended Wireline Corp. Cingular Directory International Other and Elimination Elimination Results

Revenues from 
external customers1 $37,219 $ 2,880 $34,433 $3,625 $ 10 $ 253 $ (125) $(34,433) $43,862

Intersegment revenues 226 7 — 89 — — (322) — —

Total segment 
operating revenues 37,445 2,887 34,433 3,714 10 253 (447) (34,433) 43,862

Operations and 
support expenses 26,319 2,355 26,034 1,715 28 80 (446) (26,034) 30,051

Depreciation and 
amortization expenses 7,121 414 6,575 5 — 103 — (6,575) 7,643

Total segment 
operating expenses 33,440 2,769 32,609 1,720 28 183 (446) (32,609) 37,694

Segment operating income 4,005 118 1,824 1,994 (18) 70 (1) (1,824) 6,168
Interest expense — — 1,260 — — — 1,456 (1,260) 1,456
Interest income — — 49 — — — 383 (49) 383
Equity in net income of affiliates — 2 5 (5) 395 217 — (5) 609
Other income (expense) – net — — (87) — — — 14 87 14

Segment income 
before income taxes 4,005 120 531 1,989 377 287 (1,060) (531) 5,718

Segment assets 65,363 42,252 79,319 4,041 13,685 120,195 (99,904) (79,319) 145,632
Investment in equity 

method investees — 135 7 64 1,797 27,024 — (7) 29,020
Expenditures for additions 

to long-lived assets 5,296 167 7,475 2 — 111 — (7,475) 5,576
1The Consolidation and Elimination column includes revenues from external customers of $(125) due to items classified differently for segment presentation than for
consolidated presentation.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Dollars in millions except per share amounts

66 –  AT&T INC.  2005 ANNUAL REPORT

At December 31, 2004 AT&T Consolidation Cingular Consolidated
or for the year ended Wireline Corp. Cingular Directory International Other and Elimination Elimination Results

Revenues from 
external customers $36,857 $ — $19,565 $3,665 $ 22 $ 243 $ — $(19,565) $ 40,787

Intersegment revenues 30 — — 94 — 1 (125) — —

Total segment 
operating revenues 36,887 — 19,565 3,759 22 244 (125) (19,565) 40,787

Operations and 
support expenses 25,809 — 14,960 1,644 31 (37) (125) (14,960) 27,322

Depreciation and 
amortization expenses 7,454 — 3,077 9 — 101 — (3,077) 7,564

Total segment 
operating expenses 33,263 — 18,037 1,653 31 64 (125) (18,037) 34,886

Segment operating income 3,624 — 1,528 2,106 (9) 180 — (1,528) 5,901
Interest expense — — 900 — — — 1,023 (900) 1,023
Interest income — — 12 — — — 492 (12) 492
Equity in net income of affiliates — — (415) — 812 61 — 415 873
Other income (expense) – net — — (82) — — — 922 82 922

Segment income 
before income taxes 3,624 — 143 2,106 803 241 391 (143) 7,165

Segment assets 66,086 — 82,238 4,574 14,041 107,825 (82,261) (82,238) 110,265
Investment in equity 

method investees — — 2,676 63 1,494 27,071 — (2,676) 28,628
Expenditures for additions 

to long-lived assets 4,999 — 3,449 1 — 99 — (3,449) 5,099

For the year ended AT&T Consolidation Cingular Consolidated
December 31, 2003 Wireline Corp. Cingular Directory International Other and Elimination Elimination Results

Revenues from 
external customers $36,508 $ — $15,577 $3,701 $ 30 $ 259 $ — $(15,577) $ 40,498

Intersegment revenues 32 — — 72 — 4 (108) — —

Total segment 
operating revenues 36,540 — 15,577 3,773 30 263 (108) (15,577) 40,498

Operations and 
support expenses 24,735 — 11,234 1,637 47 33 (108) (11,234) 26,344

Depreciation and 
amortization expenses 7,763 — 2,089 21 — 86 — (2,089) 7,870

Total segment 
operating expenses 32,498 — 13,323 1,658 47 119 (108) (13,323) 34,214

Segment operating income 4,042 — 2,254 2,115 (17) 144 — (2,254) 6,284
Interest expense — — 856 — — — 1,191 (856) 1,191
Interest income — — 14 — — — 603 (14) 603
Equity in net income of affiliates — — (333) — 606 647 — 333 1,253
Other income (expense) – net — — (74) — — — 1,767 74 1,767

Segment income 
before income taxes 4,042 — 1,005 2,115 589 791 1,179 (1,005) 8,716

Long-lived assets consist primarily of net property, plant
and equipment; goodwill, and; the book value of our
equity investments, which are shown in the table below:

December 31, 2005 2004

United States $ 99,547 $78,806
Mexico 1,564 1,221
Other foreign countries 691 272

Total $101,802 $80,299

Geographic Information
Our investments outside of the United States are primarily
accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
Accordingly, we do not include in our operating revenues
and expenses the revenues and expenses of these
individual investees. Therefore, less than 1% of our total
operating revenues for all years presented are from 
outside the United States.
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Because of the proximity of the ATTC acquisition to year
end, the values of certain ATTC assets are based on
preliminary valuations and are subject to adjustment as
additional information is obtained. (See Note 2)

We also had long-lived intangible assets which were not
presented in the table shown above. At December 31, 2005,
substantially all of our intangible assets consisted of $4,900
from the value of the AT&T trade name and $3,033 of
customer lists. (See Note 14)

N O T E  5 . P R O P E R T Y, P L A N T  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T

Property, plant and equipment is summarized as follows at
December 31:

Lives 
(years) 2005 2004

Land — $ 1,169 $ 643
Buildings 35-45 15,557 11,909
Central office equipment 3-10 57,254 55,703
Cable, wiring and conduit 10-50 55,858 52,860
Other equipment 5-15 12,111 9,749
Software 3 5,539 4,222
Under construction — 1,750 1,091

149,238 136,177

Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization 90,511 86,131

Property, plant and 
equipment - net $ 58,727 $ 50,046

Our depreciation expense was $7,372 in 2005, $7,447 in
2004 and $7,667 in 2003.

Certain facilities and equipment used in operations are
leased under operating or capital leases. Rental expenses
under operating leases were $473 for 2005, $479 for 2004
and $420 for 2003. At December 31, 2005, the future
minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating
leases for the years 2006 through 2010 were $632, $514,
$412, $312 and $239 with $517 due thereafter. Capital
leases are not significant.

During 2005, we had impairments in our wireline
segment of approximately $349 on assets for which we 
do not believe we will recover their value due to the
acquisition of ATTC. The impairments primarily consisted of
$237 due to the write-down of out-of-region assets to
current market value and write-offs of $45 of collocation
assets and $43 of software. The impairments are reflected as
an operating expense in the “Selling, general and adminis-
trative” line on our Consolidated Statements of Income.
SpectraSite Agreement
In August 2000, we reached an agreement with SpectraSite,
Inc. (SpectraSite) under which we granted SpectraSite the
exclusive rights to lease space on a number of our commu-
nications towers. These operating leases were scheduled to
close over a period ending in 2002 (subsequently extended
to 2004). SpectraSite would sublease space on the towers to
Cingular and also agreed to build or buy new towers for
Cingular over the next five years. Cingular’s sublease pay-
ments to SpectraSite reduce Cingular’s net income and par-
tially offset the rental income we receive from SpectraSite.

Under the terms of the original agreement, we received
a combination of cash and stock as complete prepayment
of rent with the closing of each leasing agreement. 

The value of the prepayments were recorded as deferred
revenue and recognized in income as revenue over the life
of the leases. In November 2001, we received $35 from
SpectraSite in consideration for amending the agreement
to reduce the maximum number of towers subject to its
terms and to extend the schedule for tower closings until
the first quarter of 2004. The balance of deferred revenue
was $598 in 2005, $628 in 2004 and $605 in 2003.

In late 2002, SpectraSite and certain of its senior debt
holders agreed to restructure its debt. To effect the
restructuring, SpectraSite filed a “prearranged” plan of
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code. We agreed with SpectraSite, subject to
completion of its Chapter 11 reorganization, to decrease
the number of towers to be leased to SpectraSite and to
extend the schedule for tower closing until the third
quarter of 2004. In addition, we exchanged all of our
shares in SpectraSite for warrants to purchase shares
representing less than 1% of the restructured company
with no significant financial impact on us; we disposed 
of this interest in 2005. SpectraSite emerged from 
bankruptcy in 2003.

N O T E  6 . E Q U I T Y  M E T H O D  I N V E S T M E N T S

We account for our nationwide wireless joint venture,
Cingular, and our investments in equity affiliates under 
the equity method of accounting.

Cingular The following table is a reconciliation of our
investments in and advances to Cingular as presented on
our Consolidated Balance Sheets:

2005 2004

Beginning of year $33,687 $11,003
Contributions — 21,688
Equity in net income 200 30
Other adjustments (2,483) 966

End of year $31,404 $33,687

Undistributed earnings from Cingular were $2,711 and
$2,511 at December 31, 2005 and 2004. “Other adjust-
ments” in 2005 included the net activity of $2,442 under
our revolving credit agreement with Cingular, consisting 
of a reduction of $1,747 (reflecting Cingular’s repayment 
of their shareholder loan during 2005) and a decrease of
$695 (reflecting Cingular’s net repayment of their 
revolving credit balance during 2005) (see Note 15).

During 2004, we made an equity contribution to
Cingular in connection with its acquisition of AT&T Wireless
(see Note 16). “Other adjustments” in 2004 included the
net activity of $972 under our revolving credit agreement
with Cingular, consisting of a reduction of $30 (reflecting
Cingular’s repayment of advances during 2004) and an
increase of $1,002 (reflecting the December 31, 2004
balance of advances to Cingular under this revolving credit
agreement).

We account for our 60% economic interest in Cingular
under the equity method of accounting in our consolidated
financial statements since we share control equally (i.e.,
50/50) with our 40% economic partner in the joint venture.
We have equal voting rights and representation on the
Board of Directors that controls Cingular.
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The following table presents summarized financial
information for Cingular at December 31, or for the year
then ended:

2005 2004 2003

Income Statements
Operating revenues $34,433 $19,565 $15,577
Operating income 1,824 1,528 2,254
Net income 333 201 977

Balance Sheets
Current assets $ 6,049 $ 5,570
Noncurrent assets 73,270 76,668
Current liabilities 10,008 7,983
Noncurrent liabilities 24,333 29,719

We have made a subordinated loan to Cingular that totaled
$4,108 and $5,855 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, which
matures in June 2008. This loan bears interest at an annual
rate of 6.0%. During 2005, Cingular repaid $1,747 to reduce
the balance of this loan in accordance with the terms of a
revolving credit agreement. We earned interest income on
this loan of $311 during 2005, $354 in 2004 and $397 in
2003. This interest income does not have a material impact
on our net income as it is mostly offset when we record our
share of equity income in Cingular. (See Note 15)

Other Equity Method Investments Our investments in
equity affiliates include primarily international investments.
As of December 31, 2005, our investments in equity
affiliates included an 8.2% interest in Teléfonos de México,
S.A. de C.V. (Telmex), Mexico’s national telecommunications
company, and a 7.9% interest in América Móvil S.A. de C.V.
(América Móvil), primarily a wireless provider in Mexico,
with telecommunications investments in the United States
and Latin America. We are a member of a consortium that
holds all of the class AA shares of Telmex stock, represent-
ing voting control of the company. Another member of the
consortium, Carso Global Telecom, S.A. de C.V., has the
right to appoint a majority of the directors of Telmex. 
We also are a member of a consortium that holds all of the
class AA shares of América Móvil stock, representing voting
control of the company. Another member of the consor-
tium, Americas Telecom S.A. de C. V., has the right to
appoint a majority of the directors of América Móvil.

The following table is a reconciliation of our investments
in equity affiliates as presented on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets:

2005 2004

Beginning of year $1,798 $6,924
Additional investments 6 100
Equity in net income 409 843
Dividends received (158) (331)
Currency translation adjustments 66 (53)
Dispositions (228) (4,995)
Other adjustments 138 (690)

End of year $2,031 $1,798

Undistributed earnings from equity affiliates were $1,615
and $1,377 at December 31, 2005 and 2004. The currency
translation adjustment for 2005 primarily reflects the effect
of exchange rate fluctuations on our investments in Telmex
and América Móvil. Dispositions for 2005 primarily reflect

the dissolution of a wireless partnership. “Other adjust-
ments” for 2005 include equity investment balances at
December 31, 2005, acquired as part of our acquisition 
of ATTC totaling approximately $135, which includes 
our 49% economic interest in Alestra S. de R.L. de C.V., 
a telecommunications company in Mexico.

The currency translation adjustment for 2004 primarily
reflects the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on our
investments in TDC, Telmex and Telkom. Dispositions for
2004 reflect the sale of TDC shares of $2,619, Belgacom
shares of $1,190, Telkom shares of $1,114 (see Note 2),
Telmex L shares of $63 and América Móvil L shares of $9.
“Other adjustments” for 2004 include an adjustment of
$686 resulting from our change from the equity method 
to the cost method of accounting for our investment in
TDC (see Note 2).

During 2004, we sold our entire investment in Danish
telecommunications provider TDC for approximately 
$2,864 in cash. We reported a net loss of approximately
$138 ($66 net of tax). We also sold our entire investment in
South African telecommunications provider Telkom during
2004 for approximately $1,186 in cash. We reported a net
loss of approximately $82 ($55 net of tax). See Note 2 for
details of these transactions.

Following our initial disposition of part of TDC, the
remaining portion was reclassified to a cost investment,
reflected in “Other adjustments” in the table above. 
As noted, that remaining investment was also sold 
during 2004.

In March 2004, in connection with Belgacom’s IPO, 
we disposed of our entire investment in Belgacom. We
received approximately $2,063 in cash from the disposition
of our direct interest and reported a combined direct and
indirect net gain of approximately $1,067 ($715 net of tax).
See Note 2 for details of this transaction.

In November 2004, a subsidiary in our directory segment
entered into a joint venture agreement with BellSouth
Corporation (BellSouth) and purchased the internet 
directory publisher YELLOWPAGES.COM (YPC) for approxi-
mately $98, our portion of which was $65.

The following table presents summarized financial
information of our significant international investments
accounted for using the equity method, taking into
account all adjustments necessary to conform to GAAP but
excluding our purchase adjustments, including goodwill, 
at December 31 or for the year then ended. As noted
above, during 2004 we completely disposed of our invest-
ments in TDC, Belgacom and Telkom. Accordingly, those
investments are not included in the 2005 or 2004 column 
in the table below.

2005 2004 2003

Income Statements
Operating revenues $30,521 $22,800 $34,747
Operating income 7,773 6,487 9,067
Net income 4,254 4,131 4,689

Balance Sheets
Current assets $ 6,990 $ 5,101
Noncurrent assets 27,801 21,280
Current liabilities 9,404 5,493
Noncurrent liabilities 13,588 12,280
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At December 31, 2005, we had goodwill of approximately
$316 related to our significant international investments in
equity affiliates.

The fair value of our investment in Telmex, based on the
equivalent value of Telmex L shares at December 31, 2005,
was approximately $2,221. The fair value of our investment
in América Móvil, based on the equivalent value of
América Móvil L shares at December 31, 2005, was approxi-
mately $4,198. Our weighted-average share of operating
revenues shown above was approximately 8% in 2005 and
2004 and 17% in 2003.

N O T E  7 . D E B T

Long-term debt of AT&T and its subsidiaries, including
interest rates and maturities, is summarized as follows at
December 31:

2005 2004

Notes and debentures1

Interest Rates Maturities

0.00% – 5.98% 2005 – 20542 $12,292 $11,105
6.00% – 7.85% 2005 – 20433 12,678 11,429
8.25% – 11.08% 2005 – 2031 4,418 141

29,388 22,675
Unamortized net premium (discount) 639 (142)

Total notes and debentures 30,027 22,533
Capitalized leases 115 35

Total long-term debt, including 
current maturities 30,142 22,568

Current maturities of long-term debt (4,027) (1,337)

Total long-term debt $26,115 $21,231
1The fair value of our variable rate interest rate swaps was reported with its cor-
responding debt (see Note 8).

2Includes $1,000 of 4.18% Puttable Reset Securities (PURS) maturing in 2021 with
a put option by holder in 2006. If the option by holder to elect repayment is
exercised in 2006, we intend to refinance that amount with long-term debt.

3Includes $125 of 6.35% debentures maturing in 2026 with a put option by 
holder in 2006. If the option by holder to elect repayment is exercised in 2006,
we intend to refinance that amount with long-term debt.

On November 18, 2005, we assumed $8,293 in long-term
debt, including capital leases, related to our acquisition of
ATTC. ATTC’s debt included both fixed and floating-rate
coupons with a weighted average rate of approximately
8.6% (ranging from 3.87% to 9.75%) and had maturities
ranging from 2006 to 2054. Included in our “Total notes
and debentures” balance in the table above was the face
value of acquired debt from ATTC of $6,910, which had a
carrying amount of $7,694 at December 31, 2005.

Included in the table above at December 31, 2005, was
approximately $784 representing the remaining excess 
of the fair value over the recorded value of debt in
connection with the acquisition of ATTC, of which $747 
was included in our “Unamortized net premium (discount)”
and $37 was included in our “Current maturities of long-
term debt.” The excess is amortized over the remaining
lives of the underlying debt obligations.

At December 31, 2005, the aggregate principal amounts
of long-term debt and weighted-average interest rate
scheduled for repayment for the years 2005 through 2009,
excluding the effect of interest rate swaps and the remain-
ing excess of the fair value over the recorded value of debt

of approximately $37 mentioned above, were $3,990
(6.2%), $1,129 (6.6%), $1,208 (5.6%), $4,094 (5.0%) and
$1,148 (5.1%) with $17,913 (6.8%) due thereafter. As of
December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with all
covenants and conditions of instruments governing our
debt. Substantially all of our outstanding long-term debt 
is unsecured.

Financing Activities
Debt During 2005, we used a portion of our available
excess cash from operations to repay our current and long-
term debt. Debt repayments totaled $6,801 and consisted of:

• $4,077 related to commercial paper borrowings.
• $1,077 related to debt maturities with interest rates

ranging from 6.25% to 9.50%.
• $1,347 related to our early redemption of debt, which

included $26 of call premiums.
• $238 related to the exercise of a put option on our

5.95% notes originally maturing in 2038.
• $42 related to net repayments on other short-term

borrowings.
• $20 related to scheduled principal payments on other

debt.
In November 2005, we received net proceeds of $1,973

from the issuance of $2,000 of long-term debt consisting of
$500 of three-year floating rate notes, with an initial rate
of 4.52%; $1,000 of 5.30% five-year notes; and $500 from
the reopening of our 6.15% 30-year bonds maturing in 2034.

Debt maturing within one year consists of the following
at December 31:

2005 2004

Current maturities of long-term debt $4,027 $1,337
Commercial paper 320 4,397
Bank borrowings1 108 —

Total $4,455 $5,734
1Primarily represents borrowings, the availability of which is contingent on the
level of cash held by some of our foreign subsidiaries.

The weighted-average interest rate on commercial paper
debt at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was 4.31% and
2.26%.

Credit Facility We have a three-year credit agreement
totaling $6,000 with a syndicate of banks, which expires on
October 18, 2007. Advances under this agreement may be
used for general corporate purposes, including support 
of commercial paper borrowings and other short-term 
borrowings. There is no material adverse change provision
governing the drawdown of advances under this credit
agreement. We are in compliance with all covenants under
the agreement. We had no borrowings outstanding under
committed lines of credit as of December 31, 2005 or 2004.

We are subject to a debt-to-EBITDA (a metric defined in
the agreement and nominally representing earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization; although
other adjustments are also included) covenant, and if
advances are received, we are subject to a negative pledge
covenant, both as defined in the agreement. Defaults
under the agreement, which would permit the lenders to
accelerate required payment, include nonpayment of prin-
cipal or interest beyond any applicable grace period; failure
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by AT&T or any subsidiary to pay when due other debt
above a threshold amount that results in acceleration of that
debt (commonly referred to as “cross-acceleration”) or
commencement by a creditor of enforcement proceedings
within a specified period after a money judgment above a
threshold amount has become final; acquisition by any
person of beneficial ownership of more than 50% of AT&T
common shares or a change of more than a majority of
AT&T’s directors in any 24-month period other than as
elected by the remaining directors (commonly referred to as
a “change of control”); material breaches of representations
in the agreement; failure to comply with the negative
pledge or debt-to-EBITDA ratio covenants described above;
failure to comply with other covenants for a specified period
after notice; failure by AT&T or certain affiliates to make
certain minimum funding payments under the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA);
and specified events of bankruptcy or insolvency.

N O T E  8 . F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of our long-
term debt, including current maturities, and other financial
instruments, are summarized as follows at December 31:

2005 2004

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Notes and debentures $30,027 $30,735 $22,533 $23,628
Commercial paper 320 320 4,397 4,397
Bank borrowings 108 108 — —
Cingular shareholder 

loan 4,108 4,108 5,855 5,855
Available-for-sale 

equity securities 648 648 732 732
EchoStar note receivable 465 447 453 453
Preferred stock of 

subsidiaries 43 43 393 393

The fair values of our notes and debentures were estimated
based on quoted market prices, where available, or on the
net present value method of expected future cash flows
using current interest rates. The carrying value of debt with
an original maturity of less than one year approximates
market value. The carrying amount of commercial paper
borrowings approximates fair value.

Our shareholder loan to Cingular is recorded at face
value, and the carrying amounts approximate fair values.
The fair value of our EchoStar note receivable was esti-
mated based on a third-party valuation. The carrying
amount of this note was based on the present value of
cash and interest payments, which will be accreted on the
note up to the face value of $500 on a straight-line basis
through August 2008.

Our available-for-sale equity securities are carried at fair
value, and realized gains and losses on these equity
securities were included in “Other income (expense) – net”
on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The fair value
of our available-for-sale equity securities was principally
determined based on quoted market prices and the 
carrying amount of the remaining securities approximates
fair value. Gross realized gains on our available-for-sale
equity securities were $110 in 2005, $323 in 2004 and

$1,775 in 2003. Gross realized losses on these securities
were $1 in 2005, $191 in 2004 and $0 in 2003. These gains
and losses were determined using the specific 
identification method. Our proceeds from the sales of 
our available-for-sale equity securities were $125 in 2005,
$3,188 in 2004 and $2,975 in 2003.

Our short-term investments, other short-term and long-
term held-to-maturity investments and customer deposits
are recorded at amortized cost, and the carrying amounts
approximate fair values. In addition, we held other short-
term held-to-maturity securities of $3 at December 31, 2005
compared to $99 at December 31, 2004.

Preferred Stock Issuances In November 2005, we issued
768,391.4 shares of Perpetual Cumulative Preferred Stock
(AT&T preferred stock), par value $1 per share. The AT&T
preferred stock was issued to replace each share of 
ATTC preferred stock that was issued and outstanding 
prior to the November 18, 2005 acquisition and is held by 
a subsidiary of ATTC. (See Note 2)

Preferred Stock Issuances by Subsidiaries In the fourth
quarter of 2002, we restructured our holdings in certain
investments, including Sterling. As part of this restructuring,
a newly created subsidiary issued approximately $43 of
preferred stock, which was included in “Other noncurrent
liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
preferred stock will accumulate dividends at an annual 
rate of 5.79% and can be converted, at the option of the
holder, to common stock (but not a controlling interest) 
of the subsidiary at any time.

In June 1997 and December 1999, an AT&T subsidiary
issued $250 and $100 of preferred stock in private
placements. In December 2005, we redeemed these
subsidiary-issued preferred stock private placements.

In November 2005, we repaid approximately $378 of
preferred securities previously issued by an AT&T subsidiary,
which was related to an internal restructuring of our
ownership in several investments.

Letters of Credit Letters of credit are guarantees we
purchase, which ensure our performance or payment to
third parties in accordance with specified terms and
conditions. Management has determined that our letters 
of credit do not create additional risk to us. The notional
amounts outstanding at December 31, 2005, were
approximately $623 and the fair values of the letters of
credit, based on the fees paid to obtain the obligations,
were approximately $1.

Derivatives We use interest rate swaps, interest rate
forward contracts and foreign currency exchange contracts
to manage our market risk changes in interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. We do not use financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes. Each swap matches the
exact maturity dates of the underlying debt to which they
are related, allowing for perfectly effective hedges. Each
utilized forward contract matches the interest payments 
of the underlying debt to which they are related, allowing
for perfectly effective hedges.

Interest Rate Swaps We had fair value interest rate
swaps with a notional value of $4,250 at December 31,
2005 and 2004, with a net carrying and fair value liability
of approximately $16 and a carrying and fair value asset of
$79, respectively. The net fair value liability of $16 at
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December 31, 2005, was comprised of a liability of $33 and
an asset of $17.

Interest Rate Locks In November 2005, we entered into
an interest rate forward contract with a notional amount
of $500 to partially hedge interest expense related to
refinancing a portion of our debt maturities in 2006. 
In November 2005, we utilized the notional amount of this
interest rate forward contract, and incurred settlement
costs of approximately $2. During 2004, we utilized a
notional amount of $1,500 of interest rate forward
contracts, and incurred settlement costs of approximately
$302 ($196 net of tax benefit). During 2006, we expect to
reclassify into earnings between $6 to $7, net of tax, of the
previously mentioned settlement expenses.

Interest Rate Foreign Currency Swaps We have
combined interest rate foreign currency swap agreements
for Euro-denominated debt, which hedge our risk to both
interest rate and currency movements. At December 31,
2005, the notional amounts related to these contracts were
$636, which were not designated for accounting purposes.
The carrying value of these swaps at December 31, 2005
was an asset of $233. These swaps are valued using current
market quotes, which were obtained from dealers.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts We enter into
foreign currency forward contracts to manage our
exposure to changes in currency exchange rates related to
foreign-currency-denominated transactions. At December
31, 2005, our foreign exchange contracts consisted
principally of Euros, British pound sterling, Danish krone
and Japanese Yen. At December 31, 2005, the notional
amounts under contract were $623, of which $18 were
designated as net investment hedges. The remaining
contracts were not designated for accounting purposes.
There was no ineffectiveness recognized in earnings for
these contracts during 2005. These foreign exchange
contracts had a net carrying and fair value liability of $8,
comprised of a liability of $13 and an asset of $5. These
contracts were valued using current market quotes, which
were obtained from independent sources.

N O T E  9 . I N C O M E  TA X E S

Significant components of our deferred tax liabilities
(assets) are as follows at December 31:

2005 2004

Depreciation and amortization $13,921 $13,725
Intangibles (nonamortizable) 1,874 —
Equity in foreign affiliates 727 706
Employee benefits (4,897) (2,197)
Currency translation adjustments (272) (300)
Allowance for uncollectibles (351) (320)
Unamortized investment tax credits (79) (73)
Other – net 2,146 3,358

Subtotal 13,069 14,899
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance 627 145

Net deferred tax liabilities $13,696 $15,044

Net long-term deferred tax liabilities $15,713 $15,621
Less: net current deferred tax assets (2,011) (566)
Less: other assets (6) (11)

Net deferred tax liabilities $13,696 $15,044

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, net deferred tax liabilities
include a deferred tax asset of $542 and $605 relating to
compensation expense under FAS 123(R). Full realization 
of this deferred tax asset requires stock options to be
exercised at a price equaling or exceeding the sum of the
strike price plus the fair value of the option at the grant
date. The provisions of FAS 123(R), however, do not allow a
valuation allowance to be recorded unless the company’s
future taxable income is expected to be insufficient to
recover the asset. Accordingly, there can be no assurance
that the stock price of AT&T common shares will rise to
levels sufficient to realize the entire tax benefit currently
reflected in our balance sheet. See Note 12 for additional
discussion of FAS 123(R).

The change in the valuation allowance for 2005 is
primarily the result of the acquisition of ATTC. Other
changes are the result of an evaluation of the uncertainty
associated with the realization of certain deferred tax assets
unrelated to FAS 123(R). Future adjustments to the valua-
tion allowance attributable to the ATTC opening balance
sheet items may be required to be allocated to goodwill
and other purchased intangibles. The valuation allowance 
is maintained in deferred tax assets for certain federal and
state loss carryforwards, expiring through 2025, that may
not be realized.

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Federal:
Current $1,385 $1,145 $ (528)
Deferred – net (681) 843 3,046
Amortization of investment 

tax credits (21) (32) (24)

683 1,956 2,494

State, local and foreign:
Current 226 427 (37)
Deferred – net 23 (197) 400

249 230 363

Total $ 932 $2,186 $2,857

A reconciliation of income tax expense and the amount
computed by applying the statutory federal income tax
rate (35%) to income before income taxes, income from
discontinued operations, extraordinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting changes is as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Taxes computed at federal 
statutory rate $2,001 $2,508 $3,051

Increases (decreases) in 
income taxes resulting from:

State and local income 
taxes – net of federal 
income tax benefit 176 213 241

Effects of international 
operations (70) (222) (230)

Medicare reimbursements (95) (89) (8)
Tax settlements (902) (65) (41)
Other – net (178) (159) (156)

Total $ 932 $2,186 $2,857
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In December 2005, we reached an agreement with the IRS
to settle certain claims, principally related to the utilization
of capital losses and tax credits for years 1997-1999.
Included in the settlement was relief from previous
assessments and agreement on multiple items challenged
by the IRS in the course of routine audits. As we had
previously paid the assessments in full and filed refund
claims with the IRS, the settlement resulted in our recogni-
tion of approximately $902 of reduced income tax expense
in 2005 and a corresponding increase in net income.

Effects of international operations include items such as
foreign tax credits, sales of foreign investments and the
effects of undistributed earnings from international
operations. Deferred taxes are not provided on the
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries operating outside 
the United States that have been or are intended to be
permanently reinvested.

N O T E  1 0 . P E N S I O N  A N D  P O S T R E T I R E M E N T  B E N E F I T S

We acquired ATTC on November 18, 2005. ATTC sponsored
noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering
the majority of its U.S. employees. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87,
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (FAS 87) and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106

“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions” (FAS 106), when an employer is acquired as
part of a merger, any excess of projected benefit obligation
over the plan assets is recognized as a liability and any
excess of plan assets over the projected benefit obligation
is recognized as a plan asset. The recognition of a new
liability or a new asset by the acquirer, at the date of the
merger, results in the elimination of any (a) previously
existing unrecognized net gain or loss, (b) unrecognized
prior service cost and (c) unrecognized net transition
obligation. In addition, the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligations are to be measured using actuarial
assumptions and terms of the substantive plans, as
determined by the purchaser. As such, and consistent 
with our practice, we did not account for the annual dollar
value cap of labor contracts in the value of the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation for the ATTC postretire-
ment benefit plans (i.e., we assumed the cap would be
waived for all future contract periods). All other significant
weighted-average assumptions used were determined based
on our policies that are discussed below in “Assumptions.”

The reconciliation of the December 31, 2004 funded
status of ATTC’s U.S. plans, excluding supplemental retire-
ment plans, and status of those plans subsequent to the
merger are as follows:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
Pre-merger Post-merger Pre-merger Post-merger

Benefit obligations $(16,178) $(16,942) $(5,813) $(9,129)
Fair value of plan assets 18,510 18,917 2,313 2,429

Funded (unfunded) benefit obligation 2,332 1,975 (3,500) (6,700)

Unrecognized net loss 949 — 1,298 —
Unrecognized prior service cost 356 — 53 —

Net amount recorded $ 3,637 $ 1,975 $(2,149) $(6,700)

In subsequent periods, net periodic pension cost for ATTC
will exclude any amortization of either the unrecognized
loss or the unrecognized prior service cost existing at the
date of the merger. However, the funding of ATTC’s plans is
not directly affected by the merger. The basis of funding,
over time, will reflect the past amendments and losses 
that underlie those amounts. As they are reflected in the
funding process, contributions will, in some periods, exceed
the net pension cost, and that will reduce the liability
(unfunded accrued pension cost) recognized at the date 
of acquisition.

Pension Benefits
Substantially all of our U.S. employees are covered by one
of our noncontributory pension and death benefit plans. 
At December 31, 2005, management employees from the
legacy SBC operations participated in pension plans that
require that all future benefit accruals be based upon the
plan’s traditional pension formula (i.e., a stated percentage
of employees’ adjusted career income). Effective January
15, 2005, the management pension plan for those
employees was amended to freeze benefit accruals

previously earned under a cash balance formula. Each
employee’s existing cash balance continues to earn interest
at a variable annual rate. After this change, those
management employees, at retirement, can elect to receive
the portion of their pension benefit derived under the cash
balance or defined lump sum as a lump sum or an annuity.
The remaining pension benefit, if any, will be paid as an
annuity if its value exceeds a stated monthly amount. 
ATTC management employees participate in a cash balance
pension plan. The pension benefit formula for most 
nonmanagement employees is based on a flat dollar
amount per year according to job classification. Most 
nonmanagement employees can elect to receive their 
pension benefits in either a lump sum payment or an 
annuity.

Postretirement Benefits
We provide certain medical, dental and life insurance
benefits to certain retired employees under various plans
and accrue actuarially determined postretirement benefit
costs as active employees earn these benefits.



AT&T INC.  2005 ANNUAL REPORT  –  73

Obligations and Funded Status
For defined benefit pension plans, the benefit obligation is
the “projected benefit obligation,” the actuarial present
value, as of the measurement date, of all benefits
attributed by the pension benefit formula to employee
service rendered to that date. The amount of benefit to be
paid depends on a number of future events incorporated
into the pension benefit formula, including estimates of
the average life of employees/survivors and average years

of service rendered. It is measured based on assumptions
concerning future interest rates and future employee
compensation levels.

For postretirement benefit plans, the benefit obligation
is the “accumulated postretirement benefit obligation,”
the actuarial present value as of a date of all future
benefits attributed under the terms of the postretirement
benefit plan to employee service rendered to that date.

We use a December 31 measurement date for calculating the values reported for plan assets and benefit obligations for our
plans. The following table presents this reconciliation and shows the change in the projected benefit obligation for the years
ended December 31:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2005 2004 2005 2004

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $28,189 $27,617 $25,114 $27,231
Service cost – benefits earned during the period 804 818 390 383
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,725 1,642 1,496 1,495
Amendments (2) (87) (442) (2,320)
Actuarial loss (gain) 1,182 774 613 (423)
Special termination benefits 15 29 2 3
Curtailments — — (77) —
Benefits paid (2,679) (2,604) (1,234) (1,255)
Merger with ATTC 16,942 — 9,129 —
Other — — 234 —

Benefit obligation at end of year $46,176 $28,189 $35,225 $25,114

The following table presents the change in the value of plan assets for the years ended December 31 and the plans’ funded
status at December 31:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2005 2004 2005 2004

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $29,813 $28,154 $ 8,692 $ 6,967
Actual return on plan assets 2,704 3,259 677 830
Employer contribution — 1,001 — 1,232
Benefits paid1 (2,679) (2,601) (381) (337)
Merger with ATTC 18,917 — 2,429 —

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $48,755 $29,813 $ 11,417 $ 8,692

Funded (unfunded) status (fair value of plan assets 
less benefit obligation)2 $ 2,579 $ 1,624 $(23,808) $(16,422)

Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit) 768 968 (3,073) (3,022)
Unrecognized net loss 7,804 6,748 10,423 10,173
Unamortized transition asset — (11) — —

Net amount recognized $11,151 $ 9,329 $(16,458) $ (9,271)
1Pension benefits paid include benefits transferred between plans during the year. At our discretion, certain postretirement benefits are paid from AT&T cash accounts and
do not reduce Voluntary Employee Beneficiary Association (VEBA) assets. Future benefit payments may be made from VEBA trusts and thus reduce those asset balances.

2Funded status is not indicative of our ability to pay ongoing pension benefits nor of our obligation to fund retirement trusts. Required pension funding is determined in
accordance with ERISA regulations.

Amounts recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 are listed below:
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2005 2004 2005 2004

Prepaid pension cost1 $12,699 $9,329 $ — $ —
Additional minimum pension liability2 (1) (1) — —
Intangible asset — — — —
Deferred tax asset — — — —
Employee benefit obligation2 (1,548) — (16,458) (9,271)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1 1 — —

Net amount recognized $11,151 $9,329 $(16,458) $(9,271)
1Included in “Other Assets.”
2Included in “Postemployment benefit obligation.”
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Included in “Postemployment benefit obligation” on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 was a
reduction in the liability associated with the “1983
Unfunded Postretirement Benefits Cost Sharing Agreement”
and “1983 Force Adjustment Cost-Reimbursement and
Indemnification Agreement” (Agreements). Under the
Agreements, the Bell System Companies (RBOCs) (which
included the former SBC) agreed to provide postemploy-
ment benefits to those employees of ATTC who retired prior
to the 1983 reorganization that divided ATTC. As part of 
the Agreement, ATTC agreed to reimburse RBOCs for post-
employment benefits paid to these retirees. Since ATTC
agreed to provide reimbursement, the accumulated
postemployment benefits recorded on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets prior to the November 18, 2005 acquisition
of ATTC did not include these expected payments. Upon the
merger, we no longer will receive third-party reimburse-
ment for these liabilities and have accordingly increased our
benefit obligation by $234. ATTC maintains the Agreements
with the remaining RBOCs and we include estimated
amounts subject to reimbursement on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets as “Other noncurrent liabilities.”

Also included in “Postemployment benefit obligation”
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004
were phone concessions for out-of-region retirees of the
former SBC. The out-of-region phone concession, which is
not part of the pension plan and not subject to ERISA,
allowed for out-of-region retirees to receive reimburse-
ments for phone services provided by a carrier other than
the former SBC. During 2005, we notified out-of-region
retirees of changes which allowed us to reduce this
obligation by approximately $96.

In December 2004, we announced a prospective change
in the calculation of pension benefits provided to legacy
SBC management employees. Effective January 15, 2005, 
the pension calculation formula for management employees 
is now based upon a stated percentage of employees’
adjusted career income. When we initially implemented 
the cash balance formula, the change in liability required
the establishment of a prior service cost deferral for the
plan. With the current change to eliminate future service
contributions to the cash balance plan, we determined
during our annual review of prior service costs that the
cash balance prior service cost was impaired and that the
remaining amounts deferred must be immediately
recognized. Accordingly, we wrote off approximately 
$99 of prior service cost in 2004.

Effective January 1, 2005, medical coverage for legacy
SBC nonmanagement retirees was amended to increase 
co-pays and deductibles for prescription drugs and certain
medical services.

In December 2005, we agreed to new contracts with 
the Communications Workers of America (CWA) and
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW) for
certain employees covered under labor agreements
previously negotiated by ATTC. The new labor agreements
are for three years and four months, cover approximately
11,000 employees and replace three-year contracts that
expired in December 2005. The union members ratified the
labor agreements which provide for employment security
and changes to active nonmanagement employees’ pension
benefits and medical coverage.

During 2004, we agreed to new five-year labor
agreements with the CWA and the IBEW for legacy SBC
nonmanagement employees. The agreements provided for
additional contributions from current employees toward
certain medical and prescription drug co-pays. We also
agreed in an agreement with the CWA, that prior to
expiration of the agreement, we would contribute $2,000
to a VEBA trust to partially fund current and future retiree
health care, $1,000 of which was contributed during 2004.

Shown below is a summary of our pension obligations
and the fair value of pension assets for the years ended
December 31:

2005 2004

Projected benefit obligation $46,176 $28,189
Accumulated benefit obligation 44,139 26,849
Fair value of plan assets 48,755 29,813

The accumulated benefit obligation for our pension plans
represents the actuarial present value of benefits based on
employee service and compensation as of a certain date
and does not include an assumption about future
compensation levels. On a plan-by-plan basis, if the
accumulated benefit obligation for our pension plan
exceeds that plan’s assets and at least this amount has 
not been accrued, an additional minimum liability must 
be recognized, partially offset by an intangible asset for
unrecognized prior service cost, with the remainder a direct
charge to equity, net of deferred tax benefits. These items
are included in the table above that presents the amounts
recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31. At December 31, 2005, for one of our
pension plans, the accumulated benefit obligation
exceeded plan assets by less than $1. This resulted in an
additional minimum liability of $1 (net of deferred taxes 
of $1). At December 31, 2004, for one of our pension 
plans, the accumulated benefit obligation of $2 exceeded
plan assets of $1. This resulted in an additional minimum
liability of $1 (net of deferred taxes of less than $1). These
reclassifications in equity, while adjusting comprehensive
income, will not affect our future results of operations 
or cash flows.
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Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Our combined net pension and postretirement cost recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Income was $1,336,
$1,287 and $1,835 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The following table presents the components
of net pension and postemployment benefit cost (gains are denoted with parentheses and losses are not):

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Service cost – benefits earned during the period $ 804 $ 818 $ 732 $ 390 $ 383 $ 378
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,725 1,642 1,666 1,496 1,495 1,602
Expected return on plan assets (2,736) (2,684) (2,456) (781) (720) (525)
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit) and transition asset 186 188 94 (344) (349) (122)
Recognized actuarial loss 156 44 53 440 470 413

Net pension and postretirement cost1 $ 135 $ 8 $ 89 $1,201 $1,279 $1,746
1During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medicare Act) reduced postretirement benefit cost by $304,
$255 and $22. This effect is included in several line items above.

Assumptions
In determining the projected benefit obligation and the
net pension and postemployment benefit cost, we used the
following significant weighted-average assumptions:

2005 2004 2003

Discount rate for determining 
projected benefit obligation 
at December 31 5.75% 6.00% 6.25%

Discount rate in effect for 
determining net cost (benefit)1 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%

Long-term rate of return 
on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%

Composite rate of compensation 
increase for determining
projected benefit obligation 
at December 31 4.00% 4.00% 4.25%

Composite rate of 
compensation increase 
for net pension cost (benefit) 4.00% 4.25% 4.25%

1Discount rate in effect for determining net cost (benefit) of ATTC pension and
postretirement plans for the 43-day period ended December 31, 2005 was 5.75%.

Primarily resulting from assumption changes for 2006, we
expect combined net pension and postretirement costs of
between $1,700 and $1,800 in 2006. Approximately 10% of
these costs will be capitalized as part of construction labor,
providing a small reduction in the net expense recorded.
While we will continue our cost-cutting efforts, certain fac-
tors, such as investment returns, depend largely on trends
in the U.S. securities markets and the general U.S. economy.
In particular, uncertainty in the securities markets and U.S.

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, as part of our workforce
reduction programs, an enhanced retirement program was
offered to eligible Pacific Telesis Group (PTG) nonmanage-
ment employees. This program offered eligible employees
who voluntarily decided to terminate employment an
enhanced pension benefit and increased eligibility for
postretirement medical, dental and life insurance benefits.
Employees who accepted this offer and terminated
employment before December 31 totaled approximately 71
in 2005, 144 in 2004 and 339 in 2003. In addition to the net
costs reported in the tables above, enhanced pension
benefits related to this program were recognized as an
expense of approximately $11 in 2005, $22 in 2004 and 
$42 in 2003; enhanced benefits related to the PTG nonman-
agement early retirement program were recognized as
expenses of $1, $3 and $2 in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

The IRS determines monthly interest rates applicable for
calculations of lump sum payments from pension plans
(plan sponsors may elect whether the interest rate changes
apply monthly, quarterly or annually). An increase in the
interest rate has a negative impact on the lump sum
pension calculation for some of our employees. During
certain quarters of 2004 and 2003, we chose to extend the
pension plan lump sum benefit payout rate for a specified
period of time, allowing our employees to receive a higher
payout of their pension benefits. The extension of the 
lump sum benefit payout rate was accounted for as a
special termination benefit and was recorded in addition to
the net pension cost reported in the tables above. We rec-
ognized expenses of approximately $7 in 2004 and $28 in
2003 associated with these special termination benefits.
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economy could result in investment returns less than those
assumed and a decline in the value of plan assets used in
pension and postretirement calculations, which under
GAAP we will recognize over the next several years. Should
the securities markets decline and medical and prescription
drug costs continue to increase significantly, we would
expect increasing annual combined net pension and 
postretirement costs for the next several years. Additionally,
should actual experience differ from actuarial assumptions,
combined net pension and postretirement cost would be
affected in future years.

Discount Rate Our assumed discount rate of 5.75% at
December 31, 2005 reflects the hypothetical rate at which
the projected benefit obligations could be effectively
settled or paid out to participants on that date. We deter-
mined our discount rate based on a range of factors,
including the rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income
corporate bonds available at the measurement date and
the related expected duration for the obligations. For each
year, at December 31, 2005 and 2004 we reduced the dis-
count rate by 0.25%, resulting in an increase in our pension 
plan benefit obligation of approximately $609 in 2005 
and $575 in 2004 and an increase in our postretirement
benefit obligation of approximately $844 in 2005 and 
$803 in 2004. Should actual experience differ from actuarial
assumptions, the projected pension benefit obligation 
and net pension cost, and accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation and postretirement benefit cost would
be affected in future years.

Expected Long-Term Rate of Return Our expected 
long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.50% for 2006
and 2005 reflects the average rate of earnings expected on
the funds invested, or to be invested, to provide for the
benefits included in the projected benefit obligations. 
We consider many factors that include, but are not limited
to, historic returns on plan assets, current market
information on long-term returns (e.g., long-term bond
rates) and current and target asset allocations between
asset categories. The target asset allocation is determined
based on consultations with external investment advisors.
This assumption, which is based on our long-term
expectations of market returns in future years, is one 
of the most significant of the weighted-average assump-
tions used to determine our actuarial estimates of pension
and postretirement benefit expense. If all other factors
were to remain unchanged, we expect a 1% decrease in
the expected long-term rate of return would cause 2006
combined pension and postretirement cost to increase
approximately $579 over 2005 (analogous decrease in 
cost would result from a 1% increase).

Under GAAP, the expected long-term rate of return is
calculated on the market-related value of assets (MRVA).
GAAP requires that actual gains and losses on pension and
postretirement plan assets be recognized in the MRVA
equally over a period of not more than five years. We use 
a methodology, allowed under GAAP, under which we hold
the MRVA to within 20% of the actual fair value of plan
assets, which can have the effect of accelerating the
recognition of excess actual gains and losses into the 
MRVA to less than five years. Due to investment losses on

plan assets experienced through 2002, this methodology
contributed approximately $605 to our combined net
pension and postretirement cost in 2003 as compared with
the methodology that recognizes gains and losses over a
full five years. This methodology did not have a significant
effect on our 2004 or 2005 combined net pension and
postretirement benefit costs and we do not expect a
significant incremental impact on our combined net
pension and postretirement cost in 2006.

Composite Rate of Compensation Increase Our
expected composite rate of compensation increase of 
4.0% for 2005 and 2004 reflects the long-term average 
rate of salary increases. Based on historic salary increase
experience and management’s expectations of future salary
increases, we reduced our expected composite rate of 
compensation increase assumption from 4.25% at
December 31, 2003 to 4.0% at December 31, 2004.

Health Care Cost Trend The following table provides
the medical cost trend.

2006 2005

Health care cost trend rate assumed 
for following year
Retirees 64 and under 7.0% 8.0%
Retirees 65 and over 8.0% 9.0%

Rate to which the cost trend is assumed 
to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.0%

Year that rate reaches the 
ultimate trend rate 2009 2009

A one percentage-point change in the assumed combined
medical and dental cost trend rate would have the
following effects:

One Percentage- One Percentage-
Point Increase Point Decrease

Increase (decrease) in total 
of service and interest 
cost components $291 $(228)

Increase (decrease) in 
accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation 4,200 (3,442)

For the majority of our labor contracts that contain an
annual dollar value cap for the purpose of determining
contributions required from nonmanagement retirees, we
have waived the cap during the relevant contract periods
and thus not collected contributions from those retirees.
Therefore, in accordance with the substantive plan
provisions required in accounting for postretirement
benefits under GAAP, we do not account for the cap in 
the value of our accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation (i.e., for GAAP purposes, we assumed the cap
would be waived for all future contract periods).

Plan Assets
Plan assets consist primarily of private and public equity,
government and corporate bonds and real estate. The asset
allocations of the pension plans are maintained to meet
ERISA requirements. Any plan contributions, as determined
by ERISA regulations, are made to a pension trust for the
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benefit of plan participants. We maintain VEBA trusts to
partially fund postretirement benefits; however, there 
are no ERISA or regulatory requirements that these 
postretirement benefit plans be funded annually.

The principal investment objectives are: to ensure the
availability of funds to pay pension and postretirement
benefits as they become due under a broad range of future
economic scenarios; to maximize long-term investment
return with an acceptable level of risk based on our
pension and postretirement obligations; and to be broadly
diversified across and within the capital markets to insulate
asset values against adverse experience in any one market.
Each asset class has a broadly diversified style. Substantial
biases toward any particular investing style or type of
security are sought to be avoided by managing the
aggregation of all accounts with portfolio benchmarks.
Asset and benefit obligation forecasting studies are
conducted periodically, generally every two to three years,
or when significant changes have occurred in market

conditions, benefits, participant demographics or funded
status. Decisions regarding investment policy are made 
with an understanding of the effect of asset allocation on
funded status, future contributions and projected expenses.
The current asset allocation policy is based on a forecasting
study conducted in 2004 for our pension plan and 2005 for
our postretirement benefit plan.

The table below presents the asset targets by asset
category as determined by AT&T and does not reflect
updated targets for the November 18, 2005 acquisition of
ATTC due to the proximity of that transaction to year end.
It is our intention to perform forecasting studies during
2006 that will establish appropriate investment strategies
for all AT&T plan assets.

The plans’ weighted-average asset target and actual
allocations as a percentage of plan assets, including the
notional exposure of future contracts by asset categories 
at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Assets Postretirement (VEBA) Assets
Target 2005 2004 Target 2005 2004

Equity securities
Domestic 40% – 50% 41% 47% 40% – 50% 51% 51%
International 12% – 18% 17 17 12% – 18% 16 14

Debt securities 25% – 35% 29 29 20% – 30% 28 32
Real estate 3% – 6% 6 2 0% – 10% 1 —
Other 4% – 7% 7 5 5% – 15% 4 3

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

At December 31, 2005, the pension assets included 2.3 million
shares of AT&T common stock with a fair value of approxi-
mately $57 and AT&T bonds with a notional amount of 
$51 and fair value of $60. As a result of our acquisition of
ATTC, pension assets increased by 2.1 million shares of
AT&T stock with a fair value of $51 and AT&T bonds with 
a notional value of $41 and fair value of $49. During 2005,
the pension plans purchased and sold AT&T bonds totaling
approximately $13 and $3, respectively, and sold AT&T
common stock of $1. Pension plan holdings in AT&T
securities represented approximately 0.2% of total plan
assets at December 31, 2005.

At December 31, 2005, the VEBA assets included 352,700
shares of AT&T common stock with a fair value of approxi-
mately $9 and AT&T bonds with a notional amount and 
fair value of $1. As a result of our acquisition of ATTC, the
VEBA assets increased by 68,000 shares of AT&T stock with
a fair value of $2. During 2005, the VEBAs did not purchase
any bonds and sold approximately $2. VEBA holdings in
AT&T securities represented approximately 0.1% of total
plan assets at December 31, 2005.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments
Expected benefit payments are estimated using the same
assumptions used in determining our benefit obligation at
December 31, 2005. Because benefit payments will depend

on future employment and compensation levels, average
years employed and average life spans, among other
factors, changes in any of these factors could significantly
affect these expected amounts. The following table
provides expected benefit payments under our pension 
and postretirement plans:

Medicare
Pension Postretirement Subsidy
Benefits Benefits Receipts

2006 $3,649 $1,884 $(90)
2007 3,519 1,945 (102)
2008 3,597 2,028 (112)
2009 3,716 2,105 (121)
2010 3,767 2,172 (130)
Years 2011 – 2015 18,873 11,414 (863)

Supplemental Retirement Plans
We also provide senior- and middle-management
employees with nonqualified, unfunded supplemental
retirement and savings plans. While these plans are
unfunded, we have assets in a designated nonbankruptcy
remote trust that are used to provide for these benefits.
These plans include supplemental pension benefits as well
as compensation deferral plans, some of which include a
corresponding match by us based on a percentage of the
compensation deferral.
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We use the same significant assumptions for the discount
rate and composite rate of compensation increase used in
determining the projected benefit obligation and the net
pension and postemployment benefit cost. The following
tables provide the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value
of assets, a statement of the funded status at December 31
and the components of the supplemental retirement
pension benefit cost.

2005 2004

(Unfunded) benefit obligations 
at end of year $(1,800) $(1,181)

Unrecognized net loss 404 371
Unrecognized prior service cost 15 24

Net amount recorded $(1,381) $ (786)

Amounts recognized on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31 are listed below:

2005 2004

Employee benefit obligation1 $(1,747) $(1,116)
Intangible asset 15 24
Accumulated other comprehensive income 351 306

Net amount recognized $(1,381) $ (786)
1Included in “Other noncurrent liabilities.”

At December 31, 2005, the accumulated benefit obligation
of certain of the plans exceeded the recorded liability,
requiring us to recognize a direct charge to equity of 
$217 (net of deferred taxes of $134). At December 31,
2004, the accumulated benefit obligation of certain of the
plans exceeded the recorded liability, requiring us to 
recognize a direct charge to equity of $190 (net of deferred
taxes of $116).

2005 2004

Service cost – benefits earned
during the period $ 8 $ 6

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 73 70
Amortization of prior service cost 9 9
Recognized actuarial loss 23 21

Net supplemental retirement pension cost $113 $106

In addition to the supplemental retirement pension benefit
cost, we had other supplemental retirement benefit
expenses of $1, with a projected benefit obligation of 
$84 included as “Other noncurrent liabilities.” Deferred
compensation expense was $46 in 2005 and $44 in 2004,
with liability balances of $574 and $610, respectively, also
included in “Other noncurrent liabilities.”

Non-U.S. Plans
As part of our ATTC acquisition, we acquired certain non-U.S.
operations that have varying types of pension programs
providing benefits for substantially all of their employees.
As described earlier, in accordance with FAS 106 we
eliminated previously existing unrecognized net gains or
losses, unrecognized prior service costs and unrecognized
net transition obligations. The following table provides the
plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets, and a
statement of the funded status at December 31:

2005

Benefit obligations at end of year $(906)
Fair value of plan assets 650

(Unfunded) benefit obligation (256)

Unrecognized net loss 20

Net amount recorded1 $(236)
1Included in “Postemployment benefit obligation” on our Consolidated Balance
Sheet.

The following table provides information for certain 
non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:

2005

Projected benefit obligation $906
Accumulated benefit obligation 765
Fair value of plan assets 650

The benefit obligations were determined using a weighted-
average discount rate of 4.55% and a weighted-average
rate of compensation increase of 4.25%. Net periodic 
pension cost was approximately $4 for the 43 days ended
December 31, 2005 and was determined using the follow-
ing weighted-average assumptions: discount rate of 4.90%,
compensation increase of 4.25% and return on plan assets
of 6.15%.

N O T E  1 1 . E M P L OY E E  S T O C K  O W N E R S H I P  P L A N S  ( E S O P )

We maintain contributory savings plans that cover
substantially all employees. Under the savings plans, we
match in company stock a stated percentage of eligible
employee contributions, subject to a specified ceiling. 
There are no debt-financed shares held by the ESOPs, 
allocated or unallocated.

In November 2005, we completed our acquisition of
ATTC and intend to maintain its savings plans, which
provide for a match of a percentage of the employee
contributions up to certain limits.

Our match of employee contributions to the savings
plans is fulfilled with purchases of our stock on the open
market. Benefit cost is based on the cost of shares allocated
to participating employees’ accounts and was $334, $316
and $300 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 
and 2003.
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N O T E  1 2 . S T O C K - B A S E D  C O M P E N S AT I O N

In September 2005, we adopted FAS 123(R), which is a
revision of FAS 123. FAS 123(R) supersedes Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and amends Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.”

We adopted FAS 123(R) using the “modified retrospec-
tive” method. The modified retrospective method requires
that compensation cost be recognized beginning with the
effective date (a) based on the requirements of FAS 123(R)
for all share-based payments granted after the effective
date and (b) based on the requirements of FAS 123 for all
awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of
FAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date. The
modified retrospective method also allowed for companies
to restate based on the amounts previously recognized
under FAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures for all
prior years for which FAS 123 was effective. Accordingly, we
have adjusted our December 31, 2004 Consolidated Balance
Sheets to increase “Capital in excess of par value” and
decrease “Retained earnings” by $546.

We had previously adopted the fair-value-based method
of accounting for share-based payments allowed under 
FAS 123 effective January 1, 2002, using the retroactive
restatement method of adoption described in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure.”
This included restatement of results from January 1, 2000
forward, as those were the years for which audited income
statements were included in the 2002 SBC Annual Report.
Upon adoption of FAS 123(R), because we elected to use
the modified retrospective method, we also restated results
for 1995 through 1999 for the effects on our equity. We
will continue to use the Black-Scholes option pricing model
to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to
employees.

By using the modified retrospective method to adopt
FAS 123(R), we increased the amount of excess tax benefits
we had previously recorded on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Our accounting under FAS 123(R) may affect our
ability to fully realize the value shown on our balance
sheet of deferred tax assets associated with compensation
expense. Full realization of these deferred tax assets
requires stock options to be exercised at a price equaling or
exceeding the sum of the strike price plus the fair value of
the option at the grant date. The provisions of FAS 123(R)
do not allow a valuation allowance to be recorded unless
the company’s future taxable income is expected to be
insufficient to recover the asset. Accordingly, there can be
no assurance that the current stock price of our common
shares will rise to levels sufficient to realize the entire tax
benefit currently reflected in our balance sheet. However,
to the extent that additional tax benefits are generated in
excess of the deferred taxes associated with compensation
expense previously recognized, the potential future impact
on income would be reduced.

Because of the requirements of FAS 123(R) to estimate
forfeitures, our December 31, 2005 income before income
taxes and income from continuing operations increased by
approximately $9 and our net income increased by $6.
Adopting FAS 123(R) did not affect any prior period income

before income taxes, income from continuing operations
and net income. Our adoption of FAS 123(R) did not affect
our basic and diluted earnings per share for any period
reported.

When the tax deduction exceeds the compensation cost
resulting from the exercise of options, a tax benefit is
created. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we presented
all such tax benefits as operating cash flows on our
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. FAS 123(R) requires
the cash flows resulting from such tax benefits to be
classified as financing cash flows. Had we not adopted 
FAS 123(R), we would have classified excess tax benefits 
of $3, $5 and $1 for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively, as operating cash inflows.

In connection with the November 2005 acquisition of
ATTC, all outstanding ATTC stock-based compensation plans
were restructured based on the 0.77942 per share conver-
sion rate and the special dividend, and subsequently issued
in AT&T shares of stock or stock units. We converted and
recorded approximately 86 million stock options.

At December 31, 2005, we had various stock-based
compensation plans, which are described below. The
compensation cost recognized for those plans for the years
ended December 31 was approximately $143 in 2005, 
$153 in 2004 and $244 in 2003 and are included in “Selling,
general and administrative” on our Consolidated
Statements of Income. The total income tax benefit
recognized on the Consolidated Statements of Income 
for stock-based compensation arrangements for the 
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was
approximately $54, $58 and $93.

Under our various plans, legacy SBC senior and other
management and nonmanagement employees and
nonemployee directors have received stock options,
performance stock units and other nonvested stock units.
Stock options issued through December 31, 2005 carry
exercise prices equal to the market price of our stock at 
the date of grant and have maximum terms ranging from
five to ten years. Beginning in 1994 and ending in 1999,
certain employees of SBC Teleholdings, Inc. (formerly known
as Ameritech) were awarded grants of nonqualified stock
options with dividend equivalents. Depending upon the
grant, vesting of stock options may occur up to five years
from the date of grant, with most options vesting on a
graded basis over three years (1/3 of the grant vests after
one year, another 1/3 vests after two years and the final 
1/3 vests after three years from the grant date). Performance
stock units, which are nonvested stock units, are granted to
key employees based upon the stock price at the date of
grant and are awarded in the form of common stock and
cash at the end of a two- or three-year period, subject to
the achievement of certain performance goals. Other 
nonvested stock units are valued at the market price of 
our stock at the date of grant and vest over a three- to
five-year period. As of December 31, 2005, we were
authorized to issue up to 81 million shares of stock (in
addition to shares that may be issued upon exercise of 
outstanding options or upon vesting of performance 
stock units or other nonvested stock units) to officers,
employees and directors pursuant to these various plans.
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We use an accelerated method of recognizing compen-
sation cost for fixed awards with graded vesting, which
essentially treats the grant as three separate awards, with
vesting periods of 12, 24 and 36 months for those grants
that vest over three years. As noted above, a majority of
our options vest over three years, and for those we recog-
nize approximately 61% of the associated compensation
expense in the first year, 28% in the second year and the
remaining 11% in the third year.

The compensation cost that has been charged against
income for our stock-based compensation plans is as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Stock option expense $ 19 $ 75 $183
Performance stock units 116 65 27
Mark-to-market effect on 

dividend equivalents 2 — 4
Other 6 13 30

Total $143 $153 $244

The estimated fair value of the options when granted 
is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period.
The fair value for these options was estimated at the 
date of grant based on the expected life of the option
and historical exercise experience, using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

2005 2004 2003

Risk-free interest rate 4.15% 4.21% 3.64%
Dividend yield 5.38% 5.00% 4.40%
Expected volatility factor 22.47% 23.78% 22.38%
Expected option life in years 8.00 7.00 6.74

A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2005, and changes during the period then ended, is presented below
(shares in millions):

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Aggregate

Options Shares Exercise Price Term (Years) Intrinsic Value1

Outstanding at January 1, 2005 214 $37.46
Granted 3 23.96
Converted from ATTC2 86 43.90
Exercised (8) 21.60
Forfeited or expired (18) 38.48

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 277 $39.74 4.8 $73

Exercisable at December 31, 2005 270 $40.07 4.8 $71
1Aggregate intrinsic value includes only those options with intrinsic value (options where the exercise price is below the market price).
2Options converted from ATTC used the following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4.35%, dividend yield of 5.16%, expected volatility factor of
22.47% and had an expected option life of 2.7 years. The weighted-average fair value of each option converted was $1.34.

The weighted-average fair value of each option granted
during the year ended December 31 was $3.39 in 2005,
$4.06 in 2004 and $3.88 in 2003. The total intrinsic value of
options exercised during the year was approximately $24 in
2005, $33 in 2004 and $10 in 2003.

A summary of the status of our nonvested stock units,
which includes performance stock units as of December 31,
2005, and changes during the period then ended is 
presented below (shares in millions):

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Nonvested Stock Units Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2005 10 $25.61
Granted 6 23.75
Vested (1) 24.54
Forfeited — —

Nonvested at December 31, 2005 15 $24.91

As of December 31, 2005, there was approximately $143 of
total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
stock-based compensation arrangements granted. That cost
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average

period of 1.6 years. The total fair value of shares vested
during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
was approximately $38, $24 and $24.

Cash received from option exercise under all stock-based
payment arrangements for year ended December 31 was
approximately $192 in 2005, $234 in 2004 and $112 in 
2003. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions
from option exercise from these arrangements for the 
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 totaled
approximately $9, $12 and $4.

It is our policy to satisfy share option exercises using our
treasury shares.

N O T E  1 3 . S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

From time to time, we repurchase shares of common stock
for distribution through our employee benefit plans or in
connection with certain acquisitions. In December 2003, 
the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
350 million shares of our common stock. This authorization
replaced previous authorizations and will expire on
December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2005, we had
repurchased approximately 93.5 million shares under the
program.
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N O T E  1 4 . A D D I T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M AT I O N

December 31,

Balance Sheets 2005 2004

Deferred directory expenses 
(included in Other current assets) $ 500 $ 505

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,466 $ 2,241
Accrued payroll 2,104 1,138
Current portion of postemployment 

benefit obligation 1,883 1,117
Deferred directory revenue 1,832 1,876
Advance billing and customer deposits 1,717 1,325
Compensated future absences 875 798
Accrued interest 473 376
Other 3,738 2,588

Total accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities $17,088 $11,459

Deferred compensation (included in 
Other noncurrent liabilities) $ 1,127 $ 900

Statements of Income 2005 2004 2003

Advertising expense $ 812 $ 862 $ 867

Interest expense incurred $1,492 $ 1,054 $ 1,228
Capitalized interest (36) (31) (37)

Total interest expense $1,456 $ 1,023 $ 1,191

Statements of Cash Flows 2005 2004 2003

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $1,395 $ 1,043 $ 1,310
Income taxes, net of refunds 2,038 506 1,321

Statements of 
Stockholders’ Equity 2005 2004 2003

Accumulated other comprehensive 
income is comprised of the 
following components, net 
of taxes, at December 31:
Foreign currency 

translation adjustment $ (505) $ (555) $ (427)
Unrealized gains on 

securities 340 391 427
Unrealized (losses) on 

cash flow hedges (191) (196) —

Accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) $ (356) $ (360) $ —

No customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated
revenues in 2005, 2004 or 2003.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Wireline AT&T Corp. Directory Other
Segment Segment Segment Segment Total

Balance as of January 1, 2004 $717 $ — $ 8 $886 $ 1,611
Goodwill acquired 7 — — — 7
Goodwill reclassification — — — 7 7

Balance as of December 31, 2004 724 — 8 893 1,625
Goodwill acquired 98 12,343 — — 12,441
Goodwill written off related to sale of business unit — — — (11) (11)

Balance as of December 31, 2005 $822 $12,343 $ 8 $882 $14,055

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, with any impairments being expensed in that period’s income statement.
Goodwill recorded in our AT&T Corp. segment relates to our November acquisition of ATTC and, as allowed by GAAP, is subject
to adjustment for one-year as we finalize the valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in that transaction. 
As part of the final valuation we will determine to which entities and to what extent the benefit of the acquisition applies,
and will record the appropriate goodwill to that entity, which may affect our segment presentation.

Our other intangible assets are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Other Intangible Assets Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized intangible assets:
Customer lists and relationships $3,430 $397 $ 365 $174
Other 1,100 589 758 545

Total $4,530 $986 $1,123 $719

Indefinite life intangible assets:
Trade name $4,900 $ —
Licenses 59 25

Total $4,959 $ 25
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Amortized intangible assets are definite-life assets, and as
such we record amortization expense based on a method
that most appropriately reflects our expected cash flows
from these assets with a weighted-average amortization
period of 8.1 years. Amortization expense for definite-life
intangible assets was $271, $117 and $203 for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Amortization expense is estimated to be $1,010 in 2006,
$680 in 2007, $490 in 2008, $410 in 2009 and $320 in 2010.

Indefinite life intangible assets are not subject to
amortization.

N O T E  1 5 . T R A N S A C T I O N S  W I T H  C I N G U L A R

We and BellSouth, the two owners of Cingular, have 
each made a subordinated loan to Cingular (shareholder
loans). Our shareholder loan to Cingular totaled 
approximately $4,108 at December 31, 2005 and $5,855 
at December 31, 2004, reflecting repayments under the
revolving credit agreement discussed below. This loan 
bears interest at an annual rate of 6.0% and matures in
June 2008. We earned interest income on this loan of 
$311 during 2005, $354 in 2004 and $397 in 2003.

Effective August 1, 2004, we and BellSouth agreed to
finance Cingular’s capital and operating cash requirements
to the extent Cingular requires funding above the level
provided by operations. We and BellSouth entered into 
a one-year revolving credit agreement with Cingular to
provide short-term financing for operations on a pro rata
basis at an interest rate of LIBOR (London Interbank
Offered Rate) plus 0.05% which may be renewed upon
agreement of the parties. This agreement includes a
provision for the repayment of our and BellSouth’s
shareholder loans made to Cingular in the event there are
no outstanding amounts due under the revolving credit
agreement and to the extent Cingular has excess cash, as
defined by the agreement. Effective June 28, 2005, this
agreement was amended to extend the termination date
of the agreement to July 31, 2007. All other terms of the
agreement remain substantially identical.

Under the revolving credit agreement we received net
repayments from Cingular totaling $2,442 in 2005. After
applying the net repayments, our share of advances to
Cingular under the revolving credit agreement was
approximately $307 at December 31, 2005 and $1,002 at
December 31, 2004 and is reflected in “Investments in 
and Advances to Cingular Wireless” on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Under the terms of the agreement,
approximately $1,747 of net repayments were applied to
reduce the balance of our shareholder loan to Cingular.

In May 2005, we transferred wireless properties to
Cingular to settle a liability related to the formation of
Cingular. This transfer resulted in a decrease of approxi-
mately $35 to our “Investment in Cingular” account and
resulted in a gain of $24, which was reflected in our 
“Other Income” account.

We generated revenues of $869 in 2005, $602 in 2004
and $539 in 2003 for services sold to Cingular. These
revenues were primarily from access and long-distance
services sold to Cingular on a wholesale basis and
commissions revenue related to customers added through
AT&T sales sources. The offsetting expense amounts are

recorded by Cingular, and 60% of these expenses are
included in our “Equity in net income of affiliates” line on
our Consolidated Statements of Income when we report
our 60% proportionate share of Cingular’s results.

N O T E  1 6 . C I N G U L A R  A C Q U I S I T I O N  O F  AT & T  W I R E L E S S

On October 26, 2004, Cingular acquired AT&T Wireless for
approximately $41,000 in cash. In connection with the
acquisition, we entered into an investment agreement with
BellSouth and Cingular. Under the investment agreement,
we and BellSouth funded, by means of an equity
contribution to Cingular, a significant portion of the
merger consideration for the acquisition. Based on our 
60% equity ownership of Cingular and after taking into
account cash on hand at AT&T Wireless, we provided
additional equity of approximately $21,600 to fund the
consideration. In exchange for this equity contribution,
Cingular issued to us and BellSouth new membership
interests in Cingular. Equity ownership and management
control of Cingular remain unchanged after the acquisition.

As a joint venture, we account for our investment in
Cingular under the equity method of accounting, recording
60% of Cingular’s earnings as “Equity in net income of
affiliates.” As a result of this transaction, we recorded the
$21,600 contributed to Cingular to complete the AT&T
Wireless acquisition as an increase in “Investments in and
Advances to Cingular Wireless.”

N O T E  1 7 . D I S C O N T I N U E D  O P E R AT I O N S

In September 2004, we sold our interest in the directory
advertising business in Illinois and northwest Indiana to
Donnelley and received net proceeds of approximately
$1,397. As part of this transaction we recorded a gain of
approximately $1,357 ($827 net of tax) in our 2004 results.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets,” we have reclassified the results from
our directory advertising business in Illinois and northwest
Indiana as discontinued operations, restating previously
reported results to reflect the reclassification on a
comparable basis. The operational results and the gain
associated with the sale of this business are presented in
the “Income From Discontinued Operations, net of tax”
line item on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Prior to the reclassification, these results were reported 
in our directory segment.

Summarized financial information for the Illinois and
northwest Indiana directory advertising business is as
follows:

Year ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $ — $311 $481
Operating income — 132 186
Income taxes — 51 74
Net income from operations — 81 112
Gain on disposal, net of tax — 827 —

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the assets of the discontin-
ued operations were $0. The liabilities of the discontinued
operations were $0 at December 31, 2005 and $310 at
December 31, 2004 and are presented separately under the
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caption “Liabilities of discontinued operations” on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The December 31, 2004,
liabilities of $310 were primarily tax liabilities associated
with the gain on the disposition. These liabilities were all
paid in 2005, as reflected on the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows. Except for the net proceeds of $1,397, which
related to discontinued investing activities in 2004, all other
amounts on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
related to discontinued operations relate to cash provided
by or used in operating activities.

N O T E  1 8 . C O N T I N G E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S

In addition to issues specifically discussed elsewhere, we are
party to numerous lawsuits, regulatory proceedings and
other matters arising in the ordinary course of business. 
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,“ in
evaluating these matters on an ongoing basis, we take 

into account amounts already accrued on the balance
sheet. In our opinion, although the outcomes of these
proceedings are uncertain, they should not have a material
adverse effect on the company’s financial position, results 
of operations or cash flows.

We have contractual obligations to purchase certain
goods or services from various other parties. Our purchase
obligations are expected to be approximately $1,235 in
2006, $1,234 in total for 2007 and 2008, $387 in total for
2009 and 2010 and $249 in total for years thereafter.

Included in our purchase obligations was approximately
$410 of total purchase commitments with WilTel for
services to be provided on WilTel’s network. Our AT&T
Corp. segment has contractual obligations to utilize
network facilities from local exchange carriers with terms
greater than one year. These contracts have no minimum
volume requirements and are based on an interrelationship
of volumes and discounted rates.

N O T E  1 9 . Q U A R T E R LY  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M AT I O N  ( U N A U D I T E D )

The following table represents our quarterly financial results:

Discontinued Operations Stock Price

Total Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
Calendar Operating Operating Net Earnings Earnings Earnings Earnings
Quarter Revenues Income Income Per Share1 Per Share1 Income Per Share1 Per Share1 High Low Close

2005
First $10,248 $1,556 $ 885 $0.27 $0.27 $ — $ — $ — $25.98 $22.99 $23.69
Second 10,328 1,518 1,000 0.30 0.30 — — — 24.33 22.78 23.75
Third 10,320 1,962 1,246 0.38 0.38 — — — 24.97 23.20 23.97
Fourth 12,966 1,132 1,655 0.46 0.46 — — — 25.60 21.75 24.49

Annual $43,862 $6,168 $4,786 1.42 1.42 $ — — —

2004
First2 $10,012 $1,516 $1,937 $0.59 $0.58 $ 26 $0.01 $ — $27.73 $23.18 $24.54
Second 10,196 1,440 1,168 0.35 0.35 33 0.01 0.01 25.68 23.50 24.25
Third 10,292 1,698 2,094 0.63 0.63 849 0.25 0.25 26.88 22.98 25.95
Fourth 10,287 1,247 688 0.21 0.21 — — — 27.29 24.55 25.77

Annual $40,787 $5,901 $5,887 1.78 1.77 $908 0.28 0.27

1Quarterly earnings per share impacts may not add to full-year earnings per share impacts due to the difference in weighted-average shares for the quarters versus the
weighted-average shares for the year.

2The first-quarter 2004 diluted earnings per share was reduced by $0.01 in the Discontinued Operations column to correct a miscalculation.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
The integrity and objectivity of the data in these financial statements, including estimates and judgments relating to matters
not concluded by year end, are the responsibility of management, as is all other information included in the Annual Report,
unless otherwise indicated.

The financial statements of AT&T Inc. (AT&T) have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm. Management has made available to Ernst & Young LLP all of AT&T’s financial records and related data, as
well as the minutes of stockholders’ and directors’ meetings. Furthermore, management believes that all representations
made to Ernst & Young LLP during its audit were valid and appropriate.

Management maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by AT&T is recorded, processed, summarized, accumulated and communicated to its management, including its
principal executive and principal financial officers, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and reported
within the time periods specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

Management also seeks to ensure the objectivity and integrity of its financial data by the careful selection of its managers,
by organizational arrangements that provide an appropriate division of responsibility and by communication programs
aimed at ensuring that its policies, standards and managerial authorities are understood throughout the organization.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the 
independent auditors to review the manner in which they are performing their respective responsibilities and to discuss
auditing, internal accounting controls and financial reporting matters. Both the internal auditors and the independent 
auditors periodically meet alone with the Audit Committee and have access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Assessment of Internal Control
The management of AT&T is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. AT&T’s internal control system was
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation
and fair presentation of published financial statements.

AT&T management assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. 
In making this assessment, AT&T management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. We have excluded from the scope of our
assessment of internal control over financial reporting the operations and related assets of AT&T Corp., which we acquired
on November 18, 2005. At December 31, 2005 and for the period from November 18 through December 31, 2005, total 
assets and total segment revenues subject to AT&T Corp.’s internal control over financial reporting represented 29.0% and
6.6% of AT&T’s consolidated total assets and total revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005. Based on our
assessment we believe that, as of December 31, 2005, AT&T’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on
those criteria.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on management’s
assessment of the company’s internal control over financial reporting. The attestation report is included on page 86.

Edward E. Whitacre Jr. Richard G. Lindner
Chairman of the Board and Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
AT&T Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AT&T Inc. (AT&T, formerly SBC Communications Inc.) 
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the
responsibility of AT&T’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of AT&T at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 AT&T changed its method of recognizing revenues
and expenses related to publishing directories, as well as the method of accounting for the costs of removal of long-term
assets.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the effectiveness of AT&T’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 16, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

San Antonio, Texas
February 16, 2006
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
AT&T Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment as described in the “Assessment of Internal Control”, included in the
accompanying Report of Management, that AT&T Inc. (AT&T, formerly SBC Communications Inc.) maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). AT&T’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of AT&T’s internal control over financial reporting based 
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining 
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying “Assessment of Internal Control”, management’s assessment of and conclusion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of AT&T Corp., which was
acquired on November 18, 2005 and is included in the 2005 consolidated financial statements of AT&T and constituted 29.0%
of total assets as of December 31, 2005 and 6.6% of revenues for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of AT&T also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of AT&T Corp.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that AT&T maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, AT&T 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on 
the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of AT&T as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements
of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of AT&T
and our report dated February 16, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

San Antonio, Texas
February 16, 2006
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AT&T INC. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(as of February 1, 2006)

Edward E. Whitacre Jr., 64 (2,4,5)

Chairman of the Board and 

Chief Executive Officer

AT&T Inc.

San Antonio, Texas

Director since October 1986

Background: Telecommunications

James A. Henderson, 71 (4,5,6)

Lead Director

Retired Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Cummins Inc.

Columbus, Indiana

Director since October 1999

Ameritech Director 1983-1999

Indiana Bell Telephone Director 1978-1983

Background: Manufacturing

William F. Aldinger III, 58 (1,5)

Retired Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer 

HSBC North America Holdings Inc. 

Prospect Heights, Illinois

Director since November 2005

AT&T Corp. Director 2003-2005

Background: Financial services

Gilbert F. Amelio, Ph.D., 63 (1,6)

Senior Partner

Sienna Ventures

Sausalito, California

Director since February 2001

Advisory Director 1997-2001

Pacific Telesis Director 1995-1997

Background: Technology, 

electronics engineering

August A. Busch III, 68 (2,3,4)

Chairman of the Board

Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc.

St. Louis, Missouri

Director since October 1983

Southwestern Bell Telephone 

Director 1980-1983

Background: Brewing, family entertainment, 

manufacturer of aluminum beverage 

containers

Martin K. Eby Jr., 71 (1,6)

Retired Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

The Eby Corporation

Wichita, Kansas

Director since June 1992

Background: General building construction

Charles F. Knight, 70 (2,4,5)

Chairman Emeritus

Emerson Electric Co.

St. Louis, Missouri

Director since October 1983

Southwestern Bell Telephone 

Director 1974-1983

Background: Electrical manufacturing

Jon C. Madonna, 62 (1,2)

Retired Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer 

KPMG

New York, New York

Director since November 2005

AT&T Corp. Director 2002-2005

Background: Public accounting

Lynn M. Martin, 66 (5,7)

President

The Martin Hall Group, LLC

Chicago, Illinois

Director since October 1999

Ameritech Director 1993-1999

Background: Consulting, former 

Congresswoman and Secretary of Labor

John B. McCoy, 62 (1,4,5)

Retired Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Bank One Corporation

Columbus, Ohio

Director since October 1999

Ameritech Director 1991-1999

Background: Banking

Mary S. Metz, Ph.D., 68 (3,7)

Chair of the Board of Trustees

American Conservatory Theater

San Francisco, California

Director since April 1997

Pacific Telesis Director 1986-1997

Background: Education, administration

Toni Rembe, Esq., 69 (2,7)

Retired Partner

Pillsbury Winthrop LLP

San Francisco, California

Director since January 1998

Advisory Director 1997-1998

Pacific Telesis Director 1991-1997

Background: Law

S. Donley Ritchey, 72 (1,3,4)

Managing Partner

Alpine Partners

Retired Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Lucky Stores, Inc.

Danville, California

Director since April 1997

Pacific Telesis Director 1984-1997

Background: Diversified retail

Joyce M. Roché, 58 (3,7)

President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Girls Incorporated

New York, New York

Director since October 1998

Southern New England Telecommunications 

Director 1997-1998

Background: Marketing

Randall L. Stephenson, 45

Chief Operating Officer

AT&T Inc. 

San Antonio, Texas

Director since June 2005

Background: Telecommunications

Dr. Laura D’Andrea Tyson, 58 (2,5)

Dean

London Business School

London, England

Director since October 1999

Ameritech Director 1997-1999

Background: Economics, education

Patricia P. Upton, 67 (4,6,7)

President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Aromatique, Inc.

Heber Springs, Arkansas

Director since June 1993

Background: Manufacturing and 

marketing of decorative fragrances

Committees of the Board:
(1) Audit

(2) Corporate Development

(3) Corporate Governance and Nominating

(4) Executive

(5) Finance/Pension

(6) Human Resources

(7) Public Policy and Environmental Affairs
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Edward E. Whitacre Jr., 64
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
AT&T Inc.

James W. Callaway, 59
Senior Executive Vice President-
Business Development
AT&T Inc.

James W. Cicconi, 53
Senior Executive Vice President-
External and Legislative Affairs
AT&T Inc.

James D. Ellis, 62
Senior Executive Vice President 
and General Counsel
AT&T Inc.

Karen E. Jennings, 55
Senior Executive Vice President-
Human Resources and Communications
AT&T Inc.

James S. Kahan, 58
Senior Executive Vice President-
Corporate Development
AT&T Inc.

Richard G. Lindner, 51
Senior Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer
AT&T Inc.

Forrest E. Miller, 53
Group President
AT&T Communications Corp.

John T. Stankey, 43
Senior Executive Vice President
and Chief Technology Officer
AT&T Inc.

Randall L. Stephenson, 45
Chief Operating Officer 
AT&T Inc.

Rayford Wilkins Jr., 54
Group President
AT&T Inc.



Stockholder Information

Toll-Free Stockholder Hotline

Call us at 1-800-351-7221 between  

8 a.m. and 7 p.m. Central time,  

Monday through Friday (TDD  

1-888-403-9700) for help with:

• Account inquiries

• Requests for assistance,  

including stock transfers

• Information on The DirectSERVICETM 

Investment Program for  

Stockholders of AT&T Inc.  

(sponsored and administered by  

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.)

Written Requests

Please mail all account inquiries  

and other requests for assistance  

regarding your stock ownership to:

AT&T Inc.

c/o Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43078

Providence, RI 02940-3078

Please mail requests for transactions 

involving stock transfers or account 

changes to:

AT&T Inc.

c/o Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43070

Providence, RI 02940-3070

You may also reach the  

transfer agent for AT&T at  

att@computershare.com.

The DirectSERVICETM Investment  

Program for Stockholders of AT&T Inc. 

is sponsored and administered by  

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.  The 

program allows current stockholders to 

reinvest dividends, purchase  

additional AT&T stock or enroll in  

an individual retirement account.

For more information,  

call 1-800-351-7221.

Stock Trading Information

AT&T Inc. is listed on the  

New York Stock Exchange.

Ticker symbol: (NYSE: T)

Newspaper stock listing: AT&T

Information on the Internet

Information about AT&T is  

available on the Internet at  

www.att.com.

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be 

held at 9 a.m. Friday, April 28, 2006, at:

Alzafar Shrine Temple

901 N. Loop 1604 W.

San Antonio, TX 78232

Independent Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP

1900 Frost Bank Tower

100 W. Houston St.

San Antonio, TX 78205

Request for 10-K

The AT&T Form 10-K, filed with  

the U.S. Securities and Exchange  

Commission, is available in paper form by 

request and on our Web site at  

www.att.com/investor.relations.

Corporate Offices

AT&T Inc.

175 E. Houston St.

P.O. Box 2933

San Antonio, TX 78299-2933

(210) 821-4105
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